# Drug Monitoring in Breast Milk: Novel Insights on Pharmacokinetics and Infant Exposure Estimates

by

Sarah Delaney

A thesis submitted in conformity with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology University of Toronto

© Copyright by Sarah Delaney 2018

# Drug Monitoring in Breast Milk: Novel Insights on Pharmacokinetics and Infant Exposure Estimates

Sarah Delaney

Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology University of Toronto

2018

## Abstract

The health benefits of breastfeeding are numerous and well described. It has been reported that ~70% of women take medication in the postpartum period; however, little is known about drug excretion into breast milk and infant exposure estimates are often unreliable. This gap in knowledge is due to the fact that women are excluded from clinical trials if they are lactating and carrying out a formal pharmacokinetic study is both ethically and practically challenging. The lack of knowledge and uncertainty on drug safety during lactation causes women to discontinue breastfeeding prematurely in order to take a medication or decide not to initiate breastfeeding altogether. While most drugs are considered to be compatible with breastfeeding, inaccurate infant exposure predictions of drugs in breast milk have led to infant adverse events and even fatalities. The overall aims of this thesis were to investigate the safety of three drugs and their use during lactation: methotrexate, escitalopram, and infliximab. Using a combination of newly developed analytical techniques, *in silico* methods, and animal lactation models, this thesis helps provide an updated framework for studying the safety of drugs during breastfeeding.

# Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my supervisors, Dr. David Colantonio and Dr. Shinya Ito, for providing the opportunity to pursue my research interests and helping me discover a niche in laboratory medicine that I find so meaningful.

To Dr. David Colantonio, I am tremendously grateful for your mentorship, encouragement, and most importantly your friendship. Thank you for the countless hours you dedicated to teaching me and fostering my development as a scientist.

Dr. Shinya Ito, I sincerely appreciate all the help and guidance you have given me over the years. Thank you for allowing me to follow my interests to expand my research beyond the scope of pharmacology.

Thank you to my committee members, Dr. Denis Grant and Dr. Vathany Kulasingam, for providing me with valuable insights that helped drive my doctoral work. To my external appraiser, Dr. Peter Kavsak, I am so thankful for all your time, effort, and expertise in evaluating my thesis.

The execution of this work would not have been possible without the help of Sholeh Ghayoori. Thank you for giving me such wonderful support; your dedication to the project was essential for the success of the DLAC Study. To all the other past and present Ito lab members and staff, thanks for all the laughs and for making the lab a fun place to be.

A special thanks to my collaborators at The University of Waterloo, Dr. Andrea Edginton and Dr. Paul Malik. You made me feel so welcome and respected as a scientist—I really felt like part of your team and I am so proud of the work we completed.

Most importantly, I would like to *dedicate* this work to my Mom, the model of perseverance and resilience. Thank you for your endless love and support.

# Table of Contents

Acknowledgments		iii
Table of Contents		iv
List of Tables		xi
List of Figures		xii
List of Abbreviations		XV
List of Appendices		xviii
Chapter 1 Introduction		1
1 Introduction		1
1.1 Statement of the	e Problem	1
1.2 Thesis Structure	2	2
Chapter 2 Background		
2 Review of Literature	2	
2.1 Breastfeeding		
2.1.1 Breastfe	eding Recommendations	
2.1.2 Infant B	enefits	4
2.1.3 Materna	l Benefits	5
2.2 Breast Milk		6
2.2.1 Mamma	ry Gland Anatomy	6
2.2.2 Stages o	of Lactation	7
2.2.3 Milk Se	cretory Pathways	
2.3 Components of	Breast Milk	9
2.3.1 Macron	utrient Content	9
2.3.2 Micronu	utrient Content	

	2.3.3	Riboflavin (Vitamin B <sub>2</sub> )11
	2.3.4	Immunological Components11
	2.3.5	Cytokines and Chemokines
2.4	Drugs	in Lactation13
	2.4.1	Medication Use During the Postpartum Period
2.5	Mecha	anisms of Drug Transport13
	2.5.1	Passive Diffusion
	2.5.2	Active Transport14
	2.5.3	The Breast Cancer Resistance Protein (BCRP)14
2.6	Measu	uring Drugs in Milk: Analytical Considerations15
2.7	Infant	Exposure Estimates16
	2.7.1	Relative Infant Dose16
	2.7.2	Milk-to-Plasma Ratio17
	2.7.3	Mouse Lactation Models
	2.7.4	Physiologically-Based Pharmacokinetic (PBPK) Models
2.8	Chron	ic Disease During the Postpartum Period19
2.9	Rheun	natoid Arthritis (RA)
	2.9.1	Drugs Used to Treat RA During Lactation
	2.9.2	Methotrexate
	2.9.3	Methotrexate Transport
	2.9.4	Methotrexate in Breast Milk
2.10	0 Postp	partum Depression and Lactation
	2.10.1	Escitalopram25
	2.10.2	Escitalopram in Breast Milk25
2.1	1 Infla	nmatory Bowel Disease (IBD) and Lactation
	2.11.1	Drugs Used to Treat IBD During Lactation

		2.11.2	Infliximab
		2.11.3	Infliximab in Breast Milk
	2.12	2 Thesis	Objectives
		Project	1: Methotrexate
		Project	2: Escitalopram
		Project	3: Infliximab
C	hapte	er 3 Mat	erials and Methods
3	Ma	terials a	nd Methods
	3.1	DLAC	Study
	3.2	Inclusi	on Criteria32
	3.3	Exclus	ion Criteria32
	3.4	Demog	graphic Information and Sample Collection32
	3.5	Metho	
		3.5.1	Reagents
		3.5.2	Study Participants
		3.5.3	Sample Preparation and Extraction
		3.5.4	Preparation of Standards
		3.5.5	Liquid Chromatography (LC)
		3.5.6	Mass Spectrometry (MS)
		3.5.7	Assay Precision
		3.5.8	Determination of Linear Range
		3.5.9	Limit of Quantification (LoQ)
		3.5.10	Carryover
		3.5.11	Method Comparison
		3.5.12	Trienzyme Digest
		3.5.13	Determination of Plasma Concentrations

	3.5.14	Riboflavin Measurement	39
	3.5.15	Animal Lactation Model	40
	3.5.16	Determination of Bcrp-Mediated Transport of MTX	40
	3.5.17	Riboflavin-MTX Interaction	41
	3.5.18	Statistical Analysis	41
3.6	Escital	opram	42
	3.6.1	Study Population	42
	3.6.2	Software	42
	3.6.3	Reagents	42
	3.6.4	Analytical Methods	42
	3.6.5	LC-MS/MS Assay Performance	43
	3.6.6	Sample Preparation	44
	3.6.7	Simulating Infant Daily Dose	44
	3.6.8	PBPK Model Development and Simulation	45
	3.6.9	PBPK Model Evaluation	49
	3.6.10	Final Infant PBPK Model	50
	3.6.11	Simulating Infant Plasma Concentrations	51
	3.6.12	Statistical Analysis	52
3.7	Inflixi	mab	52
	3.7.1	Study Population	52
	3.7.2	Materials	52
	3.7.3	Preparation of Standards	53
	3.7.4	Preparation of Patient Samples	53
	3.7.5	Analytical Methods	53
	3.7.6	Assay Performance	54
Chapte	r 4 Met	hotrexate	55

4	Me	thotrexa	ate Chapter Outline	55
	4.1	LC-M	S/MS Method Validation	55
		4.1.1	Chromatography	55
		4.1.2	Precision	56
		4.1.3	Linearity	57
		4.1.4	Limit of Quantification (LoQ)	58
		4.1.5	Carryover	59
		4.1.6	Ion Suppression	60
		4.1.7	Method Comparison	61
	4.2	Patient	t Characteristics	64
	4.3	Measu	rement of MTX and 70H-MTX in Human Breast Milk	64
	4.4	Increas	se in Measureable MTX following Trienzyme Digestion	66
	4.5	Time-	Concentration Curve of MTX in Mouse Milk	67
	4.6	Pharm	acokinetics of MTX in Milk and Plasma of Bcrp-/- and FVB Mice	68
	4.7	Detern	nining the Role of Bcrp in Transporting MTX into Milk	69
	4.8	MTX-	Nutrient Interaction Study	70
	4.9	Effects	s of Riboflavin Concentrations in Milk Following MTX Administration	72
	4.10	0 MTX	Results Summary	74
Cl	napte	er 5 Esc	italopram	75
5	Esc	italopra	um Chapter Outline	75
	5.1	LC-M	S/MS Method Validation	75
		5.1.1	Chromatography	76
		5.1.2	Precision	76
		5.1.3	Linearity	77
		5.1.4	Ion Suppression	78
	5.2	Patient	t Characteristics	78

	5.3	Measu	red ESC Milk Concentrations	79
	5.4	Relation	onship Between ESC/D-ESC Milk Levels and Maternal Dose	81
	5.5	Differ	ences in Concentration Between Foremilk and Hindmilk	84
	5.6	Deterr	nining Sampling Time Bias	86
	5.7	Simula	ation of Total Infant Daily Dose	86
	5.8	Infant	PBPK Model Simulations	88
	5.9	ESC F	Results Summary	89
Cł	napte	er 6 Infl	iximab	90
6	Infl	iximab	Chapter Outline	90
	6.1	Assay	Validation Results	90
		6.1.1	Precision	90
		6.1.2	Limit of Quantification (LoQ)	91
		6.1.3	Reproducibility of the Standard Curve and Analytical Measuring Range	92
	6.2	Patien	t Characteristics	93
	6.3	IFX C	oncentrations in Breast Milk up to 36 days Post-Infusion	94
	6.4	Influe	nce of Dose on IFX Milk Concentrations	95
	6.5	Infant	Exposure Estimates	96
	6.6	IFX S	ummary	96
Cł	napte	er 7 Dis	cussion	98
7	Dise	cussion	Chapter Outline	98
	7.1	Metho	trexate	98
		7.1.1	MTX in Breast Milk: Understanding Infant Exposure Estimates	99
		7.1.2	Bcrp-Mediated Riboflavin-MTX Interaction	100
		7.1.3	Conclusion from MTX Study	101
		7.1.4	MTX Study Strengths and Limitations	102
	7.2	Escita	lopram	103

7.2.1	ESC Measurement in Breast Milk
7.2.2	Determination of Sampling Bias104
7.2.3	Generating the Total Infant Daily Dose104
7.2.4	Infant Plasma Exposure105
7.2.5	Factors Affecting Infant Exposure106
7.2.6	ESC Conclusions
7.2.7	ESC Study Strengths and Limitations107
7.3 Inflixi	mab108
7.3.1	Optimizing IFX Measurement in Milk108
7.3.2	Factors Contributing to Variability in Milk Concentrations110
7.3.3	Understanding Infant Exposure: What is the Risk?111
7.3.4	IFX Conclusions112
7.3.5	IFX Study Strengths and Limitations113
7.4 Future	Directions113
7.5 Thesis	Conclusions
References	
Appendices	
Copyright Ac	knowledgements151

### List of Tables

- Table 2-1. Healthy people 2020 targets for breastfeeding initiation and intervals
- Table 2-2.
   Dose-response benefits to breastfeeding
- **Table 2-3.** Summary of MTX drug transporters
- Table 2-4. Drug categories used to treat IBD
- Table 3-1. Final quadrupole parameters for each transition for MTX, 70H-MTX and MTX-d3
- **Table 3-2** Final mass spectrometry settings for the ESC LC-MS/MS method
- Table 3-3. Feeding-related parameters used to generate the infant daily
- **Table 3-4**. Physicochemical properties of ESC used in building the PBPK model
- Table 3-5. Model-predicted values vs. observed values after IV optimization
- **Table 3-6** Adult pharmacokinetic data used for PBPK model development and evaluation
- Table 4-1. LC-MS/MS assay precision
- **Table 4-2.** The calculated CVs used to determine the LoQ of MTX
- Table 4-3. Carryover calculation
- **Table 4-5.** Characteristics of patients involved in the DLAC study
- Table 5-1. Total within-day precision of ESC and D-ESC
- Table 5-2 Characteristics of participants in the ESC DLAC Study
- Table 5-3. Observed pharmacokinetic measures of ESC and D-ESC in breast milk
- **Table 6-1.** Within- and between-run precision of IFX quantitation
- **Table 6-2**. Limit of quantification of IFX measurement in breast milk
- Table 6-3. Characteristics of 5 lactating women receiving IFX for IBD

# List of Figures

Figure 2-1. Lactating breast and mammary gland anatomy

Figure 2-2. Mammary alveolus and mammary alveolar epithelial cell

Figure 2-3. Whole body PBPK model

Figure 2-4. Methotrexate transporters and metabolism

Figure 2-5. Structure of therapeutic antibodies used to treat inflammatory conditions

Figure 3-1. The gradient curve for the MTX liquid chromatography method

Figure 3-2. Equations used to calculate percent carry-over

**Figure 3-3**. Experimental timeline used to determine the role of Bcrp in excreting MTX into milk.

**Figure 3-4.** Experimental timeline used to determine the effects of co-administering a Bcrp substrate or inhibitor on MTX milk and plasma concentrations.

Figure 3-5. Pediatric and infant PBPK model

Figure 3-6. Comparison of the model-fitted oral simulation

Figure 3-7. 95% confidence intervals generated by the model

Figure 4-1. Chromatographic separation of MTX, 70H-MTX and MTX-d3

Figure 4-2. Linearity plots of (A) MTX and (B) 70H-MTX

Figure 4-3. Chromatogram of MTX at the LoQ

**Figure 4-4**. (A) Injection of HIGH calibrator and (B) subsequent injection of blank milk indicates no notable carryover in the LC-MS/MS method

**Figure 4-5**. TIC ion suppression study in human milk. The arrows denote MTX (solid line) and 70H-MTX (dashed line) elution times, signifying no ion suppression

Figure 4-6. TIC ion suppression study in mouse milk. The arrows denote

**Figure 4-7**. Method comparison MTX (solid line) and 7OH-MTX (dashed line) elution times, signifying no ion suppression

Figure 4-8. Bias plot showing the absolute difference between the methods

Figure 4-9. Bias Plot showing the percent difference between the methods

Figure 4-10. Time-concentration curve of MTX in human breast milk

**Figure 4-11.** Time-concentration curve of MTX and metabolite, 7OH-MTX in human breast milk from patient 1

Figure 4-12. Plots of MTX (A) and 7OH-MTX (B) in foremilk and hindmilk from patient 1

**Figure 4-13.** Time-concentration curve of MTX milk concentrations following a trienzymatic digest

Figure 4-14. Time-concentration profile of MTX in mouse milk

Figure 4-15. Plasma MTX concentrations in wild-type (FVB) or Bcrp -/- mice

Figure 4-16. Milk MTX concentrations in wild-type (FVB) or Bcrp -/- mice

Figure 4-17. Milk-to-plasma ratio between wild-type and Bcrp -/- mice

Figure 4-18. Milk MTX concentrations in wild-type mice co-administered a Bcrp substrate or inhibitor

Figure 4-19. Plasma MTX concentrations in wild-type mice co-administered a Bcrp substrate or inhibitor

**Figure 4-20.** Milk-to-plasma ratio between control (MTX alone) and co-treatment with riboflavin (20 mg/kg), FMN (100 mg/kg), ko143 (20 mg/kg) or genistein (20 mg/kg).

**Figure 4-21**. Milk vs. plasma concentrations of riboflavin following administration of 20 mg/kg riboflavin and 0.75 mg/kg of MTX

**Figure 4-22.** The correlation of milk MTX and riboflavin concentrations following administration of 20 mg/kg riboflavin and 0.75 mg/kg of MTX

**Figure 5-1**. Standard curves from citalopram (escitalopram) and metabolite norcitalopram (desmethylescitalopram)

**Figure 5-2.** Chromatogram of (A) citalopram (racemic ESC) and (B) norcitalopram (racemic D-ESC).

Figure 5-3. Linearity for (A) ESC and (B) D-ESC

**Figure 5-4.** Measured concentrations of (A) ESC and (B) D-ESC in breast milk from 18 lactating women taking 2.5 – 30 mg ESC daily

Figure 5-5. Relationship between (A) ESC and (B) D-ESC milk concentrations vs. weightadjusted maternal dose

**Figure 5-6.** Relationship between (A) ESC and (B) D-ESC peak milk concentrations vs. maternal dose (mg)

Figure 5-7. The difference between foremilk and hindmilk in (A) ESC and (B) D-ESC

**Figure 5-8.** (A) Absolute difference and (B) percent difference in concentration between hindmilk and foremilk

**Figure 5-9.** (A) ESC and (B) D-ESC shows the distribution of milk sampling – pre-, post-, and between-feeds and effects of sampling phase on milk concentrations

**Figure 5-10**. Histogram of the simulated daily ESC doses for an infant population whose mothers were taking 20 mg ESC daily

**Figure 5-11.** Simulated plasma AUC<sub>0- $\infty$ </sub> for infants birth – 12 months

Figure 5-12. Steady-state plasma concentrations for all simulated infants aged birth- 12 months

Figure 6-1. Reproducibility of standard curves used to quantitate IFX in breast milk

Figure 6-2. Time-concentration profile of IFX in milk from 5 lactating women with IBD.

Figure 6-3. Relationship between weight-adjusted dose and peak or average milk concentrations

# List of Abbreviations

MTX	Methotrexate
ESC	Escitalopram
IFX	Infliximab
PPD	Postpartum Depression
sIgA	Secretory Immunoglobulin A
DHA	Docosohexaenoic Acid
НМО	Human Milk Oligosaccharides
FMN	Flavin Mononucleotide
FAD	Flavin Adenine Dinucleotide
BCRP	Breast Cancer Resistance Protein
ABCG2	2nd member of the G subfamily of the ABC transporter superfamily (BCRP)
IgM	Immunoglobulin M
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
IL-6	Interleukin-6
IL-8	Interleukin-8
IFNγ	Interferon Gamma
TNFα	Tumer Necrosis Factor Alpha
IBD	Inflammatory Bowel Disease
MHC	Major Histocompatibility Complex
MDR1	Multidrug Resistance Protein 1/P-Glycoprotein
ABCB1	1st member of the B subfamily of the ABC transporter superfamily (MDR1/P-gp)
MRP1	Multidrug Resistance-Associated Protein 1
ABCC1	1st member of the C subfamily of the ABC transporter superfamily (MRP1)
MRP2	Multidrug Resistance-Associated Protein 2

ABCC2	2nd member of the C subfamily of the ABC transporter superfamily (MRP2)
PhIP	2-amino-1-methyl-6-phenylimidazo[4,5-b]pyridine
AUC <sub>milk</sub>	Area Under the Milk Concentration-Time Curve
Cav, milk	Average Milk Concentration
$\mathbf{V}_{milk}$	Milk Volume
SSRI	Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitor
RID	Relative Infant Dose
M/P	Milk-to-Maternal Plasma Ratio
PBPK	Physiologically-Based Pharmacokinetic
RA	Rheumatoid Arthritis
NSAIDs	Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs
DMARDs	Disease-Modifying Anti-Rheumatic Agents
70H-MTX	7-Hydroxymethotrexate
SLC	Solute Carrier Family Proteins
ABC	ATP-Binding Cassette Proteins
RFC	Reduced Folate Carrier
PCFT	Proton-Coupled Folate Transporter
OATP1B1	Organic Anion Transporting Polypeptide 1B1
AAP	American Academy of Pediatrics
DSM-V	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 5 <sup>th</sup> Edition
D-ESC	S-demethylcitalopram
NEC	Necrotizing Enterocolitis
CD	Crohn's Disease
UC	Ulcerative Colitis
mAb	Monoclonal Antibody
FcRn	Neonatal Fc Receptor

DLAC	Drugs in Lactation Analysis Consortium Study
MTX-d3	Deuterated Methotrexate
MS	Mass Spectrometry
HPLC	High-Performance Liquid Chormatography
QC	Quality Control
DP	Declustering Potential
CE	Collision Energy
EP	Entrance Potential
CxP	Collision Cell Exit Potential
CLSI	Clinical & Laboratory Standards Institute
LoQ	Limit of Quantification
WT	Wild-Type
Bcrp-/-	Bcrp Knockout
V <sub>d</sub>	Volume of Distribution
Cav,ss plasma	Steady-State Average Plasma Concentration
CV	Coefficient of Variation
AMR	Analytical Measuring Range
TIC	Total Ion Chromatogram
SC	Subcutaneous

# List of Appendices

Appendix A: DLAC Study Questionnaire

Appendix B: DLAC Study Consent Form

# Chapter 1 Introduction

# 1 Introduction

## 1.1 Statement of the Problem

The infant and maternal benefits to breastfeeding are numerous and well described. Because of this, more women are initiating breastfeeding and continue breastfeeding for longer. It has been reported that as high as 80% of women take some sort of medication, either over-the-counter or prescribed, within the first six months postpartum; however, information on drug secretion into milk is limited. This is because women who are pregnant or lactating are often excluded from clinical trials, and carrying out a formal pharmacokinetic study is both ethically and practically challenging<sup>1</sup>. Together, these create a knowledge gap on drug safety during lactation and leads to uncertainty in infant exposure estimates. Further contributing to this issue is the fact that global rates of breastfeeding continue to rise due to an increase in promotional efforts endorsing the nutritional, immunological and economic benefits to breastfeeding<sup>2</sup>. This improvement in breastfeeding rates may increase the likelihood of infants being exposed to drugs via breast milk. This is problematic, as there have been reports of infant adverse events and even fatalities with improper medication use during lactation<sup>3,4</sup>. Due to the lack of knowledge and uncertainty on drug safety during lactation, women are often encouraged to discontinue breastfeeding prematurely because of the lack of risk assessment data. Even when a drug is considered to be compatible with breastfeeding, this cause issues of maternal non-adherence to medication<sup>5</sup>.

The mechanisms involved in transporting drugs into milk are complex and poorly understood. The way that drugs are excreted into milk – whether through passive diffusion or carriermediated transport – can affect the amount of drug that the nursing infant is exposed to. Further complicating this, milk is a challenging and dynamic matrix requiring meticulous sample processing in order to accurately analyze drug concentrations<sup>6</sup>. Information on infant blood levels following drug exposure through breast milk is an ideal objective measure to better understand the risk of infant adverse effects. However, obtaining this data and assessing infant outcomes is unethical and largely unachievable due to parental hesitancy. The overarching aim of this thesis is to better understand drug exposure to the nursing infant via breast milk. Using an

1

interdisciplinary approach, with a combination of analytical and *in silico* techniques, and an animal model, the goal of these investigations is to further contribute to the body of knowledge on drug safety during lactation.

### 1.2 Thesis Structure

This thesis is divided into the following: one section on background (chapter 2), one materials and methods section (chapter 3), three results sections (chapters 4-6), and one section discussing the thesis findings (chapter 7). Specifically, the second chapter describes the current state of knowledge and provides a review of the literature on breastfeeding and drugs in lactation. The third chapter describes the methods from each different approach used for the three projects: methotrexate (MTX), escitalopram (ESC), and infliximab (IFX). Chapters 4 - 6 discuss different approaches to address the safety of the three different drugs during lactation. Chapter 4 focuses on MTX, which examines the mechanism of drug entry to milk and also investigated the potential of using benign nutritional substrates to reduce drug excretion into milk. Chapter 5 used physiologically-based pharmacokinetic modeling to explore ESC plasma exposure in breastfeeding infants. Chapter 6 explores the extent of IFX excretion into milk and the subsequent extent of exposure to the nursing infant. Detailed objectives for each project is discussed at the end of chapter 2. Chapter 7, discussion, focuses on study conclusions, limitations and future directions.

# Chapter 2 Background

# 2 Review of Literature

# 2.1 Breastfeeding

## 2.1.1 Breastfeeding Recommendations

The American Academy of Pediatrics and World Health Organization endorse that breastfeeding and the use of human milk are superior for infant feeding and affords numerous nutritional benefits<sup>7,8</sup>. It is recommended that infants are exclusively breastfed the first six months of life, with the introduction of complimentary foods and the continuation of breastfeeding up to two years thereafter <sup>9</sup>. Over the last several decades, global breastfeeding rates have been steadily increasing, largely due to The Baby Friendly Hospital Initiative, which was designed to support, promote, and protect breastfeeding <sup>10</sup>. The breastfeeding initiation rate is as high as 90% in Ontario, with approximately 23% of women continuing to breastfeed at 6 months <sup>11–13</sup>. In the United States, the Centre for Disease Control Breastfeeding Report Card stated that only 79% of newborns commence breastfeeding, while 49% were breastfeeding at 6 months and 27% at 12 months<sup>14</sup>. In order to further increase the rates of breastfeeding by the year 2020, The Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion launched the Healthy People 2020 campaign, as shown in **table 2-1**<sup>2</sup>. Their campaign targets seek to have breastfeeding initiation rates rise to 81.9% and are sustained at 60.6% and 31.4% at 6 months and 12 months, respectively<sup>2</sup>.

	2007ª	2010	2020
		Target	Target
Any breastfeeding			
Ever	75.0	75	81.9
6 mo	43.8	50	60.5
1 y	22.4	25	34.1
Exclusive breastfeeding			
To 3 mo	33.5	40	44.3
To 6 mo	13.8	17	23.7
Worksite lactation support	25	_	38.0
Formula use in first 2 d	25.6		15.6

**Table 2-1**. Healthy people 2020 targets for breastfeeding initiation and intervals (with permission from the American Academy of Pediatrics<sup>15</sup>).

<sup>a</sup> 2007 data reported in 2011.<sup>10</sup>

### 2.1.2 Infant Benefits

Epidemiological evidence supports that breastfeeding is associated with a number of infant health benefits<sup>16</sup>. As shown in **table 2-2**, exclusively breastfed infants have a reduced risk of developing health problems such as acute otitis media<sup>16</sup>, lower respiratory tract infections<sup>16,17</sup>, gastrointestinal tract infections<sup>16,18</sup>, and type 1 diabetes<sup>19</sup>. Exclusive breastfeeding within the first 28 days of life is associated with improved cognitive outcomes in preterm infants<sup>20</sup>. An interventional trial examining the effects of breastfeeding promotion found that prolonged and exclusive breastfeeding improves infant cognitive function <sup>21</sup>. Breast milk also provides allergen-mediated protection from allergic diseases such as asthma and atopic dermatitis<sup>16,22</sup>. Another recent study found that there is an interaction between breast milk and the infant's saliva can enhance the infants microbiome and boost innate immunity <sup>23</sup>. Overall, the described medical benefits are thought to be directly associated with amount and duration of breastfeeding<sup>24</sup>.

Condition	% Lower Risk <sup>b</sup>	Breastfeeding	Comments	0Rc	95% CI
Otitis media <sup>13</sup>	23	Any		0.77	0.64-0.91
Otitis media <sup>13</sup>	50	≥3 or 6 mo	Exclusive BF	0.50	0.36-0.70
Recurrent otitis media <sup>15</sup>	77	Exclusive BF ≥6 mo <sup>d</sup>	Compared with BF 4 to <6 mo <sup>d</sup>	1.95	1.06–3.59
Upper respiratory tract infection <sup>17</sup>	63	>6 mo	Exclusive BF	0.30	0.18–0.74
Lower respiratory tract infection <sup>13</sup>	72	≥4 mo	Exclusive BF	0.28	0.14–0.54
Lower respiratory tract infection <sup>15</sup>	77	Exclusive BF ≥6 mo <sup>d</sup>	Compared with BF 4 to <6 mo <sup>d</sup>	4.27	1.27–14.35
Asthma <sup>13</sup>	40	≥3 mo	Atopic family history	0.60	0.43-0.82
Asthma <sup>13</sup>	26	≥3 mo	No atopic family history	0.74	0.6-0.92
RSV bronchiolitis <sup>16</sup>	74	>4 mo		0.26	0.074-0.9
NEC <sup>19</sup>	77	NICU stay	Preterm infants Exclusive HM	0.23	0.51–0.94
Atopic dermatitis <sup>27</sup>	27	>3 mo	Exclusive BFnegative family history	0.84	0.59–1.19
Atopic dermatitis <sup>27</sup>	42	>3 mo	Exclusive BFpositive family history	0.58	0.41–0.92
Gastroenteritis <sup>13,14</sup>	64	Any	_	0.36	0.32-0.40
Inflammatory bowel disease <sup>32</sup>	31	Any	—	0.69	0.51–0.94
Obesity <sup>13</sup>	24	Any	_	0.76	0.67-0.86
Celiac disease <sup>31</sup>	52	>2 mo	Gluten exposure when BF	0.48	0.40-0.89
Type 1 diabetes <sup>13,42</sup>	30	>3 mo	Exclusive BF	0.71	0.54-0.93
Type 2 diabetes <sup>13,43</sup>	40	Any	_	0.61	0.44-0.85
Leukemia (ALL) <sup>13,46</sup>	20	>6 mo	_	0.80	0.71-0.91
Leukemia (AML) <sup>13,45</sup>	15	>6 mo	_	0.85	0.73-0.98
SIDS <sup>13</sup>	36	Any >1 mo	—	0.64	0.57-0.81

**Table 2-2**. Dose-response benefits to breastfeeding (with permission from American Academy of Pediatrics<sup>15</sup>).

ALL, acute lymphocytic leukemia; AML, acute myelogenous leukemia; BF, breastfeeding; HM, human milk; RSV, respiratory syncytial virus.

<sup>a</sup> Pooled data.

<sup>b</sup> % lower risk refers to lower risk while BF compared with feeding commercial infant formula or referent group specified.

<sup>c</sup> OR expressed as increase risk for commercial formula feeding.

<sup>d</sup> Referent group is exclusive BF  $\geq$ 6 months.

### 2.1.3 Maternal Benefits

Aside from the numerous infant benefits, breastfeeding has also been associated with a reduced risk of developing maternal diseases. Breastfeeding has been shown to regulate glucose levels,

and reduce the risk of hyperlipidemia and cardiovascular disease<sup>25</sup>. Breastfeeding can also reduce blood loss in postpartum haemmorhage<sup>26</sup>, improves weight loss during the first year postpartum<sup>27</sup>, and is associated with a lower risk of developing reproductive cancers <sup>28</sup>. Furthermore, the act of breastfeeding can promote bonding and create a sense of emotional wellbeing in both mother and infant<sup>29</sup>. Women who breastfed have a hormone-mediated reduction in maternal stress<sup>30</sup>, which is accompanied by an increase in oxytocin and prolactin levels and leads to feelings of relaxation and general well-being<sup>31</sup>. These hormonal influences may be especially important in mediating postpartum depression (PPD), which will be discussed later in this chapter.

### 2.2 Breast Milk

#### 2.2.1 Mammary Gland Anatomy

**Figure 2-1** displays a diagram of the lactating breast (left) and mammary gland (right). The lactating mammary gland is comprised of a single layer of polarized milk-producing epithelial cells, which come together to form the alveolus and milk ducts<sup>32,33</sup>. During pregnancy, lactogenesis I is initiated by the differentiation of these secretory epithelial cells, which begin to produce small amounts of milk<sup>33,34</sup> (the different stages of lactation are discussed in the following section). These alveolar epithelial cells are bordered by basal myoepithelial cells, which are stimulated by oxytocin to contract to aid in milk ejection from the apical side of the alveoli, into the lumen, down the lactiferous sinuses and out through the nipple<sup>32,33</sup>.



**Figure 2-1.** Lactating breast (left) and mammary gland (right) anatomy (with permission from the American Academy of Pediatrics<sup>35</sup>).

### 2.2.2 Stages of Lactation

As the mammary epithelial cells become differentiated during mid-pregnancy, lactogenesis I begins and small volumes of milk begin to be secreted <sup>34</sup>. The secretion product from this phase of lactation postpartum is called the colostrum, which contains high concentrations of sodium, chloride, lactoferrin, and immunologic components. The colostrum is ejected from the nipple starting in the latter stages of pregnancy and during the first several days postpartum<sup>34,36,37</sup>. The main function of colostrum is to provide the infant with maternally-derived immunoglobulins<sup>38</sup>. During this phase of lactation, the tight junctions between mammary epithelial cells have yet to form, allowing for easy passage of substances (lipids, proteins, immunoglobulins) from maternal circulation into milk<sup>37</sup>. The volume of milk produced during the first day postpartum is ~10% of that produced after one week postpartum<sup>39</sup>.

After the first few days postpartum, lactogenesis II is initiated and "transitional" milk is secreted, which is produced in higher volumes to meet the increasing nutritional demands for the developing infant<sup>38</sup>. This is accompanied by the closure of tight junctions between the mammary epithelial cells, a decrease in the ratio of sodium to potassium, and an increase in the concentration of lactose <sup>40</sup>. Breast milk is defined as "mature" after 4-6 weeks postpartum when the concentrations of bioactive and nutritional components essentially stabilize until involution (end of lactation)<sup>38</sup>.

Milk composition varies across the first 2 months postpartum, but also changes across an individual feed. Specifically, the lipid content is the most variable component in breast milk, and differs between the hindmilk and foremilk<sup>38</sup>. The hindmilk is the milk from the latter part of a feed and contains 2-3-fold higher lipid content than the milk from the beginning of a feed (foremilk)<sup>41</sup>. Milk fat content is also found to be significantly higher in the afternoon and evening compared to night and morning feeds<sup>42</sup>. Implications on variable milk composition will be discussed in parts of section 2.3: Maternal Medication use in the Postpartum.

#### 2.2.3 Milk Secretory Pathways

Breast milk is a complex biological matrix that is uniquely adapted to meet the biological needs of the nursing infant, in order to promote optimal growth and development<sup>43</sup>. As shown in **figure** 2-2, the nutritional components in milk are either produced by the mammary alveolar epithelial cells directly or can originate from nutritional sources or from maternal stores<sup>38</sup>. Milk components such as lactose, oligosaccharides, phosphate and calcium are all produced within the cytoplasm of the lactating alveolar cells, and enter the milk via exocytosis on the apical side of the membrane  $(pathway I)^{33}$ . Lipid components found in milk are also exocytosed in a mechanism that is considered unique for the mammary gland<sup>44</sup>. Cytoplasmic lipid droplets are synthesized, then migrate to the apical side of the cell to enter the milk as a membrane-coated milk fat globule (pathway II)<sup>33,44</sup>. Maternal-derived immunoglobulins, transferrin and hormones, and immune factors such as cytokines are transported into breast milk via a transcellular transport mechanism (pathway III)<sup>33,45–48</sup>. Ions and small molecules such as glucose amino acids move directly across the basal side of the mammary epithelial cell into the alveolar lumen on the apical membrane. The transport of these substances is facilitated by transporters that are solutespecific and can require transporters or channels on both sides of the plasma membranes (pathwav IV)<sup>49</sup>. Lastly, substances such as low molecular weight compounds and large biomolecules can enter the milk directly from maternal circulation between the mammary epithelial cells during pregnancy, involution, or during periods of mammary inflammation, prior to the formation of tight junctions between the cells  $(pathway V)^{33,50}$ .



**Figure 2-2**. Mammary alveolus (left, top) and mammary alveolar epithelial cell (right, bottom). Milk secretion pathways are depicted in the mammary alveolar epithelial cell: pathway I shows exocytosis; pathway II depicts milk fat secretion; pathway III demonstrates vesicular transcytosis; pathway IV shows the transporters for direct movement of solutes across the cell; pathway V depicts paracellular transport (with permission from McManaman and Neville<sup>33</sup>).

## 2.3 Components of Breast Milk

#### 2.3.1 Macronutrient Content

As introduced previously, secretion rates and amounts of macronutrients vary throughout the stages of lactation and can be influenced by maternal intakes<sup>51</sup>. The mean concentration of protein, lipids and lactose in mature term milk is: 0.9-1.2 g/dL, 2.6-3.2 g/dL and 6.7-7.8 g/dL, respectively, which provide the infant with approximately 65-70 kcal/dL energy<sup>38</sup>. Interestingly, there is a statistically significant difference in macronutrient content (protein, carbohydrates, fat and energy) found in the milk of mothers who deliver preterm versus those who carry until full term<sup>52</sup>. The way in which the macronutrient composition can influence drug concentrations in breast milk will be discussed later in this chapter.

Over 400 proteins contributing to the unique nutritive and immunological properties of human breast milk have been described<sup>53</sup>. The types of proteins found in milk are: whey proteins,

caseins, and mucin proteins<sup>54</sup>. The whey proteins exist in solution and consist of  $\alpha$ -lactalbumin, secretory immunoglobulin A (sIgA), lactoferrin, lysozymes and serum albumin<sup>55</sup>. Caseins and mucin are not found in solution, but rather are present in suspended micelles and in the milk fat globule membrane, respectively<sup>55,56</sup>. The protein concentration in human milk also decrease steadily until the first 6 weeks postpartum and appear to remain constant until involution<sup>52</sup>.

The most variable macronutrient in breast milk, lipids, are found in abundance in human breast milk and provide 40-55% of the energy source to the nursing infant. Nearly 98% of lipids found in breast milk exist as triacyglycerides, which exist in the core of the milk fat globule<sup>53,57</sup>. The primary fatty acid found in human milk is oleic acid; however, fatty acids only make up a small portion of the lipid fraction and are found in low concentrations<sup>38,53,58</sup>. Essential omega-3 fatty acids, such as docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), are important for infant neurodevelopment and maintenance of the immune system<sup>59</sup>. The concentration and availability of these essential fatty acids are largely influenced by maternal consumption; therefore, it is recommended that women who consume diets low in omega-3s should consider supplementation<sup>38</sup>.

A number of complex carbohydrates are present in human breast milk. Lactose, a disaccharide consisting of glucose and galactose, is present in the highest concentration<sup>60</sup>. Synthesis of lactose in the mammary epithelial cells is also dynamic across different stages of lactation - mean lactose concentrations on lactation day 4 is approximately 5.6 g/dL and increases to 6.9 g/dL at 4 months<sup>60</sup>. Interestingly, preterm milk contains lower concentrations of lactose than term milk, likely lowering osmolality and contributing positively to nourishing the infant <sup>61</sup>. Human milk oligosaccharides (HMO) also comprise a significant portion of carbohydrates in milk and function as prebiotics to support growth of beneficial gastrointestinal bacteria in the infant gut<sup>62</sup>. While these HMO are found in concentrations of 1g/dL in milk, they are not able to be digested by the infant and thus do not contribute to the total energy provided by carbohydrates in milk<sup>38,53</sup>.

#### 2.3.2 Micronutrient Content

Consistent with the macronutrient composition, the status of various micronutrients (vitamins and minerals) in human milk is largely affected by maternal intake<sup>51</sup>. The secretion of selenium,

iodine, thiamin (vitamin  $B_1$ ), riboflavin (vitamin  $B_2$ ), vitamin  $B_6$ , vitamin  $B_{12}$ , choline, and vitamin A, C and D all vary based on maternal ingestion and can be reduced by depletion of maternal stores <sup>38,51,63</sup>. In contrast, certain vitamins and minerals such as folate, calcium, iron, zinc and copper remain relatively constant in milk and are not influenced by maternal diet or stores <sup>63</sup>. However, depletion of maternal status can occur when diet does not meet the demands of milk secretion, potentially causing maternal deficiencies<sup>63</sup>.

### 2.3.3 Riboflavin (Vitamin B<sub>2</sub>)

Riboflavin is a member of the B-vitamin complex and plays an essential role in the metabolism of carbohydrates, nucleic acids and amino acids <sup>64</sup>. It is an essential vitamin that must be obtained from the diet, primarily from dairy and dark leafy green vegetables<sup>64</sup>. Riboflavin is converted to its cofactors, flavin mononucleotide (FMN) and flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD), which act as electron carriers in various biological processes <sup>64</sup>. Riboflavin is found in high concentrations in breast milk, playing an essential role in supporting optimal growth and development for the neonate<sup>65</sup>. Recently, the transport mechanisms of riboflavin excretion into milk have been characterized. The multidrug efflux transporter, breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/*ABCG2*), is highly upregulated on the apical membrane of the mammary epithelium during lactation (will be discussed in more detail in section 2.5)<sup>66</sup>. The most notable physiological function that BCRP plays during lactation is to preferentially secrete riboflavin and its cofactor, FMN, into milk<sup>67</sup>. Further, riboflavin transporters *Slc52a2 and Slc52a3* are expressed in the milk fat globule in human milk and in the mouse mammary tissue during the first week of lactation<sup>68</sup>, suggesting that these riboflavin transporters also help facilitate riboflavin excretion into milk.

### 2.3.4 Immunological Components

The immunological constituents in breast milk afford the infant with unique protective antiinflammatory and anti-infective properties<sup>69</sup>. During the early stages of lactation, the colostrum contains approximately  $4 \times 10^6$  cells/mL maternal leukocytes<sup>70</sup>. Interestingly, a number of cell subsets have been identified; neutrophils, myeloid precursors, non-cytotoxic T-cells, and immature granulocyes all contributing to the leukocyte content in breast milk<sup>71</sup>. The colostrum is comprised of 80% macrophages, derived from maternal-derived peripheral blood monocytes. These monocytes contribute to infant immunoprotection by helping stimulate the infant immune system development <sup>38,72</sup>.

Immunoglobulins are also found in high abundance in milk, functioning as highly targeted secretory antibodies to help stimulate the infant's immune development and protect the infant from environmental agents <sup>38,70</sup>. The primary immunoglobulin found in human milk is sIgA; however, immunoglobulin M (IgM) and immunoglobulin G (IgGs) are also present in low abundance<sup>53,73</sup>. Consistent with other immunological factors, the colostrum contains the highest concentration of sIgA (12 mg/mL), which decreases to approximately 1 mg/mL in mature milk<sup>74</sup>. IgG concentrations also increase in mature milk, suggesting the infant immunological needs might also be dynamic across the different stages of lactation<sup>75</sup>. While most macromolecules undergo degradation, sIgA is able to resist proteolysis and exert its protective effects against pathogens in infant's gastrointestinal tract<sup>76</sup>.

### 2.3.5 Cytokines and Chemokines

A number of cytokines and chemokines have been identified in human milk. Cytokines are polypeptides that function in an autocrine/paracrine manner to influence the function of the immune system<sup>77</sup>. The cytokines found in breast milk can cross the infants intestinal barrier to either boost inflammation or protect against infection or reduce inflammatory processes<sup>38</sup>. Three TGF- $\beta$  isoforms are found in milk, and play a role in controlling inflammation, enhancing oral tolerance to dietary antigens and preventing allergic diseases<sup>38,78</sup>. Interleukin-6 and 8 (IL-6 and IL-8), interferon gamma (IFN $\gamma$ ) and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF $\alpha$ ) are pro-inflammatory cytokines that are found in milk<sup>79</sup>. TNF $\alpha$  is produced by epithelial and immune cells in the mammary gland and is found in abundance in breast milk<sup>80</sup>. TNF $\alpha$  concentrations in healthy human milk range from 34-151 pg/mL, depending on lactation stage, with concentrations reaching as high as 2933 pg/mL<sup>81</sup>. In contrast to these high TNF $\alpha$  levels, serum of healthy individuals is 0.02 pg/mL, up to several thousand-fold lower compared to milk<sup>82</sup>. Patients suffering from inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) have an average TNF $\alpha$  serum concentration of 11.5 pg/mL even in remission<sup>82</sup>. Given these findings, TNF $\alpha$  in breast milk from women with

IBD may be even higher than healthy individuals. It has also been postulated that the TNF $\alpha$  in milk could potentially affect the maturation of the immune system in the infant by affecting parts of the proximal gastrointestinal tract that is devoid of proteolytic enzymes<sup>83</sup>. This could, in turn, affect the development of monocytes, and the production of various major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I and II antigens and cytokines in the infant<sup>83</sup>.

# 2.4 Drugs in Lactation

#### 2.4.1 Medication Use During the Postpartum Period

Breastfeeding initiation rates have been reported to be as high as 90% in Canada<sup>12</sup>; however, it has been reported that 66% to 80% of women are on some type of medication during the postpartum period<sup>1,84,85</sup>. Consequently, with more infants initiating breastfeeding and women breastfeeding their infants for longer, there is an increase in the likelihood of infant drug exposure through breast milk. Although the infant dose of drug through breast milk could be much less than the mothers, even after body weight adjustments, there have been reports of adverse events, including fatalities, in infants exposed to drugs through breast milk <sup>3,4,86–88</sup>. For example, a case by Neuman et al. reported an incidence of a bupropion-induced seizure in an exclusively breastfed infant whose mother was receiving bupropion therapy for postpartum depression<sup>3</sup>. Another report described a morphine-overdose fatality in a neonate whose mother was prescribed codeine therapy<sup>4</sup>. These cases highlight the importance of understanding drug excretion into milk. This section will explore the various pathways or transporters responsible for excreting drugs into breast milk.

## 2.5 Mechanisms of Drug Transport

#### 2.5.1 Passive Diffusion

The most common way that drugs, and potentially drug metabolites, cross the mammary epithelium and into breast milk is down a concentration gradient via passive diffusion<sup>89</sup>. The possibility of a drug being excreted into breast milk can also be determined by the molecular weight of the drug, pKa, extent of plasma protein binding, lipophilicty and maternal plasma

levels<sup>37</sup>. Ionized, water-soluble drugs and drugs with molecular mass higher than 200 kDa are not able to cross the mammary epithelial membrane<sup>89,90</sup>. Breast milk is slightly acidic (pH 7.2); therefore, drugs that are slightly basic can become ion trapped and concentrated in the milk<sup>90</sup>. Highly protein-bound medications are less likely to pass into milk or simply get excreted in low concentrations<sup>91</sup>. Further, drugs with longer half-lives tend to accumulate in the breast milk more readily<sup>92</sup>. Drugs that are highly lipid-soluble are able to dissolve into the milk fat and can become concentrated by binding to the protein fraction<sup>89</sup>. The lipid content is lower in the foremilk (beginning of feed) and higher in the hindmilk (end of feed), suggesting that drug concentration can also vary throughout an individual feed, depending on the physicochemical properties of the drug<sup>37,93</sup>. In addition, neonatal drug exposure may be increased during the colostrum period due to increased porosity of the mammary alveolar epithelium caused by immature tight junction formation between cells<sup>37</sup>.

#### 2.5.2 Active Transport

It has been discussed how passive diffusion accounts for a large proportion of drug transport across the mammary gland. However, certain drugs such as cimetidine and nitrofurantoin are accumulated in milk at much higher concentrations than predicted by passive diffusion<sup>94</sup>. This suggests that carrier-mediated transport could contribute to drug transfer into milk. The most noteworthy drug transporter BCRP, encoded by *ABCG2*, which is highly upregulated in the lactating alveolar epithelial cells <sup>66</sup>. In contrast, p-glycoprotein (MDR1; *ABCB1*) and the multi-drug resistance proteins, MRP1 (*ABCC1*) and MRP2 (*ABCC2*), are all functionally down-regulated during lactation<sup>95</sup>. It remains unclear how these drug transporters contribute to drug disposition into milk.

#### 2.5.3 The Breast Cancer Resistance Protein (BCRP)

As described above, there has been emerging evidence suggesting xenobiotic and nutrient drug transporting proteins such as BCRP play a role in facilitating drug excretion into milk <sup>66,67,96</sup>. BCRP is an ATP-binding cassette transmembrane protein that actively effluxes numerous compounds from cell, most commonly recognized for its contribution to multidrug resistance of

tumor cells <sup>97</sup>. Interestingly, BCRP is highly expressed in the apical membrane of the alveolar mammary epithelium in the human, mouse and cow, starting in the third trimester of pregnancy and throughout lactation<sup>66</sup>. BCRP is a multi-substrate transporter that has been shown to actively transport dietary carcinogens (e.g. 2-amino-1-methyl-6-phenylimidazo[4,5-b]pyridine (PhIP)) and medications (e.g. cimetidine, ciprofloxacin) across the mammary gland and into milk <sup>66,98</sup>. As mentioned in section 2.3, the most notable physiological function of BCRP during lactation is to preferentially secrete riboflavin (vitamin B<sub>2</sub>) and its cofactor, FMN, into milk<sup>67</sup>. Other dietary-derived compounds such as genistein, an isoflavone found abundantly in soybeans, has been described to have potent BCRP-inhibitory effects *in vitro* and has also demonstrated the ability to alter the pharmacokinetics of other BCRP substrates in mice <sup>98–100</sup>. The ability of these compounds to modulate drug disposition and clearance may have potential implications for the transport of drugs into milk. This will be further explored in this thesis.

### 2.6 Measuring Drugs in Milk: Analytical Considerations

The majority of drug measurement methods used clinically are optimized for measurement in blood or urine. Due to dynamic differences in matrix, measuring drugs in breast milk is complex and requires specific considerations for analysis and validation. As with plasma, breast milk drug concentrations are subject to high inter-individual variability, depending on plasma concentrations, genetic variability in drug metabolizing enzymes, milk phase (foremilk vs. hindmilk), stage (colostrum vs. mature milk) or time of day (morning vs. night)<sup>6,37</sup>. Both lipid and protein content have wide inter- and intra-day variability, which are also factors that could contribute to sampling bias<sup>6,101</sup>. Infant exposure estimates can be significantly affected by a failure to consider macromolecule partitioning. Drug concentrations in milk are often largely dependent on plasma concentration and mechanism of entry, requiring additional sensitivity for measurement of drugs that may be excreted in milk in lower concentrations. For those drugs with low levels of excretion, it may seem trivial to determine true measurements; however, this information is essential to assessing infant exposure and potential risk of toxicity. Another consideration that is often overlooked is the extent of drug metabolite excretion into milk. In certain cases, such as the morphine-related neonatal fatality reported by Koren et al.<sup>4</sup>. the metabolite can be responsible for infant adverse events.

In order to better understand exposure of a drug and/or metabolite through milk and define the magnitude of infant risk, it is essential to develop analytical methods optimized specifically for milk measurement. Furthermore, validation parameters such as assay reproducibility (precision), accuracy (bias), linearity, limit of detection/quantification, and ion suppression in LC-MS/M must meet specific criteria in order to accurately establish infant exposure estimates.

## 2.7 Infant Exposure Estimates

Accurate analytical measurement is one of many essential components in generating reliable infant exposure estimates of drugs through breast milk. Due to ethical challenges, measurement of drugs in milk must be completed when a lactating woman is receiving a medication therapeutically. The most common approach is to collect serial milk samples either following a single administration or across a dosing interval when a woman has steady-state plasma concentrations<sup>90</sup>. Collection of 5-6 milk samples during one dosing interval is considered to be sufficient to calculate the area under the milk concentration-time curve  $(AUC_{milk})^6$ . The average milk concentration ( $C_{av, milk}$ ) can be calculated by dividing the AUC by the collection time interval<sup>90</sup>. Once the average drug concentration is determined, the infant dose through breast milk can be assessed. Despite obvious variability in milk intake volumes ( $V_{milk}$ ), it is still well-accepted that infant drug exposure estimates can be based on a daily milk intake of 150 mL/kg/day<sup>102</sup>. Average infant drug dosage can be assessed by the equation below<sup>90</sup>:

Infant daily  $dose = C_{av, milk} x V_{milk}$ 

#### 2.7.1 Relative Infant Dose

Many drugs used to treat common diseases and disorders in the postpartum period do not have any corresponding data for infant drug doses or safety information (e.g. infants would not be prescribed a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) such as escitalopram). The Relative Infant Dose (RID) was established to provide insight on the amount of the weight-adjusted maternal dose the infant would be ingesting<sup>103</sup>. The RID is expressed as a percentage and is calculated using the following equation<sup>103</sup>:

#### RID = [Infant dose (mg/kg/day) / Maternal dose (mg/kg/day)] x 100

It is widely accepted that drugs with an RID of 10% or less are considered "safe" and compatible for use while breastfeeding; although, updated guidelines suggest that the cut-off should be 5% for drugs with psychotropic effects <sup>103–105</sup>. A study examining over 200 drugs found that approximately 50% had RIDs of less than 1% and 87% of drugs had RIDs lower than 10%<sup>90</sup>. Despite being a well-accepted safety standard, there are no experimental data that contributed to establishing these cut-offs, questioning the reliability of this measure in assessing infant risk estimates<sup>104</sup>. Furthermore, there are cases, such as the bupropion-induced seizure seen in an infant<sup>3</sup>, where the RID was less than 10%, yet an adverse event was still reported. There are also a number of other limitations with the use of the RID. Factors such as variability in dosage, volume of milk ingested, and immaturity of infant metabolism and clearance are not considered, possibly contributing to inaccurate risk assessment<sup>104</sup>.

#### 2.7.2 Milk-to-Plasma Ratio

The milk-to-maternal plasma ratio (M/P ratio) is used to determine the extent of drug distribution from maternal plasma to milk<sup>6</sup>. The M/P ratio can be variable across the dosing interval; therefore, it is described as a time-averaged value<sup>86</sup>. The M/P ratio can be predicted by the physicochemical properties of the drug and can also provide insight into the potential mechanism of drug transport into milk<sup>6,106</sup>. Approximately 80% of all drugs have M/P ratios less than 1 (less than 0.1 - 0.9)<sup>106</sup>. While an M/P ratio greater than 1 implies the drug is accumulated in the milk, these observations may not necessarily be clinically significant. As with the RID, the M/P ratio has a number of limitations that could potentially contribute to misleading interpretation of data on the safety of a drug during breastfeeding. Drug clearance, which is not fully mature during the neonatal period, must be considered when assessing the M/P ratio. Drugs that are not readily

cleared by the infant may result in significant accumulation, even if the drug is believed to have a low M/P ratio<sup>106</sup>. In contrast, if an infant were to consume a drug with a high M/P ratio (e.g. M/P of 10) but with relatively high clearance, it would not necessarily result in a clinically or toxicologically significant plasma concentrations<sup>106</sup>. Sole emphasis on the M/P ratio in predicting the safety of a drug during breastfeeding may mislead risk assessment; therefore, consideration of other parameters should be used to generate infant exposure estimates.

#### 2.7.3 Mouse Lactation Models

Animal models are a useful surrogate to understanding drug transport and disposition into milk. Specifically, the mouse mammary gland has been well-characterized and has been described as a suitable model due to its anatomical similarities to the human mammary gland<sup>107,108</sup>. Furthermore, mice and humans share similarities within their active transport systems in the mammary epithelial cells. Bcrp is highly induced in the apical side of the alveolar cells, allowing for the exploration of Bcrp-mediated xenobiotic transport into milk<sup>66</sup>. Despite its utility to better understand the role of active transporters in drug excretion into milk, making inferences to human applications must be done cautiously.

#### 2.7.4 Physiologically-Based Pharmacokinetic (PBPK) Models

The most clinically valuable way to examine infant exposure of a drug through breast milk is to measure steady-state plasma concentrations in an infant whose mother also has achieved steadystate<sup>109</sup>. There are obvious ethical constraints to this approach, especially if the safety of a drug in breastfeeding is not well-known or has never been described. *In silico* techniques may be useful to help predict infant plasma exposure to a drug through breast milk. One *in silico* approach used to better understand the pharmacokinetics of a drug is physiologically-based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) modeling. PBPK models are mathematical representations of a biological system that helps to predict drug pharmacokinetic parameters using a series of differential equations<sup>110</sup>. These models integrate the physicochemical properties of the drug of interest, along with the anatomical and physiological characteristics of the organism of interest. The generic structure of a PBPK model is shown in **figure 2-3**. Each compartment is represented
by a specific organ, and the compartments are interconnected by respective blood flows. The drug transfer across each representative organ is expressed as a mass-balance equation, allowing for the amount of drug to be calculated for any given time<sup>111</sup>. Coupling drug monitoring data in milk to PBPK modeling techniques has the potential to better understand infant plasma exposure, while eliminating invasive infant blood sampling. This approach will be described in Chapter 5: Escitalopram.



**Figure 2-3**. Whole body PBPK model from <sup>112</sup> (open access distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License)

# 2.8 Chronic Disease During the Postpartum Period

Chronic immune diseases commonly affect women during peak reproductive years. Fortunately, with advancements in therapeutic strategies, remission rates are common and women are able to

conceive and have successful pregnancies<sup>113</sup>. Deciding on the most effective drug therapy for use during lactation is a complicated decision, and often mothers with chronic diseases are often discouraged from breastfeeding due to the perceived risk of infant drug exposure and the fear of adverse events. In the United States, the Food and Drug Administration has removed its pregnancy and lactation lettered risk categories – A, B, C, D, X – and has recently updated their labeling guidelines to provide more detailed information on the use of a medication during lactation<sup>114</sup>. The new labeling requirements require a risk summary on the presence of a drug and/or its metabolites in milk, the effects on the nursing infant, and the effects on milk production<sup>114</sup>. Clinical considerations on options for minimizing exposure, monitoring adverse effects, and, when available, provide data on the scientific basis of the risks described<sup>114</sup>. Still, maternal adherence to medication during breastfeeding and establishment of breastfeeding are impacted due to lack of sufficient drug safety data. It was the goal of this thesis to describe novel approaches to help fill in the gaps of knowledge and allow for nursing women with chronic diseases to be informed on the risk-benefit of using a medication while breastfeeding.

# 2.9 Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA)

Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA) is a chronic immune-mediated inflammatory disease affecting approximately 1% of the population<sup>115</sup>. Women are at a 2 to 3- fold higher risk of developing RA than men, with disease onset typically occurring during the reproductive years<sup>116</sup>. It has been postulated that women who breastfeed have a higher risk of developing RA, likely due to changes in hormonal status and increased pro-inflammatory prolactin levels<sup>117</sup>. While many women with RA experience disease remission during pregnancy, there is an increased risk for developing a disease flare in the immediate postpartum period <sup>118</sup>. The postpartum period is especially challenging for woman suffering from RA, as the combination of increased physical demands and sleep deprivation could worsen symptoms of the disease<sup>119</sup>. This emphasizes the need to use medication to control or induce remission during this time. There are significant maternal and infant benefits associated with breastfeeding; however, there are little safety data surrounding the use of anti-rheumatic drugs during lactation. Women and healthcare practitioners are faced with effectively managing symptoms while making the decision to breastfeed.

#### 2.9.1 Drugs Used to Treat RA During Lactation

As with most drugs, well-established literature on drugs used to treat RA during breastfeeding is largely lacking. Risk characterization data are often unreliable, due to the fact that guidelines are often based on theoretical risk. Furthermore, most RA drugs have inadequate milk concentrations data based on case reports, and have minimal or nonexistent infant serum data <sup>119</sup>. Short-term administration of short-acting non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are considered to be safe during lactation<sup>120</sup>. While these NSAIDs are useful anti-inflammatory drugs, they are not effective as disease-modifying anti-rheumatic agents (DMARDs), which specifically inhibit disease progression and help induce remission<sup>121</sup>. In spite of limited data, the only DMARDs considered compatible with breastfeeding are hydroxychloroquine and sulfasalazine. Other more effective DMARDs, leflunomide and methotrexate, are considered contraindicated during lactation<sup>122</sup>.

#### 2.9.2 Methotrexate

Methotrexate (MTX) is an analogue of folic acid and is considered the "anchor drug" in the treatment and management of RA<sup>123</sup>. As the first line of treatment in RA, MTX is administered in nearly 70% of patients and is the most widely used DMARD <sup>124</sup>. Due to the increased risk of spontaneous abortion and significant teratogenicity, MTX is withdrawn from treatment in women trying to conceive <sup>125</sup>. As previously discussed, disease activity of RA often decreases during pregnancy, but tends to flare following delivery, necessitating the reestablishment of treatment<sup>126</sup>. To treat RA, MTX is commonly administered as a single weekly 15-25 mg intramuscular, subcutaneous or oral dose<sup>127,128</sup>. At physiological pH, MTX is ionized and hydrophilic, necessitating transport into the cell by various carrier proteins<sup>128</sup>. Approximately 50% of MTX is protein-bound and is primarily excreted in the urine unchanged<sup>128</sup>. The volume of distribution of MTX is 0.7L/kg, equivalent to that of the total body water volume<sup>128</sup>. The serum half-life of low-dose MTX is between 6-8 hours and is undetectable by 24 hours postdose<sup>127</sup>. Approximately 10% of MTX is converted to its active metabolite, 7hydroxymethotrexate (70H-MTX) by aldehyde oxidase in the liver and both parent and metabolite are excreted in the urine<sup>127</sup>. Once taken up by cells, MTX and 7OH-MTX can be enzymatically modified to polyglutamate derivatives (MTX-diglutamate, -triglutamate, etc.),

which is stored for up to months post-dose <sup>129</sup>. It has been reported that the therapeutic efficacy of MTX is correlated with the concentration of MTX-polyglutamate derivatives within the red blood cells<sup>130</sup>. 7OH-MTX has limited aqueous solubility and its cytotoxicity is reported to contribute to renal damage following high dose MTX therapy<sup>131</sup>. The bioavalability of MTX is highly variable, but is on average around 70%<sup>127</sup>. Many factors can contribute to inter-individual variability and include: age, food, co-administered medication and drug transporter expression<sup>132</sup>. **Figure 2-4** outlines the transport and metabolism of MTX.



**Figure 2-4**. Methotrexate transporters and metabolism (with permission from van der Heijden et al. <sup>133</sup>).

#### 2.9.3 Methotrexate Transport

Multiple solute carrier (SLC), ATP-binding cassette (ABC) and receptor-mediated transporters (e.g the folate transporter) contribute to the inter-individual variability in the pharmacokinetics of MTX. **Table 2-3** below summarizes the drug transporting proteins involved in MTX transport. MTX cellular influx is generally mediated by the reduced folate carrier (RFC), which is encoded by *SLC19A1*, and the proton-coupled folate transporter (PCFT), encoded by *SLC46A1*<sup>134–136</sup>. The presence of polymorphisms in transporting proteins responsible for MTX elimination are associated with clinical effectiveness and toxicity. The organic anion transporting polypeptide 1B1 (OATP1B1; *SLC01B1*) is a key transporter involved in MTX and 7OH-MTX liver disposition and elimination<sup>137</sup>. Recently, a genome-wide association study identified a *SLC01B1* 

polymorphism could play a role in decreased MTX elimination and may be associated with toxicity in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia patients<sup>138,139</sup>. ABC transporter expression also plays an important role in MTX efflux from cells. HEK293 cells expressing wildtype BCRP showed that BCRP has a capacity to transport MTX, MTX-di-glutamate and tri-glutamate; however, any BCRP variants are unable to transport MTX to any extent<sup>140</sup>. Similarly, Volk and Schneider used MCF7 cells to verify that wildtype BCRP transported MTX and its polyglutamated derivatives<sup>141</sup>. It has also been reported that the active metabolite of MTX, 70H-MTX, is also a substrate for BCRP in membrane Sf9 vesicles $^{142}$ .

**Table 2-3.** Summary of MTX drug transporters.

	Gene (transporter)				
Substrate	ABC	SLC	SLCO	Other	
	ABCC1 (MRP1)	SCL19A1 (RFC)	<i>SLCO1B</i> (OATP1B1)	FOLR1 (FR)	
	ABCC2 (MRP2)	<i>SLC46A1</i> (PCFT)	<i>SLCO1B3</i> (OATP1B3)		
	ABCC3 (MRP3)	<i>SLC22A6</i> (OAT1)	<i>SLCO1A2</i> (OATP1A2)		
MTX	ABCC4 (MRP4)	<i>SLC22A8</i> (OAT3)	SLCO4C1 (OATP4C1)		
	ABCC5 (MRP5)	<i>SLC22A11</i> (OAT4)			
	ABCB1 (MDR1)				
	ABCG2 (BCRP)				
Reference	136–138,140,141,143–	152			

References:

## 2.9.4 Methotrexate in Breast Milk

American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) classifies MTX as a drug that "may interfere with cellular metabolism" of the nursing infant and is listed as contraindicated during breastfeeding<sup>153,154</sup>. Despite these recommendations, a recent survey reported that 8.5% of physicians and 13.7% of gastroenterologists would continue methotrexate therapy during breastfeeding<sup>155</sup>. However, the safety information on MTX in milk is limited to only three case reports in the literature<sup>150,156,157</sup>. Therefore, the true risk of toxicity and drug accumulation in the infant remains largely unknown. One case report stated that the peak MTX concentration in milk was 8% that of plasma levels following a 22.5 mg/day oral dose for the treatment of choriocarcinoma<sup>156</sup>. More recently, the first case report was published describing MTX levels at 2, 12 and 24 hours following a 25 mg weekly SO dose for the treatment of RA<sup>157</sup>. This case

report was able to detect 22.7 ng/mL (0.05  $\mu$ M) MTX in breast milk. The authors noted that this concentration was detectable but fell below the quantitation limits of their assay. This corresponded with a RID estimation of 3.4  $\mu$ g/kg/day, indicating that the conservative estimate of the infant MTX dose in milk within the first 24 h of maternal dosing was as low as 1% of the weight-adjusted dose of the mother<sup>157</sup>. Similarly, Tanaka et al.<sup>150</sup> reported undetectable levels of MTX in milk (<22.7 ng/ml) 1h to 24 h after 65 mg intramuscular dose for ectopic pregnancy.

Due to the increased incidence of RA in the postpartum period and the well-established efficacy of low-dose MTX therapy in the management of RA, it is with great importance that the safety of MTX therapy during breastfeeding becomes fully defined. However, the publication by Johns et al. performed their analysis using a bioassay and the more recent publication by Thorne et al. used LC-MS/MS but did not describe their methods<sup>157</sup>. Bioassays are lacking in sensitivity and specificity and the limit of quantitation described by the case by Thorne et al. described a high limit of quantitation (>22.7 ng/mL)<sup>157</sup>. At present, there are no other reports on MTX secretion into human milk with a specific and sensitive mass-spectrometry method optimized to measure breast milk. Due to the lack of accurate information on milk concentrations of MTX in these patients, exposure-based risk assessments are not possible, compromising drug safety for those patients during lactation.

# 2.10 Postpartum Depression and Lactation

Postpartum depression (PPD) is a common disorder affecting between 10-15% of new mothers <sup>158</sup>. The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 5th edition (DSM-V) defines PPD as the current or most recent episode of major depressive disorder, if the onset is within the first four weeks postpartum<sup>159</sup>. If left untreated, it can lead to poor cognitive, behavioural and social outcomes for both the infant and mother <sup>160,161</sup>. Infants whose mothers suffered from chronic maternal depression throughout the first 12 months postpartum had poor psychomotor development at 15 months<sup>162</sup>. With the combined functional impairment in the mother and potentially delayed development in infants, treating PPD with pharmacological or non-pharmacological approaches is imperative<sup>163</sup>.

#### 2.10.1 Escitalopram

SSRIs are often considered to be a first-line therapy for the treatment of PPD, as they possess good safety profiles in women of childbearing age <sup>164</sup>. Escitalopram (ESC) oxalate is an SSRI antidepressant that is approved to treat major depressive disorder, generalized anxiety disorder and obsessive compulsive disorder<sup>165,166</sup>. Chemically, ESC is the S-enantiomer of citalopram, and follows linear pharmacokinetics after oral administration with a half-life of 27-33 hours, with steady-state plasma levels are reached approximately 7-10 days after initiating therapy<sup>167</sup>. ESC is 56% protein-bound and has a large volume of distribution of approximately 1100 L, corresponding to a wide tissue distribution <sup>167,168</sup>. Clearance is largely hepatic and involves CYP3A4, CYP2C19 and CYP2D6 enzymes <sup>167</sup>. The major metabolite is S-demethylcitalopram (D-ESC), which does not have clinically relevant antidepressant activity<sup>167</sup>.

### 2.10.2 Escitalopram in Breast Milk

The data examining the safety of ESC during breastfeeding are limited to two small prospective cohort studies and three case reports<sup>169</sup>. The two prospective cohort studies investigated the transfer of ESC and D-ESC into breast milk. The first study measured milk concentrations in 5 women and found an RID equal to 4.5% of the maternal weight-adjusted dose, falling below the accepted RID cutoff of 5%<sup>170</sup>. Similarly, the second study investigated the excretion of ESC/D-ESC in 8 women and reported the mean RID to be 5.3%<sup>171</sup>. The case reports in the literature found consistent RIDs and all but one study found no major adverse outcomes in infants<sup>172–174</sup>. The last case reported by Potts et al. described a case of necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC) in a neonate who was exposed to ESC *in utero* and via breast milk<sup>174</sup>. The authors postulated that neonatal ESC exposure caused a decrease in platelet serotonin and thus led to platelet aggregation causing NEC<sup>174</sup>. Clearly, the available data surrounding ESC safety during lactation are limited and should be further explored.

# 2.11 Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) and Lactation

The incidence of inflammatory diseases (IBD) - Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC)- are highest during the reproductive years<sup>175</sup>. An IBD diagnosis is not associated with an increased risk of an unsuccessful pregnancy; however, disease control before conception and maintenance of remission throughout pregnancy is imperative to optimize fetal and maternal health<sup>176,177</sup>. Ongoing active disease or flare during pregnancy is associated with poor neonatal outcomes, such as preterm birth and low birth weight<sup>176</sup>. It has been well-described that a disease flare during pregnancy has the potential for higher fetal risk than the use of medication in  $utero^{178}$ . The concerns of the risking infant drug exposure while managing disease activity subsist during lactation, as it has been reported that women diagnosed with IBD have a higher risk of experiencing a disease flare during the postpartum period<sup>5</sup>. Similarly to RA, the increased risk of flare is thought to be associated with the rise in pro-inflammatory prolactin levels<sup>179</sup>. Despite the well-established benefits to breastfeeding, one study found that 56% of women with IBD chose not to initiate breastfeeding. The majority of women cited the reasons for not breastfeeding were due to concern about risks of infant drug exposure through milk or based their decision on physician counsel<sup>5</sup>. The remainder of women who chose to initiate breastfeeding decided to discontinue their IBD treatment, which evidently led to an increase in disease activity<sup>5</sup>.

## 2.11.1 Drugs Used to Treat IBD During Lactation

A recent cross-sectional survey revealed that physician management of IBD therapy during pregnancy and lactation is highly variable, further highlighting the lack of established guidelines for medication use in the postpartum<sup>155</sup>. The drug categories used for the treatment and management of IBD are shown in **table 2-4**. The "pyramid of treatment" is often used to manage the disease, starting with 5-aminosalicylate and sulfasalazine as the first administered medications<sup>155</sup>. For more severe disease states, administration of immunosuppressants such as methotrexate or azathioprine are required. Other treatments for moderate to severe IBD include corticosteroids, such as prednisone, and anti-TNF $\alpha$  biologics monoclonal antibodies (mAb), such as infliximab.

Category	Drugs	
Anti-inflammatory	0	Mesalazine
	0	Corticosteroids (prednisone, methylpredinisone,
		budesonide)
Immunosuppressants	0	Azathioprine, 6-mercaptopurine, methotrexate,
		cyclosporine, tacrolimus
Antibiotics	0	Metronidazole, ornidazole, clarithromycin,
		ciprofloxacin
Biologics	0	Infliximab, adalimumab, certolizumab pegol

Table 2-4. Drug categories used to treat IBD (Adapted from Triantadillidis et al.<sup>180</sup>)

It is widely accepted that the inflammatory cytokines, TNF $\alpha$ , plays a large role in the pathogenesis of IBD <sup>181</sup>. Evidently, TNF $\alpha$ -inhibition with anti- TNF $\alpha$  drugs has become a powerful tool in patients with moderate-to-severe CD, especially in those who are non-responsive to other treatment strategies<sup>180</sup>.

As shown in **Figure 2-5**, the anti-TNF $\alpha$  drugs used to treat IBD include: infliximab (chimeric IgG1 mAb), Certolizumab pegol (human Fab' conjugated to PEG) Adalimumab and Golimumab (human IgG1 mAb)<sup>182–184</sup>.



**Figure 2-5.** Structure of therapeutic antibodies used to treat inflammatory conditions; etanercept, infliximab, adalimumab/golimumab, and certolizumab (left to right) (with permission from Dele Davies<sup>185</sup>).

#### 2.11.2 Infliximab

Infliximab (IFX) is a chimeric monoclonal antibody with a murine-derived variable region and a human constant region (**shown in Figure 2-5.**) that can bind and neutralize soluble and membrane-bound TNFα<sup>186</sup>. IFX is highly hydrophilic and has a molecular weight if 149.1 kDa. The volume of distribution is low, at 3-6 L, representing the intravascular space<sup>187</sup>. IFX is used in the treatment of IBD conditions, and has also been approved for management of RA, ankylosing spondylitis, psoriatic arthritis, and psoriasis<sup>187</sup>. To initiate treatment, multiple infusions of IFX are administered intravenously (3-5 mg/kg) and repeated after 2 weeks and 6 weeks. Once clinical remission is achieved, patients receive a maintenance dose is administered every 8 weeks<sup>187</sup>. The elimination half-life is 7-12 days due to very low renal clearance (~0.25 mL/min)<sup>187,188</sup>. IFX is systemically cleared following phagocyte internalization and subsequent proteolytic catabolism<sup>189</sup>. IFX can evade catabolism by neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn)-mediated recycling<sup>188</sup>. Antibodies bind with high affinity to the FcRn inside an acidified endosome, which allow for protection from proteolytic processes<sup>189</sup>. The FcRn-bound IFX within the endosome is returned to the cell surface and recirculated<sup>189</sup>.

#### 2.11.3 Infliximab in Breast Milk

Theoretically, due to the high molecular weight and low tissue distribution, excretion of IFX into milk should be low<sup>122</sup>. To date, there are limited and conflicting data on infliximab safety during lactation. Until recently, three case reports reported cases of IFX below detectable limits in breast milk<sup>190–193</sup>. In contrast, current publications describe conflicting data; concentrations in the range of 100-300 ng/mL have been measured in breast milk up to 8 days post-infusion<sup>194,195</sup>. Moreover, there are several limitations with the current literature contributing to largely unreliable infant exposure estimates. The majority of the assays used to measure IFX in breast milk were optimized for serum detection, not taking milk matrix differences into consideration nor validating their method for milk. Further, infant exposure to IFX via breast milk after day 8 post-infusion remains unknown.

Surprisingly, a case series reported an IFX serum concentration of 1700 ng/mL in a partially breastfed infant, contradicting the previous reports that demonstrated undetectable infant serum

infliximab levels <sup>192,196</sup>. Although no adverse events were noted in this infant, these findings warrant further exploration of infant exposure to IFX via breast milk, especially because the local mucosal effects remain unknown.

# 2.12 Thesis Objectives

The overarching objective of this thesis is to better understand drug safety during lactation. Using various analytical and *in silico* approaches, three drugs of particular interest for chronic disease will be explored; methotrexate, escitalopram and infliximab.

## Project 1: Methotrexate

The primary goals of the methotrexate project were to elucidate the mechanism of transport of MTX into milk and determine the risk of MTX exposure to the nursing infant. The following are the specific aims:

**Aim 1**: Develop and validate a sensitive LC-MS/MS method to quantitate MTX and metabolite(s) in mouse and human milk.

Aim 2: Examine the pharmacokinetics of MTX and MTX-metabolites in human milk.

**Aim 3**: Using an animal lactation model, determine the role of the active transporter, Bcrp, in excreting MTX into mouse milk.

**Aim 4**: Explore the potential for Bcrp substrate competition to modulate MTX efflux across the lactating mammary epithelium.

## Project 2: Escitalopram

The main objectives of the escitalopram project were to use an optimized analytical approach to determine infant drug exposure estimates and utilize *in silico* techniques to determine total systemic exposure of ESC in an infant.

Aim 1: Optimize an LC-MS/MS method to measure ESC and metabolite in human milk.

**Aim 2**: Determine the steady-state time-concentration profile of ESC and metabolite in the milk of women taking ESC in the postpartum.

Aim 3: Use the measured milk data from Aim 2, along with feeding-related parameters to simulate a total infant daily dose of ESC via breast milk.

**Aim 4**: Develop a PBPK model to simulate infant plasma concentrations using the "dose" an infant would receive through breast milk from **Aim 3**.

## Project 3: Infliximab

The main objectives of this project were to develop and validate an analytical method to examine the concentration of infliximab in breast milk and assess the extent of exposure to the nursing infant.

**Aim 1**: Develop and validate an ELISA-based approach to measure infliximab concentrations in milk.

Aim 2: Determine the extent of drug exposure to the nursing infant.

# Chapter 3 Materials and Methods

# 3 Materials and Methods

In this chapter the thesis methodology and materials are discussed. The overarching study is called the "Drugs in Lactation Analysis Consortium" (DLAC) Study, which served as the recruitment platform for all three sub-studies: methotrexate (MTX), escitalopram (ESC), and infliximab (IFX). The DLAC Study methodology and recruitment criteria are outlined at the beginning of this chapter, followed by an in-depth description of the three different scientific approaches for each project. The MTX section of this chapter describes methodology used to develop and validate the LC-MS/MS method used to measure the drug and metabolites in milk. It also describes the animal study used to determine the role of the drug transporting protein, Bcrp, in excreting MTX into milk. Next, the analytical and *in-silico* methods used to assess ESC infant exposure through breast milk are discussed. Finally, the analytical approach used to understand the IFX profile in milk is explained.

# 3.1 DLAC Study

Women were recruited through the DLAC Study framework via four main networks:

- 1. The Motherisk Pregnancy and Breastfeeding helpline
- 2. Searching for the DLAC Study via ClinicalTrials.gov
- Advertisements via The Hospital for Sick Children poster boards and social media accounts
- 4. Physician referrals

Pregnant or breastfeeding women who contacted the Motherisk Helpline to receive counseling about MTX, ESC or IFX safety during pregnancy or lactation were first screened for eligibility by the Motherisk helpline counselors. The potential participants were asked if they would give permission to be contacted by a DLAC study member to learn more about what study participation entails. The name and phone number of interested individuals were provided to the study coordinator and contacted within a few days after their initial counseling call for oral consent to be obtained. Patients referred by physicians were instructed to initially call the helpline and were recruited following the same procedure as above. Individuals who saw DLAC Study information on ClinicalTrials.gov or Hospital for Sick Children media contacted the study coordinator directly via phone or email.

The DLAC Study questionnaire and requisition (Appendix A) and consent forms (Appendix B) were approved in May 2014 by the Research Ethics Board (REB #1000036538) at the Hospital for Sick Children in Toronto, Canada.

## 3.2 Inclusion Criteria

- Lactating women on MTX, ESC\* or IFX (\* steady-state)
- 2. Women who have provided signed consent to participate in the study

## 3.3 Exclusion Criteria

- 1. Unable to communicate in English
- 2. Colostrum phase (< 1 week postpartum)

# 3.4 Demographic Information and Sample Collection

Once the participants had agreed to participate and provided oral consent over the phone, women were sent study consent forms, questionnaire, requisition forms, 35 mL milk collection containers, a Styrofoam box, and ice packs to their homes. Demographic information such as age, height, weight and ethnicity were collected on the questionnaire (**Appendix A**). Information about concomitant medications, supplements or vitamins was also obtained. Participants asked to collect 5 mL of milk either by manually expressing by hand or via electrical or manual breast pumps at random times throughout their dosing interval (daily for ESC, weekly for MTX or q8 weeks for IFX). They indicated whether milk was collected pre-, post- or between infant feeds on the study requisition forms. Both foremilk and hindmilk were collected in separate milk

containers as part of the MTX and ESC sub-studies in order to determine whether the drugs preferentially accumulate in different milk phases. To examine the pharmacokinetics of the drugs in milk, women also indicated exactly when they were administered their dose on the requisition form. Once milk samples were collected at respective time points, women were instructed to immediately freeze the samples until all samples were collected and ready to ship to the lab at The Hospital for Sick Children. When all samples were obtained, each study participant packed their frozen samples and ice packs into the Styrofoam box provided, and shipped their samples using an expedited overnight courier service. For women taking MTX or ESC, samples were thawed and aliquoted upon arrival and frozen until analysis. For IFX samples, two approaches were used to ensure the number of freeze-thaw cycles were minimized: (1) if the sample arrived semi-thawed, the sample was allowed to thaw completely and was then aliquoted and frozen until analysis; or (2) if the samples arrived frozen, they were immediately placed back in the freeze-thaw cycles prior to analysis. IFX was found to be stable following up to 4 freeze-thaw cycles<sup>197</sup>.

# 3.5 Methotrexate

### 3.5.1 Reagents

MTX, 7-hydroxymethotrexate (7OH-MTX) and methotrexate-d3 (MTX-d3; deuterated internal standard) were purchased from Toronto Research Chemicals (Toronto, Canada). Mass spectrometry (MS)- or high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)- grade solvents and all other chemicals used were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich. Ketamine was purchased from C.D.M.V Inc. with permission from Health Canada.

### 3.5.2 Study Participants

Two patients receiving MTX therapy for RA were recruited through the DLAC Study. The patients were instructed to collect milk once before taking their dose and then 5-7 subsequent milk samples throughout the MTX dosing interval. One patient was asked to collect foremilk and

hindmilk to determine whether MTX concentrations were influenced by milk composition. Both participants opted to discontinue breastfeeding their infants after initiating MTX therapy. Milk was collected either via electric pump or manual expression. Whole breast milk samples were aliquoted into 1.5 mL polypropylene tubes and stored at -80°C until sample preparation, extraction and analysis. Breast milk MTX and 7OH-MTX concentrations were calculated by using the ratio of the internal standard/AUC of the sample.

## 3.5.3 Sample Preparation and Extraction

Pooled, drug-free human milk was donated to the DLAC Study for the purpose of preparing milk standards and controls. Donated milk was received from healthy nursing mothers 2-18 months post-delivery and screened for possible drug contaminants. Only confirmed drug-free milk was used in method development.

Due to the complexity of the matrix, various drug extraction methods were attempted and optimized for methotrexate extraction from breast milk. Prior to extraction, calibrators, quality control (QC), samples and patient samples were allowed to thaw until reaching room temperature. Milk samples were prepared according to the protocol by Rezk et al<sup>198</sup>. with modifications as follows: 100 µL of milk (calibrator, QC, patient milk sample, mouse milk sample) was aliquoted into 1.5 mL polypropylene microcentrifuge tubes, to which 50 µL hexane, 100 µL acetonitrile and 100 µL methanol containing 10 ng/mL MTX-d3 (internal standard) were added. Samples were capped, vortexed for 10 seconds and centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 5 minutes at room temperature. As per the method according to Rezk<sup>198</sup>, the hexane mixed with the fat and formed a solid disc, allowing for easy removal of the remaining supernatant below the disc. 100 µL of the remaining supernatant was aliquoted into a new 1.5 mL polypropylene tube at which point 100  $\mu$ L of methanol was added, capped, vortexed and centrifuged for another 5 minutes at 14,000 rpm. The liquid remaining was transferred into another clean 1.5 mL tube and left to sit at -20°C for 30 minutes to accelerate the formation of the remaining protein precipitate. Samples were removed from the freezer, centrifuged for 5 minutes at 14,000 rpm and the supernatant transferred to glass HPLC vials and 5  $\mu$ L was injected onto LC-MS/MS.

#### 3.5.4 Preparation of Standards

Stock solutions of MTX (4.5 mg/mL in DMSO), genistein (20 mg/mL in DMSO) were prepared, aliquoted and stored in amber glass vials at -20<sup>o</sup>C and thawed and diluted on the day of experimentation. To prepare the working solutions suitable for animal parenteral injection, the original stock solutions were diluted in saline. Riboflavin and FMN were dissolved from powder into saline and ko143 was dissolved in corn oil the morning of the study experiment.

Separate standard solutions of MTX, 7OH-MTX and MTX-d3 were prepared at a concentration of 1 mg/mL in methanol and stored in an opaque box at -20°C. Intermediate stocks solutions of MTX and 7OH-MTX were prepared at a concentration of 1 µg/mL for each respective compound. The internal standard (MTX-d3) stock solution was prepared at 10 ng/mL in methanol. The final internal standard stock was stored at -20°C in a 15 mL falcon tube covered in aluminum foil. Six calibration standards with concentrations (0.75, 1.5, 3.1, 6.25, 12.5, 25 ng/mL) and three QC levels (1, 8, 16 ng/mL) were prepared in drug-free human breast milk by spiking and serial dilution. All calibration standards and QC samples were stored at -20°C and sample extraction was preformed immediately once thawed.

# 3.5.5 Liquid Chromatography (LC)

Chromatographic separation was performed on a Shimadzu Prominence UFLC system, which includes binary pumps, autosampler, degasser, and column oven. A sample volume of 5  $\mu$ L was injected into an biphenyl column (2.0 x 75 mm, 3  $\mu$ m) at 40<sup>o</sup>C. The total LC run time was 6 min and liquid flow rate is 0.5 mL/min. LC Gradient Conditions; Solvent A was water with 0.1% formic acid, Solvent B was methanol with 0.1% formic acid, as shown in **figure 3-1** below.



**Figure 3-1.** The gradient curve (% solvent B over time) for the final liquid chromatography method in the LC-MS/MS assay.

## 3.5.6 Mass Spectrometry (MS)

Mass spectrometric analysis was run on an Ab Sciex QTrap 5500 equipped with an ESI source. The final optimized conditions for analysis were as follows: ESI voltage: 5000; HSID Temp: 300°C; nebulizer gas setting: 400; drying gas setting: 120; heating gas setting: 350; source temp: 250°C; dwell time (ms): 100; pause time (ms): 5. The following MRM transitions were selected: MTX: 455/308.1, 7OH-MTX: 471/324.1, and the internal standard MTX-d3 458/311.1. Optimized conditions for declustering potential (DP), collision energy (CE), entrance potential (EP), and collision cell exit potential (CxP) for each respective transition are shown in **table 3-1**.

Compound	Transitions	DP (volts)	CE (volts)	EP (volts)	CxP (volts)
Methotrexate	455 → 308	45	29	10	39
	455 → 175	45	53	10	22
7-Hydroxymethotrexate	471 → 191	45	29	10	18
	471 → 324	45	15	10	52
Methotrexate -d3	458 → 311	36	27	10	12

Table 3-1. Final quadrupole parameters for each transition for MTX, 70H-MTX and MTX-d3

#### 3.5.7 Assay Precision

The precision of this method was determined from the analysis of breast milk-spiked samples of equimolar concentrations of MTX and 7OH-MTX at three different quality control levels: low (1 ng/mL), medium (8 ng/mL) and high (16 ng/mL). Intra- and inter-day precision were determined by calculating the percent CV from the mean and standard deviation of each level of QC. Intraday precision was calculated on a single day using 20 replicates at each concentration level. Inter-day precision was performed over 12 runs across 12 months, the total number of runs performed for study validation and analyzing study samples.

#### 3.5.8 Determination of Linear Range

Seven equally spaced intermediate concentrations levels were prepared by proportionately mixing high and low pools from the dilution scheme included in the Clinical & Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) EP6-A Appendix A<sup>199</sup>. Samples were run in triplicate and plots of the mean measured value were compared against the expected value. Polynomial regression analysis was used to evaluate linearity.

## 3.5.9 Limit of Quantification (LoQ)

The functional LoQ was defined as the lowest measurable concentration of MTX and 7OH-MTX. The LoQ was calculated using the precision profile approach as defined by CLSI EP17- $A2^{200}$ . Standard 1 (0.78 ng/mL) was serially diluted three times in a 1:1 ratio with blank milk to yield expected concentrations of (0.39, 0.2, and 0.1 ng/mL). Samples were each run in 5 replicates and the sample with a 20% CV was defined as the functional limit of quantification as per the precision profile approach criteria<sup>200</sup>.

#### 3.5.10 Carryover

Two approaches to measure assay carryover were used. To examine column retention of the analyte, a high standard (25 ng/mL) was injected, followed by three blanks. A sequence of 4 high

(a) standards and 4 low (b) standards were run and the percentage carryover was determined by the equation from **figure 3-2** below<sup>201</sup>.



**Figure 3-2.** Equations used to calculate percent carry-over (open access distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License)

### 3.5.11 Method Comparison

Due to the unavailability of a comparative method for 7OH-MTX, the method comparison study was carried out using solely MTX values. Comparisons were carried out with a total of 36 patient plasma samples using MTX values generated from the clinically validated Abbott ARCHITECT chemiluminescent assay and plotted against the calculated patient concentration from our method. Twenty-six serum samples were obtained from patients undergoing high-dose MTX treatment for malignancy at the Hospital for Sick Children. Five external quality assurance samples, provided by the Canadian Association of Pathologists proficiency program, were also used in our method comparison analysis. Serum samples were spiked into breast milk at a 1:10 dilution to achieve calculations within our calibration range. To not alter the final matrix, volumes of <10% of the total volume were spiked into milk.

## 3.5.12 Trienzyme Digest

50 µL of protease (10 mg/mL) was added to 100 µL human breast milk in 200 µL phosphate buffered saline (1% ascorbate). Samples were incubated for 2 hours at  $37^{\circ}$ C, followed by heating at  $100^{\circ}$ C for 5 minutes to deactivate enzyme activity. Samples were allowed to cool on ice for another 5 minutes, at which point 100 µL of  $\alpha$ -amylase (20 mg/mL), 50 µL human plasma folate conjugase (pooled human plasma), and another 200 µL phosphate buffered saline (1% ascorbate) were added and left to incubate for 3 hours at  $37^{\circ}$ C. Samples were centrifuged at 5000 x g for 10 minutes and extracted by following the protocol above using organic solvents. Samples were analyzed via the LC-MS/MS method described here.

### 3.5.13 Determination of Plasma Concentrations

Measurement of MTX in mouse plasma was performed on the Abbott ARCHITECT i2000 platform using a one-step immunoassay using chemiluminescent microparticle immunoassay technology.

### 3.5.14 Riboflavin Measurement

Measurement of riboflavin and FMN were carried out by the Analytical Facility for Bioactive Molecules at The Hospital for Sick Children's Research Institute. 250  $\mu$ L methanol was added to mouse milk samples, vortexed and then placed on ice for an hour. Samples were then centrifuged at 10,500 x g for 15 minutes. The supernatant from each sample was removed and aliquoted into clean tubes. Another 250  $\mu$ L methanol was added to the first tubes, then followed the same procedure as above. The supernatants from the methanol fractions were evaporated and then reconstituted in methanol/ 50 mM ammonium acetate. 10  $\mu$ L was injected into a Dionex Ultimate 3000 series HPLC and chromatographic separation was performed on a Nova-Pak C18 column (150 x 3.9 mm, 4  $\mu$ m). Flow was 0.8 mL/minute with an isocratic mobile phase of 50 mM ammonium acetate and methanol (75/25). Riboflavin and FMN were detected by the Dionex RF 2000 with fluorescence excitation wavelength of 372 nm and emission wavelength of 520 nm.

#### 3.5.15 Animal Lactation Model

Female mice (lactation days 8-12) were obtained from Taconic Inc. or Jackson Laboratories housed and handled according to the Lab Animal Services' Animal Use Protocol at SickKids Research Institute. The animals used in these experiments were wild-type FVB or Bcrp knockout (Bcrp -/-) aged 7 weeks. Animals were kept in a temperature-controlled environment and received water and chow ad libitum. Immediately after delivery, litter size was controlled to maintain 6 pups. If dams did not produce a litter of 6, they were cross-fostered. On experimental days, litters were euthanized between 4-5 hours prior to milk collection, to ensure that the mammary glands had sufficient volumes of milk for collection.

#### 3.5.16 Determination of Bcrp-Mediated Transport of MTX

In order to determine if Bcrp is involved in transporting MTX into milk, we used a mouse lactation model with two groups: wild-type (WT) with Bcrp inherently overexpressed, and Bcrp knockout mice (Bcrp -/-) As shown in figure 3-3, mice were given an IP injection of 0.75 mg/kg methotrexate at the beginning of the experiment (time 0)<sup>202</sup>. Plasma concentrations were used to determine whether an injection successfully reached systemic circulation (e.g. mice were rejected from analysis if plasma concentrations were < 22 ng/mL (0.049 µmol/L)), the clinical assay cutoff.

Forty-five minutes post-MTX dose, an intraperitoneal injection of ketamine/xylazine (100/10 mg/kg) was administered in order to anaesthetize the mouse for milk and plasma collection. Immediately following, mice were given a subcutaneous dose of 5 IU oxytocin (250µL) to facilitate milk let-down. Sixty minutes post-MTX dose, milk was collected via suction or manual expression and plasma was collected by cardiac puncture. Once plasma was collected, mice were euthanized by cervical dislocation.





**Figure 3-3.** Experimental timeline used to determine the role of Bcrp in excreting MTX into milk.

## 3.5.17 Riboflavin-MTX Interaction

To determine the influence of co-administering a Bcrp substrate or inhibitor, mice were pretreated with riboflavin (20 mg/kg), FMN (100 mg/kg), ko143 (20 mg/kg), or genistein (20 mg/kg) 30 minutes prior to MTX administration, shown in figure 3-4. The experimental timeline for anesthesia and milk/plasma collection were the same as above.



Experimental Timeline (minutes)

**Figure 3-4.** Experimental timeline used to determine the effects of co-administering a Bcrp substrate or inhibitor on MTX milk and plasma concentrations.

## 3.5.18 Statistical Analysis

Comparison between two groups was accomplished by using a student's t-test. Differences of P < 0.05 were considered to be statistically significant. N=3-6 per group of mice.

# 3.6 Escitalopram

### 3.6.1 Study Population

A total of 18 lactating women taking ESC provided informed consent and were enrolled in the DLAC Study.

### 3.6.2 Software

All simulations (adult and infant) were completed using PK-Sim® v6.3 (Bayer Technology Services, Leverkusen, Germany), which implements a whole-body PBPK model consisting of 15 organs. Organs were structured into the default small molecule mode of four compartments: interstitial, plasma, red blood cells, and intracellular space.

### 3.6.3 Reagents

Citalopram (the racemic enantiomer of ESC) was purchased from Cerilliant (1 mg/mL in methanol) and the internal standard, citalopram-d6, was purchased from Toronto Research Chemicals (1 ng/mL in methanol). All solvents and other reagents were analytical or mass spectrometry grade.

## 3.6.4 Analytical Methods

ESC concentrations in breast milk were measured by LC-MS/MS using the Thermo TSQ ESI in positive mode with a Kinetex 2.6  $\mu$ m F5 100Å, 100 x 2.1 mm column. The mobile phase consisted of solvent A (acetonitrile) and solvent B (0.1% formic acid in water) for a total 7-minute sample run time. Solvent A was delivered initially at 30%, held for 0.5 minutes and increased to 95% via 4.5-minute gradient and held at 95% for another minute, then decreased back to 30% in another minute to re-equilibrate the column to starting conditions. The flow rate was 300  $\mu$ L/min and the injection volume was 20  $\mu$ L. The transition ions were 325-->109 and

331-->109 for citalopram and citalopram-d6, respectively. Final mass spectrometry settings are shown in table 3-2 below.

Setting	Compound			
	325 ESC 311 D-ESC			
Spray Voltage	500	5000		
Vaporizer Temperature (°C)	350			
Sheath Gas	30			
Ion Sweep	0			
Aux Gas	10			
Capillary Temperature (°C)	325			
Tube Lens	102	112		
Skimmer	-5	-5		
	Transition 325 $ ightarrow$ 109	Transition 311 $ ightarrow$ 109		
СР	1.5			
CE	27	31		

Table 3-2 Final mass spectrometry settings for the ESC LC-MS/MS method

## 3.6.5 LC-MS/MS Assay Performance

The assay performance characteristics (precision, linearity, ion suppression) were analyzed in accordance with CLSI guidelines<sup>203</sup>. Performance studies were determined using spiked breast milk controls and standards. Within-day precision was assessed by running 20 replicates of each level of quality control milk samples and calculating the coefficient of variation for each level. Samples were run in one batch; therefore, inter-day precision was not calculated. Linearity was evaluated by preparing proportionate dilutions of high and low control pools. Six pools were run in triplicate and the measured mean was plotted against the expected value. Ion suppression and matrix effect was carried out by extracting blank milk, injecting into the HPLC and directly infusing ESC in methanol into the mass spectrometer across the chromatographic run.

### 3.6.6 Sample Preparation

50  $\mu$ L each of hexane, acetonitrile and methanol containing citalopram-d6 internal standard were added to 100 uL standard or patient breast milk. Samples were vortexed well and centrifuged at 9000 rpm for 5 minutes. 100  $\mu$ L supernatant (under the fat disc) was removed and 100  $\mu$ L methanol was added. Samples were vortexed and centrifuged at 9000 rpm for another 5 minutes. 100  $\mu$ L of the supernatant was removed, dried down and reconstituted in 300  $\mu$ L 70/30 0.1% formic acid/acetonitrile and injected into the HPLC.

## 3.6.7 Simulating Infant Daily Dose

Measured breast milk concentrations at a maternal dose of 20 mg/day ESC (the highest dose indicated for depression in the product monograph) was used along with feeding-related parameters from the literature (**table 3-3**) to stochastically simulate the infant daily doses in a large population of infants. A daily dose of ESC was estimated by multiplying the randomly-generated parameters: volume of milk (mL/feed) and frequency of feeds (feeds/day) based on the previous studies <sup>204,205</sup>, and milk ESC concentration (ng/mL) measured in the present study. This result was then weight-adjusted (divided by kg) to generate an infant dose in mg/kg/day (equation 3-1). The simulation was further adapted so that frequency of feeds was dependent on the volume of the feed. If the volume of feed was greater than the mean (76 mL/feed), a frequency was selected that was less than the mean (11 feeds/day) and vice versa to avoid unrealistic outliers.

Parameter	Mean	SD
Infant Weight (kg)	5.43	1.3
Volume of Milk per Feed (mL/feed)	76.0	12.6
Frequency of Feeds (feeds/day)	11	3
Milk [ESC] at 20 mg dose (ng/mL)	49.8	17.5

**Table 3-3.** Feeding-related parameters used to generate the infant daily dose (data will be show in ESC results section)<sup>42,204</sup>

Infant Dose 
$$(mg/kg/day) = \frac{volume \ of \ milk \ (mL) \times frequency \left(\frac{feeds}{day}\right) \times milk \ concentration \ (\frac{mg}{mL})}{weight \ (kg)}$$

**Equation 3-1**. The equation used to generate the total infant daily dose based on the above literature values and variation.

# 3.6.8 PBPK Model Development and Simulation

An infant PBPK model was developed using the workflow published by Maharaj et al. (**Figure 3-5**)  $^{206}$  to simulate plasma exposure after administering daily doses of ESC via breast milk in our virtual infant model.



**Figure 3-5.** Pediatric and infant PBPK model development (with permission from Maharaj et al.  $^{206}$ ).

The first step in infant model development is to construct an adult PBPK model using data on: the physicochemical properties of ESC, adult pharmacokinetic data from the literature, and physiological data on the population of interest. The physicochemical properties of ESC used to build the model were also obtained from the literature and shown in **table 3-4**<sup>167</sup>.

Value
3.5
324.4 g/mol
1 Fluorine
9.78 (base)
35.78 g/L
80%
45%

Table 3-4. Physicochemical properties of ESC used in building the PBPK model

Tissue: plasma partition coefficients were calculated using the Rodgers and Rowland algorithm in PK-Sim® v6.3<sup>207</sup>. Physicochemical parameters of the drug were kept consistent between the adult and infant models, as drug-specific properties are not age-dependent.

To construct the initial model, we utilized data from adult studies examining the pharmacokinetics of ESC following IV administration. Simulations were performed using the data set from Sogaard et al.<sup>168</sup>. In order to fit the model and minimize the difference between the simulated and literature values<sup>168</sup>, lipophilicity (logP) of ESC was optimized to 2.85 and used in all further simulations. This allowed for the model-predicted maximum concentration ( $C_{max}$ ), half-life, volume of distribution ( $V_d$ ) and area-under-the-curve (AUC) to fit the observed values in the literature (**table 3-5**).

Parameter	Model-Predicted	Sogaard et al. <sup>168</sup>
C <sub>max</sub>	57.6 nM	$58.6 \pm 15.8 \ nM$
Half-life	30.6 h	26.6 ± 7.11 h
V <sub>d</sub>	15.5 L/kg	20 L/kg
AUC	1130 nmol·h/L	1102 nmol·h/L

Table 3-5 Model-predicted values vs. observed values after IV optimization

Next, the pharmacokinetics following oral administration of ESC were examined. The drugspecific parameters that were optimized in the IV model simulation remained constant, except those pertaining to oral absorption. ESC solubility was set at the experimental value from Choudary et al.<sup>208</sup>, with the optimal shape followed a Weibull function with a 50% dissolution time of 75 min. Intestinal permeability was calculated using PK-Sim® to be 7.22 x 10<sup>-5</sup> cm/min. The observed plasma concentrations after oral administration from Malling et al.<sup>209</sup> were compared to oral administration simulations for a population of 1000 healthy adults to visually optimize the dissolution function according to  $C_{max}$  and  $T_{max}$ . **Figure 3-6**. shows a comparison of the model-fitted oral simulation to the observed dataset from Malling et al.<sup>209</sup>.



**Figure 3-6.** Comparison of the model-fitted oral simulation (A: linear; B: semi-log) to the experimental dataset from Malling et al. for healthy adults that was used for model building. (Figure prepared by Dr. Paul Malik using MATLAB)

### 3.6.9 PBPK Model Evaluation

As shown in **table 3-6**. eight adult human PK datasets from the 5 published studies<sup>168,210–213</sup> were used to evaluate the predictive accuracy of the adult PBPK model for plasma AUC<sub>0- $\infty$ </sub>. The two studies that were used in model development are included in grey (**table 3-6**). Populations in the trials were well-differentiated by age, sex, ethnicity, height, weight and the doses of ESC received. For each of the eight datasets, a virtual population of 1000 individuals was created to match the population in the experimental trial. Plasma concentration-time profiles were simulated for each individual in the population, and a plot of the observed vs. model-predicted values was generated to assess model accuracy. Model accuracy was further assessed by using a bootstrapping technique to determine if the observed mean plasma AUC<sub>0- $\infty$ </sub> fell within a 95% confidence interval of the simulated means from our virtual populations (**Figure 3-7**).

Trial	Dose	Ν	Age (years)	Sex (% male)	Ethnicity
Sogaard et al. (2)	10 mg i.v.	8	18-45	100%	European
Malling et al. (3)	20 mg p.o.	16	18-45	50%	European
Periclou et al. (4)	10 mg p.o.	12	18-35	50%	American
Periclou et al. (4)	10 mg p.o.	11	12-17	50%	American
Munoz et al. (5)	20 mg p.o.	20	20-28	50%	Columbian
Sogaard et al. (2)	10 mg p.o. (SS)	17	18-45	50%	European
Sogaard et al. (2)	20 mg p.o.	24	18-45	100%	European
Sogaard et al. (2)	30 mg p.o. (SS)	16	18-45	50%	European
Gutierrez et al. (6)	10 mg p.o. (SS)	18	18-35	50%	American
Areberg et al. (7)	20 mg p.o.	8	51-67	75%	European

Table 3-6 Adult pharmacokinetic data used for PBPK model development and evaluation

SS = steady state



**Figure 3-7.** 95% confidence intervals generated by the model (error bars) and mean data from the literature (table 3-6) in red circles. (Figure prepared by Dr. Paul Malik).

### 3.6.10 Final Infant PBPK Model

Once the model was evaluated, physiology and anatomy were adapted to represent infant parameters according to the knowledge base in PK-Sim®. Parameters such as body weight, height, organ weights, blood flows, cardiac output, total body water, and lipid and protein concentrations were scaled by established age-dependent algorithms<sup>214,215</sup>. The age-dependent activities of CYP3A4, CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 enzymes and their inter-individual variability within infant populations were based on the default ontogeny functions in PK-Sim®. Drug-

specific physicochemical properties (molecular weight, lipophilicity, etc.) did not change between the adult model and the infant model adaptation.

It was estimated that 10% of ESC clearance is renal glomerular filtration, based on the percent unchanged in urine and oral bioavailabity, with remaining clearance attributed to metabolism by CYP3A4, CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 enzymes in the liver and intestines according to the relative contributions defined by von Moltke et al. <sup>167,168,216</sup>. The relative expressions of CYP enzymes in each tissue were obtained from the GENEDB/Zanger database which was based on RT-PCR measurements <sup>217</sup>. Total hepatic clearance in PK-SIM was 608 µmol·mL/min, and the default values in PK-Sim, with default intrinsic clearance and expression values as follows, CYP3A4: 49 mL/min and 4.3 µM; CYP2D6: 426 mL/min and 0.40 µM; CYP2C19: 296 mL/min and 0.76µM<sup>216</sup>. The variability was also considered for each enzyme, with the following CV %: CYP3A4: 125%; CYP2D6: 35%; CYP2C19: 100%<sup>218</sup>.

#### 3.6.11 Simulating Infant Plasma Concentrations

A virtual population of 1600 term infants was generated that consisted of the following age groups (100 infants per group): each of the first 4 weeks of life, and each of the subsequent 12 months of life. Shorter intervals between age groups were selected for the neonatal period to ensure that the rapid growth and maturation that occur in early life were appropriately investigated. Simulation of plasma ESC levels in the virtual infant population was performed by stochastically assigning each infant a single dose of the infant daily doses calculated above. In this simulation, we assumed no gestational ESC exposure. We then predicted plasma AUC<sub>0- $\infty$ </sub> of each infant after the single dose. Approximation of the infant daily dose as a single dose, instead of divided doses, is acceptable because the desired output is the steady-state average plasma concentration (C<sub>av,ss plasma</sub>), which is unchanged whether the dose is divided or not as long as dose per time is the same. C<sub>av,ss plasma</sub> is calculated by dividing "AUC during a dosing interval at steady state, we calculated C<sub>av,ss</sub> as follows:

$$C_{av,ss} = AUC_{0-\infty} / 24 h$$

Finally, to evaluate the infant model, the model-predicted  $C_{av,ss}$  in infants were compared to those from the study by Rampono et al. who had examined infant ESC plasma concentrations following breastfeeding<sup>171</sup>.

#### 3.6.12 Statistical Analysis

Comparison between foremilk and hind milk was accomplished by a paired student's t-test (twotailed). Differences of P < 0.05 were considered to be statistically significant. To compare the influence of pre-, post- or between-feeds on milk concentrations, a one-way ANOVA was conducted. To examine the significance of the correlation between dose and milk concentrations, Pearson's r was calculated; p<0.05 was considered to be significant.

## 3.7 Infliximab

### 3.7.1 Study Population

Five women taking IFX for Crohn's Disease or Ulcerative Colitis provided consent and enrolled in the DLAC Study.

### 3.7.2 Materials

Capture (HCA212) and detection (HCA213P) anti-IFX antibodies for free IFX, HISPEC diluent, and ELISA BSA were purchased from Bio-Rad Laboratories Inc. Quantablu and MaxiSorp 96-well plates were purchased from ThermoFisher Scientific and Tween®20 were purchased from Sigma Aldrich. IFX (10 mg/mL) was acquired from the Hospital for Sick Children Pharmacy.

#### 3.7.3 Preparation of Standards

Confirmed drug-free milk was donated by healthy donors to the DLAC study. To prepare assay calibrators and QC, 1 mL of milk was aliquoted into 1.5 mL Eppendorf tubes and centrifuged at 2500 x g at 4°C for 10 min in order to separate the lipid and aqueous phases of milk. The milk lipid layer congealed and was removed using a transfer pipette, then discarded. The aqueous phase of milk was obtained for preparation of assay calibrators and QC. Two intermediate IFX stocks (50  $\mu$ g/mL and 1000 ng/mL) were prepared in water. A calibration curve was prepared by spiking the intermediate stocks into milk to prepare a high and low level. Proportionate dilutions of high and low control pools were used to prepare the following concentrations of standards: 5, 66.25, 127.5, 187.5, 250 ng/mL. QC stocks were prepared by diluting the high and low stocks to 37.5 (low), 150 (medium) and 225 (high) ng/mL. Standards were stored at 4°C prepared fresh every two months.

### 3.7.4 Preparation of Patient Samples

Upon arrival to the lab (pre-analytical procedures discussed in detail in section 3.4), patient samples were immediately aliquoted into 1.5 mL Eppendorf tubes and frozen at -80°C until they were analyzed. Samples remained in the 35 mL collection containers and not aliquoted if they arrived un-thawed and were only thawed and aliquoted prior to sample analysis. Patient samples were prepared using a similar method to standard preparation; samples were centrifuged at 2500 x g at 4°C for 10 min and the aqueous phase of milk included in the analytical protocol.

## 3.7.5 Analytical Methods

The experimental protocol was carried out as per Bio-Rad Laboratories Inc. instructions. The capture antibody (HCA212) was prepared in PBS at 1  $\mu$ g/mL and 100  $\mu$ L was aliquoted into the required number of wells and incubated overnight at 4°C. The wells were washed 5 times with PBS with 0.1% Tween®20. Antibody binding was blocked 200  $\mu$ L 5% BSA and allowed to incubate for 1 hour at room temperature, followed by washing 5 times with PBST. Next, 100  $\mu$ L each of calibrator, quality control and patient sample were run in duplicate (unless otherwise

stated) and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature. This was followed by another plate washing with PBST before the addition of 100  $\mu$ L HRP-conjugated detection antibody (2  $\mu$ g/mL). Following a 1 hour incubation at room temperature, wells were washed 10 times and 100  $\mu$ L QuantaBlu (substrate + peroxide solution) was added. Fluorescence was measured after 30 minutes at 325 and 420 nm.

## 3.7.6 Assay Performance

The assay performance characteristics were analyzed in accordance with CLSI guidelines. Performance studies were determined using spiked breast milk controls and standards. Withinday precision was assessed by running 20 replicates of each low, medium and high QC milk samples and calculating the coefficient of variation for each level. Between-day precision was calculated using the same method; however, CVs were calculated from each QC level following 8 runs. (LoQ) was carried out by serially diluting the low calibrator into the aqueous phase of blank milk. Samples were run in 5 replicates and the concentration yielding a 20% coefficient of variation (CV) was determined as the LoQ. Reproducibility of the standard curve and the analytical measuring range (AMR) were assessed by analyzing linear regression of 8 standard curves (5, 66.25, 127.5, 187.5, 250 ng/mL) from 8 different runs on 8 separate days. Standard curve reproducibility and AMR were defined where the regression line deviated from the mean at CVs of less than 10%, with  $R^2 > 0.98$ . The run was rejected, and patient samples repeated if the QC failed to yield the expected value.
# Chapter 4 Methotrexate

# 4 Methotrexate Chapter Outline

In Chapter 4, the results from the methotrexate (MTX) project are discussed. The results from the LC-MS/MS method validation study are first described, followed by a discussion of the outcomes from the DLAC and animal studies. Finally, the chapter ends with a summary of the results. Insights and implications on MTX safety during lactation are critically discussed in the discussion chapter (chapter 7).

# 4.1 LC-MS/MS Method Validation

### 4.1.1 Chromatography

Various chromatographic conditions were explored in order to achieve appropriate separation of MTX (with and without internal standard, d3) and metabolite, 7-hydroxymethotrexate (7OH-MTX). A chromatogram obtained from analysis of a milk calibrator are shown in **figure 4-1**. Retention times were as follows for MTX, 7OH-MTX and MTX-d3, respectively: 3.77 min, 3.91 min and 3.77 min.



**Figure 4-1**. Chromatographic separation of MTX (blue peak), 7OH-MTX (grey peak) and MTXd3 (red peak).

### 4.1.2 Precision

The total precision for both MTX and 7OH-MTX were calculated using QC samples with expected concentrations of 1, 8, and 16 ng/mL and is shown in **table 4-1**. Acceptance criteria were established as CVs  $\leq$ 15%, as per the CLSI Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry Methods; Approved Guideline C62-A<sup>203</sup>. Within-day precision was calculated by running 20 replicates of each level and calculating the % CV for each. The CVs for low, medium and high QCs were: 6.9%, 2.9% and 3.4%, respectively for MTX; and 8.7%, 2.6% and 5.9%, respectively for 7OH-MTX. Between-day precision was assessed across 12 runs over 12 months. The CVs for between-day precision were: 12.2%, 3.6% and 4.6%, respectively for MTX; and 12.3%, 8.7% and 9.2%, respectively for 7OH-MTX. Therefore, the CVs for both analytes at each QC level fell well below our stated cut-off of 15% and were considered to be acceptable in our validation criteria.

	Within-day			Between-day			
	МТХ				МТХ		
Level	Low	Med	High	Low	Med	High	
(ng/mL)	1.0	8.0	16.0	1.0	8.0	16.0	
Ν	20	20	20	12	12	12	
Mean	0.8	8.0	18.4	0.9	7.8	16.9	
SD	0.1	0.2	0.7	0.1	0.3	0.8	
CV (%)	12.5	2.5	3.8	11.1	3.8	4.7	
	70H-MTX			7	OH-MTX		
Level	Low	Med	High	Low	Med	High	
(ng/mL)	1.0	8.0	16.0	1.0	8.0	16.0	
N	20	20	20	12	12	12	
Mean	1.0	8.1	18.6	1.1	7.9	17.3	
SD	0.1	0.2	1.1	0.2	0.6	1.7	
CV (%)	10.0	2.5	5.9	18.2	7.6	9.8	

Table 4-1. LC-MS/MS assay precision: low (1 ng/mL), Med (8 ng/mL), High (16 ng/mL)

### 4.1.3 Linearity

Linearity was determined by running 7 equidistant sample pools in triplicate and comparing the mean value against the expected concentration. Based on the plotted expected versus observed concentrations shown in **figure 4-2A** and **4-2B**, the method was linear over the range of 0.5-25 ng/mL (slope: 0.97, intercept: 0.05,  $R^2$  0.99) for MTX. For 7OH-MTX, the method was linear over the same range as MTX (slope: 1.18, intercept: 0.18,  $R^2$  0.99).



**Figure 4-2**. Linearity plots of (A) MTX and (B) 7OH-MTX. Open circles represent the mean from 3 replicates, error bars represent the standard deviation.

### 4.1.4 Limit of Quantification (LoQ)

Based on previous reports from Johns et al.<sup>156</sup> and Thorne et al.<sup>157</sup>, we anticipated milk concentrations to be in the low ng/mL range; thus, requiring an LC-MS/MS with additional

sensitivity to be developed and validated. In order to validate the LoQ for this method, the precision approach was used. A low standard (6.25 ng/mL) was diluted in blank milk to achieve concentrations of 0.78, 0.39, 0.20 and 0.1 ng/mL. Samples were run in 5 replicates and CVs were calculated as shown in **table 4-2** for MTX and 4-X for 7OH-MTX. The concentration that yielded a CV < 20% was 0.1 ng/mL for MTX and 7OH-MTX and was defined as the functional LoQ for this method. The chromatogram of MTX at the LoQ is shown in **figure 4-3**.

		МТХ			70Н-МТХ	
Expected Concentration (ng/mL)	Mean	SD	% CV	Mean	SD	% CV
0.10	0.11	0.02	18.1	0.83	0.04	4.8
0.20	0.25	0.02	8.0	1.00	0.05	5.0
0.39	0.48	0.02	4.2	1.35	0.23	17.0
0.78	0.97	0.03	3.1	1.70	0.19	11.2
6.25	6.35	0.21	3.3	5.45	0.19	3.5

Table 4-2. The calculated CVs used to determine the LoQ of MTX



Figure 4-3. Chromatogram of MTX at the LoQ (shaded).

### 4.1.5 Carryover

Due to the fact that our LC-MS/MS method was extremely sensitive, determining carryover was essential for ensuring accurate results. To examine the extent of carryover, two approaches were used. First, column retention was assessed by injecting a high calibrator, followed by three

subsequent blank samples. There was no peak or any indication of analyte retention on the column noted in the first blank as shown in **Figure 4-4A** (high calibrator) and **4-4B** (blank).



**Figure 4-4**. (A) Injection of high calibrator and (B) subsequent injection of blank milk indicates no notable carryover in the LC-MS/MS method

The next approach utilized the equation shown in **table 4-3** following 4 injections of the high calibrator and 4 subsequent injections of the low calibrator. As seen in **table 4-3** below, carryover was 0.3%. Overall, there was no remarkable carryover of any metabolites in our LC-MS/MS method.

Ian	<b>ι -</b> -5. C	all yover calculation	
		Expected	Calculated
Level		Concentration	Concentration
High	a1	25 ng/mL	24.1
High	a2	25 ng/mL	24.0
High	a3	25 ng/mL	25.3
High	a4	25 ng/mL	24.2
Low	b1	0.78 ng/mL	0.86
Low	b2	0.78 ng/mL	0.89
Low	b3	0.78 ng/mL	0.89
Low	b4	0.78 ng/mL	0.87
		% Carry Over	0.26

Table 4-3. Carryover calculation

### 4.1.6 Ion Suppression

The extent of ion suppression at MTX, MTX-d3 and 7OH-MTX retention times was determined. Blank human milk and blank mouse milk were extracted and injected into the instrument to follow the final chromatographic conditions, while an equimolar mixture of all analytes was directly infused into the mass spectrometer. Although ion suppression was significant at various retention times, **figures 4-5** and **4-6** show a total ion chromatogram (TIC) indicating no noteworthy interference with ionization of any MTX analytes in human milk and mouse milk, respectively.



**Figure 4-5**. TIC ion suppression study in human milk. The arrows denote MTX (solid line) and 7OH-MTX (dashed line) elution times, signifying no ion suppression.



**Figure 4-6.** TIC ion suppression study in mouse milk. The arrows denote MTX (solid line) and 7OH-MTX (dashed line) elution times, signifying no ion suppression.

### 4.1.7 Method Comparison

Comparison of the LC-MS/MS assay with the Abbott ARCHITECT chemiluminescent assay was performed. For the comparison, the spiked milk samples were run in singleton on the LC-

MS/MS and plotted against to the previously reported clinical laboratory data from the Abbott assay. The LC-MS/MS method compared very well and yielded an  $r^2$  of 0.99. (slope: 0.97, intercept: 0.08) between the two methods (**figure 4-7**). To further asses the agreement between methods, a plot graphing the absolute difference between the LC-MS/MS method (y-axis) and the Abbott ARCHITECT method (x-axis) is shown in **figure 4-8**. The maximum difference in absolute values was 3.34 ng/mL (mean:  $0.19 \pm 0.87$  ng/mL) (**figure 4-8**). **Figure 4-9** displays the percent difference between the two values obtained by both methods. The majority of samples did not exceed a different of 10% between the two analytical methods, meeting our validation cut-off criteria and further supporting that our LC-MS/MS method was comparable with a clinically validated test.



**Figure 4-7**. Method comparison plot comparing the Abbott Architect immunoassay (x-axis) to the LC-MS/MS method (y-axis) (n=36)

#### **Bias Plot: Absolute Difference**



**Figure 4-8**. Bias plot showing the absolute difference between the Abbott Architect and LC-MS/MS methods (n=36)





Abbott Architect 1:10 Dilution [MTX] (ng/mL)

**Figure 4-9.** Bias Plot showing the percent difference between the Abbott Architect and LC-MS/MS methods (n=36)

# 4.2 Patient Characteristics

Two participants receiving low-dose MTX therapy for rheumatoid arthritis (RA) were recruited as part of the DLAC study at SickKids Hospital. Both patients received a subcutaneous (SC) dose of 25 mg weekly. Other patient characteristics including age, weight, and concomitant medications are shown in **table 4-5**.

	Patient 1	Patient 2
Dose	25 mg weekly	25 mg weekly
Route	SC	SC
Age (years)	37	32
Weight (kg)	59	-
Indication	RA	RA
Concomitant	Vitamin B <sub>12</sub> , folic acid	Bupropion, fluoxetine, prednisone, folic
Medication	(2 days after MTX administration)	acid, ferrous sulfate, docusate sodium,
		hydroxidine, multivitamins

Table 4-5. Characteristics of patients involved in the DLAC study

# 4.3 Measurement of MTX and 7OH-MTX in Human Breast Milk

**Figure 4-10** shows the time concentration profile of MTX in milk from the two women included in the study. The data shown for patient 1 represents the average MTX milk concentration between the foremilk and the hindmilk, while the profile from patient 2 represents the concentration of milk from an emptied breast, which corresponds to the entirety of a single feed. Quantifiable concentrations of MTX above the LoQ of 0.1 ng/mL were measured in 13 of 16 milk samples collected (range: 0.2 ng/mL - 2 ng/mL; mean= 0.89 ng/mL).



**Figure 4-10.** Time-concentration curve of MTX in human breast milk. Patient 1 (circles, dashed line) received a dose of 25 mg SC weekly. Patient 2 (squares: dose 1; triangles: dose 2) also received a dose of 25 mg SC weekly.

The metabolite, 7OH-MTX, was quantifiable only in the foremilk of patient 1, but not detectable in any time points in patient 2, which is not surprising given that patient 2 had just initiated her treatment. The peak concentration of 7OH-MTX was 0.88 ng/mL, observed at 24 hours post-MTX dose (**figure 4-11**).



**Figure 4-11.** Time-concentration curve of MTX and metabolite, mean foremilk and hindmilk 70H-MTX in human breast milk from patient 1. 70H-MTX was undetectable in patient 2.

Milk composition varies across a feed; the lipid content is lower in the foremilk (beginning of feed) and higher in the hindmilk (end of feed). Based on the physicochemical properties of the drug, the concentration could theoretically vary throughout an individual feed<sup>37,93</sup>. We measured the concentration of MTX (**figure 4-12A**) and 7OH-MTX (**figure 4-12B**) in both foremilk and hindmilk. **Figure 4-12A** shows that measurable differences were seen in MTX concentrations between the foremilk and hindmilk; however, the difference was not statistically significant. **Figure 4-12B** displays the statistically significant differences (P <0.05) between the foremilk and hindmilk and hindmilk concentrations of 7OH-MTX.



**Figure 4-12.** Plots of MTX (A) and 7OH-MTX (B) in foremilk and hindmilk from patient 1. 7OH-MTX was not detectable in hindmilk after the 1-hour sampling time-point. Bars represent the mean  $\pm$  SD. Paired t-test; P <0.05 was considered to be significant.

### 4.4 Increase in Measureable MTX following Trienzyme Digestion

We wanted to determine whether there is a pool of uncharacterized MTX in milk, existing in the polyglutamated form, that was previously not able to be measured by standard analysis. MTX and folates share a number of enzymatic targets and transporters<sup>219</sup>. There is evidence showing a large proportion of total folates in milk exist in the polyglutamate form. Measurable folate content was significantly increased following treatment with folate conjugase and even further increased following treatment with  $\alpha$ -amylase, protease and conjugase (tri-enzyme digest)<sup>220</sup>. Based on the structural similarity of MTX and folates, a tri-enzyme digest was performed on the milk samples provided by patient 1, in order to determine if there was an increase in measurable

MTX by our LC-MS/MS method (measures monoglutamate MTX only). Following treatment with a tri-enzyme digest, an increase in measurable MTX was noted (**Figure 4-13**). This increase became apparent at 24 h post dose and showed a maximum of 1.7 ng/mL (0.82 ng/mL without digest) at 96 hours post-dose.



**Figure 4-13.** Time-concentration curve of MTX milk concentrations following a trienzymatic digest using protease,  $\alpha$ -amylase and conjugase (triangles, solid line) and without digest (open circles, dotted line) in patient 1.

### 4.5 Time-Concentration Curve of MTX in Mouse Milk

To determine peak sampling time for MTX measurement in mouse milk, mice were administered MTX at time zero and milk was collected 30, 60 and 120 minutes post-injection. The peak concentration was noted 60 minutes post-dose (**Figure 4-14**). This 60-minute collection time-point was used in all subsequent mouse experiments.



Figure 4-14. Time-concentration profile of MTX in mouse milk. Mean ±SD, n=3

# 4.6 Pharmacokinetics of MTX in Milk and Plasma of Bcrp-/- and FVB Mice

To confirm the involvement of Bcrp in mediating systemic and mammary clearance of MTX, we determined the plasma and milk concentrations of MTX in lactating wild-type FVB and Bcrp -/- knockout mice (**Figure 4-15**). Consistent with previous findings in Bcrp -/- mice <sup>149,221</sup>, the plasma concentration of MTX (mean  $\pm$  SD) at 60 min post IP injection in Bcrp -/- mice was 275.4  $\pm$  42 ng/mL, which was 1.5-fold higher (P<0.01) than those in wild-type mice (181.7  $\pm$  42 ng/mL), as seen in **figure 4-15**.



**Figure 4-15.** Plasma MTX concentrations in wild-type (n=5) or Bcrp -/- (n=6) mice. Data represent the mean  $\pm$  SD. P < 0.05 was considered to be significant (two-tailed unpaired t-test).

### 4.7 Determining the Role of Bcrp in Transporting MTX into Milk

To explore the involvement of Bcrp in secreting MTX across the mammary epithelium, milk was collected from the same lactating mice immediately prior to plasma collection and 60 minutes following MTX administration. Despite higher plasma MTX concentrations, Bcrp -/- mice showed 1.7-fold lower MTX concentrations in milk ( $7.8 \pm 2 \text{ ng/mL}$ ) than wild-type ( $13.8 \pm 6 \text{ ng/mL}$ ), as seen in **figure 4-16** (P<0.05).



**Figure 4-16.** Milk MTX concentrations in wild-type (n=5) or Bcrp -/- (n=6) mice. Data represent the mean  $\pm$  SD. P < 0.05 was considered to be significant (two-tailed unpaired t-test).

The milk-to-plasma (M/P) ratio was significantly lower (2.9-fold; P <0.05) in the Bcrp-/- mice  $(0.03 \pm 0.008)$  than in the wild-type  $(0.08 \pm 0.05)$ , as shown in **figure 4-17**. These findings illustrate a significant role of Bcrp in both MTX systemic clearance and mammary secretion. Although M/P ratio of MTX is already low likely due to its anionic ionization characteristics, it is noteworthy that lack of mammary Bcrp results in further reduction of MTX secretion into milk, further highlighting the role of Bcrp in excreting MTX into milk.



**Figure 4-17.** Milk-to-plasma ratio between wild-type (n=5)and Bcrp -/- (n=6) mice. P < 0.05 was considered to be significant (two-tailed unpaired t-test)

### 4.8 MTX-Nutrient Interaction Study

To investigate the effects of the co-administration of a Bcrp substrate or inhibitor on MTX disposition in plasma and milk, wild-type FVB mice were treated with Bcrp inhibitors (ko143 or genistein) or substrates (riboflavin or FMN) 30 minutes prior to MTX administration. Milk and plasma were collected 60 minutes following MTX dosing. Following administration of 20 mg/kg riboflavin or 100 mg/kg FMN, the concentration of MTX in milk significantly decreased by 69% and 55% (4.3 ng/mL  $\pm$  2.1 and 6.2 ng/mL  $\pm$  3.4), respectively, compared to wild-type mice (**Figure 4-18**). This decrease in milk MTX concentrations was similar to, or more than the reduction of MTX in milk of Bcrp -/- mice (**Figure 4-16**); however, in contrast to the findings in plasma MTX levels in these mice, pre-treatment with of riboflavin or FMN did not significantly differ from MTX plasma concentrations in wild-type mice (riboflavin: 126.9  $\pm$  59 ng/mL and

FMN:  $210 \pm 37$  ng/mL vs. control:  $181.7 \pm 42.3$  ng/mL) (figure 4-19), despite the noted decrease in milk concentrations in the same mice (figure 4-20). The milk-to-plasma ratio in the groups treated with riboflavin or FMN were greater than 2.5-fold lower than the mice treated with MTX alone; although, this reduction in the MTX m/p ratio was not considered to be statistically significant (figure 4-20).



**Figure 4-18.** Milk MTX concentrations in wild-type mice co-administered a Bcrp substrate or inhibitor. Data represent the mean  $\pm$  SD, n = 3-5. P < 0.05 was considered to be significant (two-tailed unpaired t-test).



**Figure 4-19.** Plasma MTX concentrations in wild-type mice co-administered a Bcrp substrate or inhibitor. Data represent the mean  $\pm$  SD, n = 3-5. P < 0.05 was considered to be significant (two-tailed unpaired t-test).

Two other groups of wild-type mice were treated with the Bcrp inhibitors, ko143 (20 mg/kg) or genistein (20 mg/kg) 30 minutes before MTX injection. Milk concentrations decreased following administration of the Bcrp inhibitors, ko143 or genistein, although not significantly. Consistent with the Bcrp -/- mice, the mice treated with ko143 had significantly higher plasma concentrations ( $309.4 \pm 44 \text{ ng/mL vs. } 181.7 \pm 42.3 \text{ ng/mL}$ ; P < 0.001) compared to control. The plasma concentrations in the mice administered genistein were only slightly increased (226.8 ng/mL ± 19.3), suggesting that systemic clearance of MTX may not be affected by co-treating with genistein. The MTX m/p ratio was decreased in the mice treated with genistein and ko143-treated mice, although the study was not powered to show a significant difference, as shown in **figure 4-20** below.





# 4.9 Effects of Riboflavin Concentrations in Milk Following MTX Administration

To determine whether MTX transport across the mammary epithelium could reduce excretion of riboflavin into milk, we measured milk and plasma concentrations of riboflavin following co-administration with MTX. The same experimental protocol was followed as above; mice were treated with 20 mg/kg riboflavin 30 minutes prior to MTX (0.75 mg/kg) administration and milk and plasma collected 60 minutes later. As expected, following IP administration of riboflavin, an

increase in plasma concentrations corresponded with an increase in milk concentrations (r = 0.96); p = 0.04), as shown in **figure 4-21**.



**Figure 4-21**. Milk vs. plasma concentrations of riboflavin following administration of 20 mg/kg riboflavin and 0.75 mg/kg of MTX (n=4). P<0.05 was considered significant.

As we have demonstrated, milk concentrations of MTX significantly decrease following coadministration of riboflavin (P<0.05; **figure 4-18**), without affecting plasma concentrations of MTX. Interestingly, a significant correlation between riboflavin concentration and MTX concentration in milk was not shown, as shown in **figure 4-22** (r = -0.84; p = 0.15); however, an inverse trend was noted. Findings from these experiments will be further explored in the discussion section, Chapter 7.



**Figure 4-22.** The correlation of milk MTX and riboflavin concentrations following administration of 20 mg/kg riboflavin and 0.75 mg/kg of MTX (n=4). P<0.05 was considered significant.

### 4.10 MTX Results Summary

The aims of this project were three-fold: (1) to better understand the extent of MTX excretion into human milk and describe the potential risk to the nursing infant; (2) characterize the role of Bcrp in actively transporting MTX into mouse milk; and (3) to explore the use of high-dose riboflavin to inhibit transport of MTX into milk in mice. Based on our findings, infant exposure to MTX species through milk is relatively low, following maternal weekly immune-modulating doses (10-25 mg/week). Our mouse model revealed that Bcrp mediates MTX efflux into milk. Further, co-administration with high-dose riboflavin during lactation may reduce the transport of MTX into milk and subsequently decrease infant exposure of the drug. These interesting findings will be further explored in the discussion section.

# Chapter 5 Escitalopram

The content in this section has been accepted to The Journal of Clinical Pharmacokinetics, April 2018.

Sarah R. Delaney, Paul R. V. Malik, Cristiana Stefan, Andrea N. Edginton, David A. Colantonio, Shinya Ito. "*Predicting escitalopram exposure to breastfeeding infants: integrating analytical and in silico techniques*" [ahead of print]

# 5 Escitalopram Chapter Outline

Chapter 4 discusses the results from the escitalopram (ESC) project. First, the validation parameters from the LC-MS/MS method optimized to measure ESC and metabolite in milk are discussed. Next, the milk pharmacokinetics of ESC and metabolite are described, followed by the results from the simulation examining total infant daily dose (taking into account variability in feeding-related parameters in an infant population). The last section describes the outcomes from the physiologically-based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) modelling and explores the *in-silico* results of infant systemic exposure to ESC through breast milk.

# 5.1 LC-MS/MS Method Validation

An LC-MS/MS method was developed and optimized to measure ESC and metabolite, desmethylescitalopram (D-ESC), in human breast milk. Within-day precision, linearity and ion suppression were considered as part of our method validation study. Validation parameters were carried out in accordance with CLSI guidelines. The calibration range was 5-1000 ng/mL for both ESC and metabolite. **Figure 5-1** shows the calibration curves for both ESC (slope: 0.005, intercept: -0.006, R<sup>2</sup>: 0.99) and D-ESC (slope: 0.003, intercept: -0.005, R<sup>2</sup>: 0.99) from the run measuring the batch of patient samples. Due to the unavailability of a comparative method, no further quality assurance measures were assessed.



**Figure 5-1**. Standard curves from citalopram (escitalopram) and metabolite norcitalopram (desmethylescitalopram)

### 5.1.1 Chromatography

Chromatographic separation and detection of citalopram (racemic enantiomer of ESC), norcitalopram (racemic enantiomer of D-ESC) and their respective deuterated (d6) internal standards was achieved. **Figure 5-2A and 5-2B** show the chromatograms of citalopram and norcitalopram, respectively, from the final chromatographic method. Retention times were 3.08 minutes for ESC (and ESC-d6) and 2.87 minutes for D-ESC (and D-ESC-d6).



**Figure 5-2.** Chromatogram of (A) citalopram (racemic ESC) and (B) norcitalopram (racemic D-ESC).

### 5.1.2 Precision

To determine the assay precision, three quality control levels (5, 300 and 800 ng/mL) were run in 20 replicates. As shown in **table 5-1**, the total precision for each of the three levels were: 3.7%, 4.7% and 4.2%, respectively for low, medium and high controls for ESC. Precision for D-ESC

was 3.1%, 3.3% and 4.4%. The patient samples were run in one batch to minimize variability between runs and eliminating the need to explore between-day assay precision.

	Within-Day Precision					
		ESC			D-ESC	
Level						
(ng/mL)	Low	Med	High	Low	Med	High (800)
	(5)	(300)	(800)	(5)	(300)	
Mean	5.1	289.9	718.8	4.8	292.5	712.2
SD	0.2	13.6	30.2	0.1	9.5	31.6
CV (%)	3.9	4.7	4.2	2.1	3.2	4.4

**Table 5-1.** Total within-day precision of ESC and D-ESC (n=20).

### 5.1.3 Linearity

Linearity was assessed by running six equally spaced pools in triplicate and plotting the expected concentration versus mean observed result from the three runs. Based on linear regression analysis, the method was considered linear over the range of 5-1000 ng/mL for both ESC (slope: 1.06, intercept: 7.1, R<sup>2</sup>: 0.99) and D-ESC (slope: 1.01, intercept: 5.9, R<sup>2</sup>: 0.99), as shown in **figure 5-3A** (ESC) and **5-3B** (D-ESC) below.



**Figure 5-3.** Linearity for (A) ESC and (B) D-ESC. Points represent the mean value for each level (n=3).

#### 5.1.4 Ion Suppression

Ion suppression was assessed by injecting an extract of blank milk into the instrument and directly infusing ESC/D-ESC in methanol across the chromatographic run. No ion suppression was noted at the ESC, D-ESC or respective internal standard peak elution times.

# 5.2 Patient Characteristics

Eighteen lactating women taking ESC for various indications (e.g. depression, generalized anxiety disorder, etc.) were recruited through the DLAC study. A total of 104 milk samples were collected. All demographic information on the participants from the study are listed in **table 5-2**. All women were considered to have steady-state plasma concentration of ESC, based on inclusion criteria. Two participants were receiving co-medication with another antidepressant, bupropion. The mean participant age was 32.6 years (range: 25.7 - 40.3 years), weight was 70.8 (range 49.9 - 102 kg), and height was 1.66 meters (1.50 - 1.76 meters), with a calculated mean BMI of 25.6 (range: 19.3 - 37.5). The median daily dose of ESC was 10 mg (range 2.5 - 30 mg), representing 61% of the studied population. The mean daily weight-adjusted dose was 0.2 mg/kg (range 0.04 - 0.4 mg/kg).

	$\mathbf{Mean} \pm \mathbf{SD}$	Range
Age (years)	$32.6 \pm 4$	25.7 - 40.3
Body Weight (kg)	$70.8 \pm 12.6$	49.9 - 102
Height (m)	$1.66\pm0.08$	1.5 - 1.76
BMI (%)	$25.6\pm4.2$	19.3 – 37.5
Dose (mg)	10*	2.5 - 30
Weight-Adjusted Dose (mg/kg)	$0.2\pm0.1$	0.04 - 0.4

**Table 5-2** Characteristics of participants in the ESC DLAC Study. (n=18 women; 104 breast milk samples).

\* Median

### 5.3 Measured ESC Milk Concentrations

The pooled time-concentration profile of ESC and D-ESC for each sampling time point provided by all 18 women is shown in Figure 5-4A and 5-4B, respectively. As shown in table 5-3, the highest milk concentration of ESC in each of the dose groups (high C) was approximately equal for the 10 and 20 mg/day dosing regimens (84.3 and 84.7 ng/mL, respectively). The time to reach high C was defined as high T (hours). As anticipated, the highest milk metabolite (D-ESC) concentrations from the 20 mg/day group (37.6 ng/mL) were nearly double that of the 10 mg/day group (22.1 ng/mL). Note that high C and high T are defined on a basis of a dose group, but not each subject. The average steady-state ESC milk concentration (Cav) across the dosing interval for each patient was higher in the women receiving 20 mg daily (mean  $\pm$  SD: 49.8  $\pm$  18 ng/mL), compared to those receiving 10 mg ( $32.9 \pm 15$  ng/mL). D-ESC metabolite Cav in milk was exactly 2-fold higher in the 20 mg group  $(26.0 \pm 7 \text{ ng/mL})$  versus the 10 mg group  $(13.1 \pm 4 \text{ mg/mL})$ ng/mL). Interestingly, the women receiving 30 mg daily had 2-fold higher Cay (136.0  $\pm$  43 ng/mL) and highC milk ESC concentrations (202.2 ng/mL) compared to the women receiving 20 mg daily. Similarly, the Cav milk concentrations of D-ESC from the women receiving 30 mg/day (44.9  $\pm$  6) was nearly 2-fold higher than those receiving 20 mg daily (26.0  $\pm$  8). highC milk profiles of D-ESC were 1.5-times higher between the 20 mg group (37.6 ng/mL) and 30 mg group (57.7 ng/mL). Investigations into the kinetics of ESC and D-ESC in milk will be discussed in Chapter 7.



**Figure 5-4.** Measured concentrations of (A) ESC and (B) D-ESC in breast milk from 18 lactating women taking 2.5 - 30 mg ESC daily. The scatter plot is shown per dose group, but not per subject: 2.5 mg (X), 10 mg (squares), 20 mg (triangles), 30 mg (circles). (sample n= 104).

			ESC	
ESC Dose (mg)	N	Milk highC (ng/mL)	Milk <sub>high</sub> T (hours)	Milk C <sub>av</sub> (ng/mL)
2.5	1	13.9	12.0	$12.4 \pm 2$
10	11	84.0	2.2	$32.9 \pm 15$
20	4	84.7	8.0	$49.8 \pm 18$
30	2	202.2	8.0	$136.0\pm43$
			D-ESC	
ESC Dose (mg)	Ν	Milk <sub>high</sub> C (ng/mL)	Milk <sub>high</sub> T (hours)	Milk C <sub>av</sub> (ng/mL)
2.5	1	5.1	3.5	$4.6 \pm 0.4$
10	11	22.1	9.4	$13.1 \pm 4$
20	4	36.6	14.3	$26.0\pm8$
30	2	57.7	8.0	$44.0\pm 6$

<b>Table 5-3.</b> Observed pharmacokinetic measures	of ESC and D-ESC in breast mill
---	---------------------------------

# 5.4 Relationship Between ESC/D-ESC Milk Levels and Maternal Dose

To examine the linear relationship between dose and milk concentrations, the weight-adjusted dose was calculated for each participant and plotted against Cav and <sub>high</sub>C milk concentrations of ESC and D-ESC. **Figures 5-5A** and **5-5B** display the mean milk concentrations of ESC (A) and D-ESC (B) plotted against the weight-adjusted dose of ESC for each participant included in the study. As anticipated, there was a statistically significant correlation between weight-adjusted ESC dose and Cav milk concentrations of ESC (r: 0.69; p=0.003) or D-ESC (r: 0.93; P<0.0001) showing a linear trend between weight-adjusted dose with both parent drug and metabolite concentrations in milk.

The weight-adjusted dose and  $_{high}C$  milk concentrations of ESC and D-ESC were plotted to determine whether there is a relationship between the two parameters. Consistent with the Cav milk concentrations, there was a statistically significant relationship between milk ESC and D-ESC  $_{high}C$  and weight-adjusted dose, as shown in **figure 5-5A** and **5-5B** below. Pearson r was 0.71 (p=0.002) for ESC (**figure 5-5A**) and r: 0.92 (p<0.0001) for D-ESC (**figure 5-5B**).



Milk Cav and highC D-ESC vs. Weight-Adjusted ESC Dose



**Figure 5-5.** Relationship between (A) ESC and (B) D-ESC milk concentrations vs. weightadjusted maternal dose (mg/kg) (n=18). Blue dots, solid line (<sub>high</sub>C); red dots, dotted line (Cav)

Next, the relationship between the absolute dose (in mg), and Cav and  $_{high}C$  milk concentrations was explored. **Figure 5-6A** and **5-6B** shows the plotted dose vs. concentration of ESC and D-ESC, respectively, for both Cav and  $_{high}C$ . as seen with the maternal weight-adjusted dose, the Cav and  $_{high}C$  of ESC in milk showed a statistically significant correlation with an increase in dose for both Cav (r: 0.81; p=0.0001) and  $_{high}C$  (r: 0.84; p<0.0001) (**Figure 5-6A**). Further, the milk metabolite concentration follows a similar trend showing that an increase in dose corresponds with an increase in D-ESC Cav (r: 0.93; p<0.0001) and  $_{high}C$  (r: 0.92; p<0.0001) (**Figure 5-6B**).



**Figure 5-6.** Relationship between (A) ESC and (B) D-ESC peak milk concentrations vs. maternal dose (mg) (n=18). Blue dots, solid line ( $_{high}C$ ); red dots, dotted line (Cav)

### 5.5 Differences in Concentration Between Foremilk and Hindmilk

In order to determine whether milk composition influences levels of ESC and D-ESC in milk, we collected a total of 17 paired foremilk (beginning of feed; more aqueous) and hindmilk (end of feed; more lipid-rich) samples from 4 women and measured concentrations of parent compound and metabolite. One woman was receiving a daily dose of 20 mg daily, while the remaining 3 women were receiving 10 mg daily. **Figure 5-7A** and **5-7B** show that there was a statistically significant difference between foremilk and hindmilk concentrations for ESC and D-ESC, respectively (paired t-test, P < 0.05). Higher concentrations were measured in the hindmilk for both ESC and D-ESC.



**Figure 5-7.** The difference between foremilk and hindmilk in (A) ESC (left plot) and (B) D-ESC (right plot). Each point represents either foremilk or hindmilk. P < 0.05 was considered to be significant (n= 17 paired milk samples).

Further, the absolute difference and percent difference between the foremilk and hindmilk for each sample were plotted and shown in **figure 5-8A** and **5-8B**, respectively. The difference in absolute concentrations shown in **Figure 5-8A** did not exceed 10 ng/mL for ESC and 5 ng/mL for D-ESC (**figure 5-8A**) which converts to a percent difference generally not exceeding 30% for ESC and 20% for D-ESC (**figure 5-8B**).



**Figure 5-8.** (A) Absolute difference and (B) percent difference in concentration between hindmilk and foremilk at collection time points post-dose (N=17 from 4 women; average of 4 samples from each woman).

Despite these statistically significant differences between foremilk and hindmilk, the relative difference in concentration was 8.8% for ESC and 4.6% for D-ESC, which suggests that sampling phases have no substantial impact on infant exposure estimates.

### 5.6 Determining Sampling Time Bias

Each participant included in the study indicated whether they collected their milk before feeding their infant (pre-feed; full breast with intent to feed their infant), after feeding (post-feed; mostly emptied breast) or between feeds (not feeding their infant). **Figure 5-9** shows the distribution of concentrations ESC (**figure 5-9A**) and D-ESC (**figure 5-9B**) depending on the time of sampling specified by the participant. A one-way ANOVA was conducted to compare the influence of sampling phase on milk concentrations. There was no statistically significant difference in concentrations depending on the time or phase of sampling, further supporting that there is no sampling bias and that infant exposure estimates should not be affected.



**Figure 5-9.** (A) ESC and (B) D-ESC shows the distribution of milk sampling – pre-, post-, and between-feeds and effects of sampling phase on milk concentrations. 2.5 mg (dark triangles), 10 mg (open circles), 20 mg (dark circles), 30 mg (open triangles). One-way ANOVA P<0.05 was considered to be significant.

# 5.7 Simulation of Total Infant Daily Dose

Due to the fact that desmethylescitalopram does not have significant biological activity at the serotonin receptor, we opted to not take it into account moving forward in generating of the total infant daily dose and in our infant PBPK plasma simulation. The measured ESC concentrations

in breast milk from women taking 20 mg daily were used with infant feeding parameters from the literature to simulate the total infant daily ESC dose with applicable variability within each parameter. This dose was used because it was the maximum dose described in the product monograph for postpartum depression<sup>222</sup>.

To estimate the daily dose of ESC that an infant would consume via breast milk (whose mothers were taking 20 mg ESC daily), volume of milk (mL/feed), frequency of feeds (number of feeds per day), and milk ESC concentrations (ng/mL) were multiplied and then weight-adjusted to generate a dose in mg/kg/day. The mean and standard deviation of the weight-based doses generated were  $0.0078 \pm 0.0032$  mg/kg/day (**Figure 5-10**). The daily doses generated from this simulation was subsequently used as the "dose" to simulate the plasma AUC<sub>0-∞</sub> in the infant PBPK model (section 4.8).

The RID was calculated by dividing the generated infant dose by the mean maternal weightnormalized dose and multiplying by 100. Base on these calculations, breastfeeding infants would be exposed to a dose of ESC, equaling 2.6% of the maternal weight-adjusted dose, which falls well below the accepted limit of 10% being compatible with breastfeeding<sup>223</sup>.



**Figure 5-10**. Histogram of the simulated daily ESC doses for an infant population whose mothers were taking 20 mg ESC daily. (with permission from Delaney et al.<sup>224</sup>).

### 5.8 Infant PBPK Model Simulations

In order to understand the extent of infant plasma exposure to ESC via breast milk (using data from figure 5-10), the final infant PBPK model (model development and validation discussed in materials and methods, chapter 3) was used to simulate plasma  $AUC_{0-\infty}$  in 1600 virtual infants ranging from birth (term) to 12 months old. Virtual populations of infants were generated and the pharmacokinetic profile was predicted using the infant PBPK model in PK-Sim® after administration of the simulated total infant daily doses.

As shown in **figure 5-11**, the resulting mean and range of infant  $AUC_{0-\infty}$  from the simulation was 12.0 (range: 2.7 – 71.2) ng·h/mL. The mean predicted infant  $AUC_{0-\infty}$  represents 1.7% of the mean adult  $AUC_{0-\infty}$  after a dose administration of 20 mg. Interestingly, infant exposure did not vary widely between age groups across the first 12 months of life.



**Figure 5-11.** Simulated plasma AUC<sub>0- $\infty$ </sub> for infants birth – 12 months (n=1600). Box edges mark the first and third quartile and contain the median; bars illustrate the minimum and maximum. Red dashed line represents the mean maternal AUC<sub>0- $\infty$ </sub>. (with permission from Delaney et al.<sup>224</sup>)

The average plasma concentrations at steady state were calculated for the infant populations and compared to the plasma concentrations measured in 5 infants by Rampono et al.<sup>171</sup>. ESC plasma

concentrations were undetectable in four breastfeeding infants and 3 ng/mL in one breastfeeding infant whose mothers were taking 10 - 20mg ESC daily<sup>171</sup>. The mean and range of the modelpredicted steady state average plasma concentrations (C<sub>av,ss</sub>) in infants whose mothers were taking 20 mg ESC daily had a mean and range of 0.5 (range: 0.1 – 3.0) ng/mL (**figure 5-12**). The predicted values from our simulation are consistent to those described by Rampono et al<sup>171</sup>; therefore, it is reasonable to assume that our *in-silico* model has good predictive accuracy.



**Figure 5-12.** Steady-state plasma concentrations for all simulated infants aged birth- 12 months. N=1600. mean and range of 0.5 [0.1 – 3.0] ng/mL.

### 5.9 ESC Results Summary

The data generated from this study helps fill in the gaps on safety and compatibility of ESC therapy during lactation and serves as a proof-of-concept approach to examine risk assessment of infants exposed to other drugs through breast milk. Using an analytical method optimized for quantification of ESC in breast milk, we were able to confidently measure ESC concentrations in the milk of 18 women taking 2.5 - 30 mg daily. With this data, we used PBPK modeling to simulate infant plasma concentrations following exposure to ESC via breast milk, which accounts for the unique physiology of infants. Based on the infant exposures generated, our study demonstrates that ESC use during breastfeeding should be considered safe and that the benefits of pharmacological PPD therapy can outweigh the risk of adverse events in infants. Inferences from these data will be further explored in the discussion (Chapter 7).

# Chapter 6 Infliximab

# 6 Infliximab Chapter Outline

This chapter will discuss the results from the IFX project. To date, there has been no analytical method optimized to quantitate IFX in breast milk. First, the results from the assay developed and validated to measure IFX in milk are described. IFX quantitation in human milk samples from 5 patients will be discussed and summarized to end the chapter.

### 6.1 Assay Validation Results

Common analytical methods used to measure IFX are ELISA assays optimized for quantification in serum. In a clinical setting, IFX concentrations  $< 1 \ \mu g/mL$  in serum are considered to be undetectable<sup>197</sup>. Based on previous reports in the literature, IFX levels in milk were found to be highly variable, ranging from not detectable to 300 ng/mL<sup>192,195</sup>. These data highlighted the need to develop an analytical approach sensitive enough to quantitate IFX in milk; a method more sensitive than what is currently used for plasma IFX determination. The analytical measuring range used in our assay was generated from the literature, with a calibration range from 5-250 ng/mL. Here, the method precision, LoQ, and linearity/reproducibility of the standard curve were assessed for IFX specifically in human milk. Effort was made to follow CLSI guidelines for each aspect of validation; however, inadequate resources contributed to the lack agreement with the criteria.

### 6.1.1 Precision

As shown in **table 6-1**, total precision for IFX was determined using low (37.5 ng/mL), medium (150 ng/mL), and high (225 ng/mL) QC samples. Acceptance criteria were established as CVs  $\leq 20\%^{225}$ . Within-day precision was calculated by running 12 replicates of each low, medium, and high QC level and determining the CV and were: 2.9%, 8.3% and 5.4%, respectively.
The stability of reconstituted, refrigerated IFX has been assessed for up to 6 weeks<sup>226</sup>; therefore, a fresh QC lot was prepared within that timeframe. In order to account for inter-lot imprecision, two different QC preparations were also included in the calculation for between day imprecision. CVs were 18.9%, 10.1% and 14.0% for low, medium and high QC levels, respectively.

	Within-Day (n=12)			Between-Day (n=8, 2 lots)		
Level	Low	Med	High	Low	Med	High
Mean	41.3	134.0	181.6	33.8	144.9	212.2
SD	1.2	11.2	9.7	6.4	14.6	29.7
CV (%)	2.9	8.4	5.3	18.9	10.1	14.0

**Table 6-1** Within- and between-run precision of IFX quantitation. Quality control levels: low (37.5 ng/mL), medium (150 ng/mL), and high (225 ng/mL).

#### 6.1.2 Limit of Quantification (LoQ)

To date, there have been several attempts to measure IFX in breast milk. Many groups reported undetectable levels of infliximab in breast milk, while others reported concentrations in the range of  $10 - 300 \text{ ng/mL}^{190-195}$ . Until this study, analytical methods optimized for quantification of IFX in serum have been used to measure milk concentrations in the literature. These assays utilized an analytical measuring range approximately 100-fold higher than the expected concentrations in breast milk. In order to get a comprehensive understanding of infant exposure across the dosing interval, it was important to establish a reliable assay LoQ. A low standard 25 ng/mL was serially diluted in two different batches blank milk to achieve the concentrations 12.5, 6.3, 5, 3.1, 2.5, 1.5, 1.25 and 0.63 ng/mL. Samples were run in 5 replicates and the CVs were calculated as shown in **table 6-2**. The functional LoQ was defined as the concentration that yielded a CV of < 20%. The lowest dilution (0.63 ng/mL) that we examined yielded a CV of 7.7% and was defined as the LoQ. We did not feel the need to further dilute and explore the reproducibility at lower concentrations, as each of the 106 patient samples yielded concentrations greater than our lowest dilution.

Even a stad (n s/m I)	Maagumad	SD	0/CV
Expected (ng/mL)	Measured	5D	70C V
25	18.7	0.6	3.2
12.5	6.6	0.2	3.0
6.25	4.7	0.3	6.4
5	3.4	0.3	8.2
3.125	3.8	0.1	2.6
2.5	2.1	0.2	9.5
1.5	3.4	0.04	1.1
1.25	1.7	0.2	11.8
0.625	1.3	0.1	7.7

**Table 6-2**. Limit of quantification of IFX measurement in breast milk

### 6.1.3 Reproducibility of the Standard Curve and Analytical Measuring Range

A 5-point standard curve was produced (5, 66.25, 127.5, 187.5, 250 ng/mL) by spiking IFX into pooled human milk samples. The analytical measuring range was defined by linear regression analysis of 8 standard curves from 8 different runs on 8 separate days. **Figure 6-1** displays the expected vs. observed concentrations and their respective linear regression across each run. Quantification of IFX was linear from 5-250 ng/mL (mean  $R^2$ = 0.999; slope= 0.99 ± 2.5; y-intercept = 0.69 ± 1.4).



Expected IFX Concentration (ng/mL)

**Figure 6-1**. Reproducibility of standard curves used to quantitate IFX in breast milk. mean  $R^2 = 0.999$ ; slope=  $0.99 \pm 2.5$ ; y-intercept =  $0.69 \pm 1.4$ ).

### 6.2 Patient Characteristics

A total of 5 participants receiving IFX therapy were recruited as part of the DLAC Study. IFX concentrations were determined in a total of 106 breast milk samples (19-22 samples per patient) using an in-house validated ELISA assay. Milk was collected prior to infusion and up until 26-36 days post-dose in order to assess infant exposure as comprehensively as possible across the dosing interval.

All demographic information is included in **table 6-3**. Women received a dose of 300-400 mg every 8 weeks for maintenance therapy. Each participant disclosed taking concomitant medication or supplements while they collected milk. Three of the women reported other diagnoses including: asthma, depression, anxiety and Reynaud's. In all 5 cases, breast milk samples were collected prior to receiving IFX infusions (trough concentrations). Interestingly, there was high variability of trough concentrations in breast milk, ranging from 6 – 42.6 ng/mL. The peak milk concentrations were noted between 1-4 days post-infusion and ranged from 103.3-312.2 ng/mL. The mean milk concentrations across the sample collection interval range between 54.7 – 106.1 ng/mL. Inferences on the variability in milk concentrations will be discussed in Chapter 7: Discussion.

	Patient 1	Patient 2	Patient 3	Patient 4	Patient 5
Patient Diagnosis	Colitis	Crohn's and	Crohn's	Crohn's	Crohn's
-		Colitis			
Dose (mg)	400	300	400	400	300
Frequency	q8 weeks	q8 weeks	q8 weeks	q8 weeks	q8 weeks
Other Diagnoses			Asthma,	Anxiety	Reynaud's
			depression		Syndrome
Co-medication	Imuran (75	Prenatal	Citalopram	Zoloft,	Prenatal
	mg/day),	vitamins	(20mg/day),	Pregvit,	vitamins,
	Materna,		multivitamins,	calcium,	Nyaderm
	vitamin D,		probiotics,	vitamin D	
	fish oil		vitamin D		
Age (years)	31	32	34	34	37
Race	Caucasian	Caucasian	Caucasian	Ashkenazi	Caucasian
				Jewish	
Weight (kg)	59.0	65.8	69.7	73.0	56.0
BMI	23.0	22.7	21.8	27.5	20.8
Weight-adjusted dose	6.8	4.6	5.7	5.5	5.4
(mg/kg)					
Trough Milk Concentration	7.0	6.0	3.1	42.6	11.6
(ng/mL)					
Mean Milk Concentrations	102.3	69.9	54.7	106.1	100.7
(ng/mL)					
Max Milk Concentration	283.5	129.5	103.3	223.0	312.2
(ng/mL)					
Time to peak	3	4	1	3	1
(days post-infusion)					

#### Table 6-3. Characteristics of 5 lactating women receiving IFX for IBD

# 6.3 IFX Concentrations in Breast Milk up to 36 days Post-Infusion

Each of the 5 patients recruited for this study collected a total of 19-22 samples (including trough samples) post-IFX infusion. **Figure 6-2** displays the time-concentration profile from all 106 milk samples up to 36 days post-infusion. IFX concentrations peaked between days 1 - 4 post-dose up to the final collection time points (days 26-36 post-infusion). Interestingly, the peak milk concentration (312.2 ng/mL post-infusion day 1) was seen in a patient receiving only 300 mg every 8 weeks, whereas the other patient receiving 300 mg displayed a peak milk concentration

of 129.5 ng/mL on the 4<sup>th</sup> day post-infusion. Each patient had quantifiable IFX levels at trough and on their final sample collection day.



**Figure 6-2**. Time-concentration profile of IFX in milk from 5 lactating women with IBD. N=106 (19-22-time points per patient).

# 6.4 Influence of Dose on IFX Milk Concentrations

In order to understand whether there is a dose-dependent influence in milk concentrations, the weight-adjusted dose (mg/kg) was plotted against the peak and mean milk IFX concentrations from each study participant. Interestingly, as shown in **Figure 6-3**, there was no correlation between dose and both peak and mean milk concentrations, with r = 0.47 (p = 0.53) and 0.38 (p = 0.43), respectively. This will be further explored in the discussion chapter.



Figure 6-3. Relationship between weight-adjusted dose and peak or average milk concentrations

### 6.5 Infant Exposure Estimates

Our data shows that there are quantifiable IFX concentrations in milk up to 8 weeks postinfusion (trough). The highest IFX milk concentration measured in our cohort was 312.2 ng/mL from a woman receiving 300 mg (5.4 mg/kg). If an infant ingests a total of 150 mL milk per kg body weight per day at a concentration of 312.2 ng/mL IFX, the estimated maximum dose the infant would be exposed to is 0.047 mg/kg/day. Based on the mean milk concentrations from all 5 patients (86.7 ng/mL), the mean infant dose across the sampling interval is 0.0013 mg/kg/day. IFX clearance in neonates and infants remain unknown.

## 6.6 IFX Summary

The primary aims of this study were to (1) validate an analytical method to quantitate IFX concentrations specifically in human breast milk and (2) gain a better understanding of infant exposure across the dosing interval. This study was the first to optimize a method to measure IFX levels in milk for an extended period post-infusion. Based on our findings, breastfed infants are exposed to a maximum daily dose of 0.047 mg IFX through milk. Despite the low concentrations found in breast milk, the implications of these data are not well understood, as it

is remains unknown whether IFX is absorbed through the infant gastrointestinal tract. These findings will be critically discussed in Chapter 7: Discussion.

# Chapter 7 Discussion

# 7 Discussion Chapter Outline

This chapter summarizes all the findings from all three sub-studies of this thesis and discuss their implications in a broader context. Conclusions will be drawn from each respective project. The chapter will end by discussing limitations, future directions and an overall conclusion from this thesis.

## 7.1 Methotrexate

Low-dose MTX is currently the most widely used disease-modifying agent to treat rheumatoid arthritis <sup>121</sup>. MTX at a dose greater than 15 mg/week is a preferred treatment due to the clinical efficacy and safety<sup>127,227</sup>. Adverse effects of MTX are generally considered to be dose-dependent and infrequently observed in patients undergoing low-dose treatment for RA<sup>228</sup>.

Although a large number of women with RA undergo remission during pregnancy, nearly all patients experience a disease flare after giving birth and need to resume treatment <sup>126,229</sup>. While there are no data on breastfeeding rates and duration in patients with RA, over 50% of women with inflammatory bowel disease did not breastfeed their children, likely due to the presumed risk of exposing their infants to their medication<sup>5</sup>. Further, despite the known clinical benefits of MTX and case reports suggesting marginal infant exposure, the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) classifies MTX as a drug that "may interfere with cellular metabolism" of the nursing infant and is listed as contraindicated during breastfeeding<sup>153,154</sup>. Therefore, women experiencing a disease flare while breastfeeding are discouraged from treatment with MTX.

The aims of this project were three-fold: (1) to better understand the extent of MTX excretion into human milk and describe the potential risk to the nursing infant; (2) characterize the role of Bcrp in actively transporting MTX into mouse milk; and (3) to explore the use of high-dose riboflavin to inhibit transport of MTX into milk in mice.

#### 7.1.1 MTX in Breast Milk: Understanding Infant Exposure Estimates

To meet the first aim of the study, we developed and validated a sensitive LC-MS/MS that allowed us to accurately quantitate MTX concentrations in milk. Our method limit of quantification was 0.1 ng/mL, which is over 200 times more sensitive than the MTX assays used in a clinical setting (LoQ = 22.7 ng/mL).

Milk was collected and analyzed from two women receiving a weekly of 25 mg MTX. Our findings indicate that anti-rheumatic doses of MTX result in a peak concentration of about 2 ng/mL 24 hours post-dose. Following this 24-hour sampling time, MTX concentrations progressively decrease over 1-2 days post-dose. Due to the fact that polyglutamate-conjugated MTX emerges after 24 hours post-dose, and because total MTX (conjugated and unconjugated MTX) concentrations are likely to be about 1- 2 ng/mL, it is prudent to assume that MTX concentrations in milk, which could be available to the infant, are about 2 ng/mL throughout a dosing interval of anti-rheumatic weekly dose.

For an infant consuming 150 mL/kg of milk per day, whose mother is taking immunemodulating weekly doses of MTX, an estimated daily dose of MTX that the infant would be exposed to through milk is 0.3  $\mu$ g/kg/day (150 mL/kg/day x 2 ng/mL = 300 ng/kg/day) or a weekly cumulative dose of 2  $\mu$ g/kg/week. The MTX dose typically administered to children suffering from juvenile idiopathic arthritis is between 10- 20 mg/m<sup>2</sup>/week<sup>230</sup>; therefore, in clinical settings of maternal RA treatment, assuming a typical dose of 500  $\mu$ g/kg/week, infant exposure to MTX in milk is 250-fold lower than what is used therapeutically. Further, the estimated human reference dose (based on 1/100<sup>th</sup> of the animal the no observed adverse effect level (NOAEL)) is 3  $\mu$ g /kg/day<sup>231</sup>. The maximum dose of 2 ng/mL would yield a dose 10-times lower than the estimated safe human dose per day.

We were the first to explore the presence of various MTX species (e.g MTX-Glu) and metabolites (e.g. 7OH-MTX) excreted into milk. The hydroxylated MTX metabolite, 7OH-MTX, was only detectable in one patient, with a peak concentration of 0.88 ng/mL, which should not contribute to increased infant exposure. Interestingly, the MTX metabolite was only quantifiable in the more aqueous foremilk samples, which conflicts with the reports that 7OH-MTX is 3-5 times less water soluble than the parent compound<sup>232</sup>.

Nearly 30% of folate species in milk exist in a polyglutamated form<sup>233</sup>. MTX is an analogue of folate; therefore, we speculated that MTX may also become enzymatically modified to form MTX-glutamates in the lactating mammary epithelium, which may then underestimate available MTX sources for the infant. It is known that measurable folate concentrations increase following a trienzyme digest<sup>220</sup>; therefore, we carried out this method to release glutamate residues and re-measured MTX (monoglutamate) concentrations in milk. While our findings indicate a measurable increase in MTX concentrations following digestion, interestingly, this increase was not sustained across the dosing interval. The difference in extent of polyglutamation across the sampling interval could be due to changes in plasma concentrations. McGuire et al. found that the synthesis of MTX polyglutamates was both extracellular MTX concentration- and time-dependent<sup>234</sup>. Another factor that could contribute to these differences could be the variability seen in our analytical method. Although we developed a precise and sensitive method, there may be minor differences in measured concentration accounting for the discrepancy seen here. Taken together, it is reasonable to assume that total MTX equivalent (i.e., a sum of MTX, 7-OH MTX and MTX conjugates) in milk is relatively constant within a weekly dosing interval, ranging about 2-3 ng/mL.

#### 7.1.2 Bcrp-Mediated Riboflavin-MTX Interaction

Aside from Bcrp, multiple transporters, such as organic anion transporters (OATs) and multidrug resistant proteins (MRPs) contribute to the clinical pharmacokinetics of MTX<sup>138,235</sup>. However, many of these transporters are functionally down-regulated or have undetectable expression in the mammary epithelial cells during lactation, while Bcrp is highly induced<sup>66,95</sup>.

The results from this animal study suggest that Bcrp mediates MTX efflux in to milk. Bcrp-/mice had significantly lower milk MTX concentrations (p<0.05) despite having significantly higher (P<0.01) plasma levels. Further supporting the finding of Bcrp-mediated transepithelial transport in the mammary gland was the fact that co-administering Bcrp substrates or inhibitors reduced MTX concentrations in milk. It is reasonable to believe that the other ABC drug transporters are either not contributing or play a minor role in MTX efflux, as their expression is down-regulated during lactation. Although our findings suggest that Bcrp mediates MTX transport into milk, efflux was not completely eliminated in the Bcrp-/- mice, suggesting an alternate pathway and/or mechanism such as diffusion or endocytosis may be involved in transporting MTX across the mammary epithelium. MTX is a low-affinity substrate for the folate binding protein (FBP) and can interfere with folate binding to FBP in cow's milk <sup>236</sup>. An abundance of FBP is found bound to folates in milk<sup>237</sup>. Overall, the extent of MTX efflux into milk is minimal, but perhaps MTX binding to FBP accounts for another mechanism of entry into milk.

Our results suggest that treating wild-type mice with riboflavin or FMN competitively inhibited milk MTX efflux without increasing MTX plasma levels. We postulated that this may be a mammary-specific phenomenon, where Bcrp transport capacity may be saturated by riboflavin, due to preferential uptake of riboflavin by the mammary gland epithelia. Van Herwaarden et al. reported that riboflavin is highly concentrated in milk at least partially due to Bcrp on the apical side of the mammary epithelial cells<sup>67</sup>.

We have previously reported that increased Bcrp expression in the mammary gland during lactation is accompanied by similar induction of the riboflavin transporter, Slc52a2, in the mammary gland<sup>68</sup>. We hypothesize that the lactating mammary gland utilizes a joined Slc52a2 and Bcrp system to preferentially carry riboflavin across the mammary gland epithelia, thereby creating an optimal platform for riboflavin – MTX interaction.

Our findings have important clinical significance, as it suggests that riboflavin co-administration may improve the safety profile of MTX during breastfeeding, without hindering renal clearance. Although the doses of riboflavin and FMN used in the current study were supraphysiological (20 mg/kg and 100 mg/kg, respectively), there is still considerable clinical utility to these findings, as high-dose riboflavin (400 mg; 6 mg/kg) is used clinically for migraine prophylaxis<sup>238</sup>.

#### 7.1.3 Conclusion from MTX Study

Currently, MTX treatment while breastfeeding is controversial, largely due to limited safety data. The data generated from this study helps to fill in the gaps of knowledge on MTX excretion into milk and provides insight into using riboflavin to improve the MTX safety profile during lactation. Infant exposure to MTX via milk after maternal weekly doses of 10-25 mg is low and should not lead to adverse outcomes; however, high inter-individual variability of MTX pharmacokinetics has been described<sup>239</sup>, warranting further investigation in a larger cohort of milk and infant plasma measurements.

Our animal models suggest that high-dose riboflavin during breastfeeding may further reduce the transport of MTX into milk and reduce infant exposure levels to MTX. These findings might also be translated to other drugs that are Bcrp substrates and help improve their safety profiles during lactation.

#### 7.1.4 MTX Study Strengths and Limitations

There are many strengths noted in this study. This was the first report to examine the total concentrations of all MTX species in milk, which enabled for a comprehensive understanding of infant exposure. Further, this was the first study investigating that Bcrp is the major transport pathway responsible for excreting MTX into milk. This finding facilitated the MTX-riboflavin interaction study, which found that Bcrp-mediated transport of MTX can be inhibited by riboflavin treatment, without influencing plasma concentrations. Despite already low efflux of MTX into milk, defining a competitive pathway between MTX and riboflavin might improve its safety profile and allow for use during lactation.

Sample size was a major limitation in both the DLAC and animal studies. Due to the contentious nature of MTX use during lactation, it was challenging to recruit more than two patients as part of the DLAC study. Furthermore, while most of the animal study was powered effectively, there were groups of mice that required a larger sample size to see a statistically significant effect. This was also noted in the study examining the correlation between MTX and riboflavin concentrations in milk. In order to truly explore the competitive mechanism, we would have benefited from a larger sample size.

In addition, variability in the LC-MS/MS method may affect infant exposure estimates. The variability around the LoQ (0.1 ng/mL) was approximately 20%, which could lead to an underor over-prediction of risk. Nevertheless, the impact on infant dose may be considered trivial because of already marginal excretion of MTX into milk.

### 7.2 Escitalopram

SSRIs such as ESC are the most commonly prescribed antidepressant medication during pregnancy and lactation<sup>240</sup>. The dose administered for the treatment PPD is commonly 10-20 mg/day<sup>222,241</sup>. Existing literature on ESC concentrations in breast milk and infant exposure assessments are limited; however, treatment of PPD is imperative due to the fact that infants of depressed mothers are at an increased risk for developing cognitive and behavioural problems<sup>242,243</sup>. Nevertheless, treatment may be delayed by the non-compliance of patients due to uncertainty about the safety of SSRIs during breastfeeding<sup>244</sup>. Large-scale studies involving intensive infant blood sampling are considered the gold standard to examine infant exposure of drugs in breast milk. Clearly, there are various ethical and practical challenges preventing a study of this nature to be performed. In recent years, modeling and simulation techniques have been emerging as tools to better understand drug exposure in understudies and underrepresented groups such as nursing infants. Using an approach applying drug monitoring data of ESC in milk to PBPK modeling techniques we were able to successfully predict ESC AUC<sub>0-∞</sub> in simulated breastfeeding infants, eliminating the need for collecting infant blood samples.

The aims of this study were three-fold: (1) develop an optimized LC-MS/MS method to measure ESC concentrations in milk, (2) generate a total infant daily dose taking variability within feeding-related parameters into consideration, and (3) apply this dose to an infant PBPK model to better understand infant systemic exposure of ESC through breast milk.

#### 7.2.1 ESC Measurement in Breast Milk

Current data on ESC infant exposure through breast milk was generated from a small cohort study based on milk concentrations from 8 women receiving ESC daily<sup>171</sup>. Rampono et al. reported an RID of 5.3% the maternal weight-adjusted dose and were also able to quantitate an infant plasma concentration of 3 ng/mL in one infant<sup>171</sup>.

Milk is a complex biological fluid requiring meticulous sample preparation and extraction prior to analysis. Here, we optimized and validated a robust analytical method for milk measurement of ESC and measured concentrations in the breast milk of 18 lactating women (n= 104 samples). Our patient population was receiving a range of doses from 2.5 - 30 mg daily. ESC has linear

plasma pharmacokinetics in the range of 10-30 mg/ day<sup>245</sup>. In our study, a linear increase in milk concentrations was observed for women receiving up to 20 mg daily. However, two patients receiving a dose of 30 mg had 2.7-fold higher milk ESC concentrations compared to the 20 mg group. Given this interesting finding, it is reasonable to assume that genetic polymorphisms are a major contributing factor to the variability in milk concentrations. The prevalence of poor and extensive metabolizing CYP2C19 alleles are 15.3% and 21.5%, respectively; therefore, there is a probable presence of variant alleles in the 18 women recruited for this study<sup>246</sup>.

#### 7.2.2 Determination of Sampling Bias

Breast milk is a dynamic fluid that changes in composition not only across the feed (foremilk and hindmilk), but also throughout the day<sup>37,93</sup>. Measurement of the two sampling phases is often overlooked in studies examining the safety of drugs during lactation but is essential in determining sampling bias and infant exposure estimates. Based on our random sampling schedule, we were able to comprehensively assess risk of infant ESC exposure across the entire dosing interval (24 hours). We measured a total of 17 paired foremilk and hindmilk samples from four women either receiving 10 or 20 mg daily. Although the differences between foremilk and hindmilk were considered to be statistically significant, the mean difference was approximately 10%, suggesting a negligible effect of milk phase on ESC level monitoring in milk. Furthermore, this difference in concentration between the phases translates to a difference of less than 0.4% of the weight-adjusted RID. These data suggest that milk sampling and measurement would not be affected by sampling phase and that infant exposure is relatively consistent across the feed.

### 7.2.3 Generating the Total Infant Daily Dose

Conventionally, RID estimates area good parameter for predicting drug safety during lactation and is a measure of the percentage of the maternal weight-adjusted dose that the infant would receive via breast milk. A psychotropic drug with an RID less than 5% of the maternal weight-adjusted dose is considered compatible with lactation<sup>105</sup>. Following the measurement of ESC in 104 milk samples, we were able to generate a mean RID estimate of 2.6%, which, together with

the previous report by Rampono et al.<sup>171</sup>, suggest that ESC should be compatible with breastfeeding.

### 7.2.4 Infant Plasma Exposure

One limitation of solely basic infant exposure estimates on the RID is that this measure does not take into account the cumulative dose that the infant would be exposed to through each feeding, nor does it consider physiological and anatomical differences in an infant that would influence pharmacokinetic parameters.

For our simulation, we considered the variability in feeding-related parameters and our observed milk data, in order to generate an accurate assessment of infant ESC exposure through milk. The data obtained from our infant simulation demonstrate that the systemic exposure level ranged from 0.5% to 5.9% (median 1.7%) of the corresponding adult  $AUC_{0-\infty}$  from the literature<sup>168,209,211,212</sup>.

The PBPK model-predicted infant plasma AUC<sub>0- $\infty$ </sub> remained relatively constant across the agestratified groups throughout the first 12 months of life. Drug elimination pathways, such as enzyme expression and kidney function, typically develop in an age-dependent rate. It is expected that weight-based drug clearance is not fully mature in the neonatal stage, this would suggest that younger infants would have higher plasma AUC<sub>0- $\infty$ </sub>. However, our virtual neonates had similar AUC<sub>0- $\infty$ </sub> to older infants with fully developed clearance mechanisms. These results may be explained by the fact that ESC elimination primarily occurs in the liver and is mediated by CYP2C19, CYP2D6, CYP3A4, with renal clearance playing a minor role. It is reported that liver expression and activity of CYP2D6 is almost fully mature one week after birth<sup>247</sup>. Another study demonstrated that plasma clearance of the CYP3A4 substrate, sildenafil, is similar to adult clearance by the first 7 days of life<sup>248</sup>. In addition, the liver-body weight ratio is higher in neonates compared to older infants, which, combined with mature CYP activity, could explain the trend in the simulated weight-based ESC AUC<sub>0- $\infty$ </sub> across the first year of life.

#### 7.2.5 Factors Affecting Infant Exposure

Despite the low  $AUC_{0-\infty}$  achieved in our virtual population across the first year of life, it is important to consider the potential factors that could contribute to an increased risk of adverse effects in infants exposed to ESC through breast milk. Systemic exposure of ESC is up to 6-fold higher in individuals who have poor CYP2C19 activity <sup>249,250</sup>. Variability in CYP2C19 alleles activity could potentially affect both mother and infant, as an increase in maternal plasma concentrations could subsequently cause higher infant exposure through breast milk. Infants that are poor metabolizers could be at a higher risk of systemic exposure, regardless of the maternal genotype; however, this relationship is not well defined. Similarly, CYP2D6 variants in the mother or infant could also affect exposure estimates.

There are many other factors to consider when assessing the risk of ESC exposure to the nursing infant. The blood-brain-barrier does not fully develop until after the first 6 postnatal months, which could contribute to higher brain exposure and may have effects on the development of infant serotonergic circuitry<sup>251</sup>. Several groups have looked at the developmental and behavioural consequences following *in utero* and early postnatal exposure to SSRIs. Reports of neonatal serotonergic syndrome suggest that fetuses are exposed to biologically relevant concentrations of SSRIs during the third trimester of pregnancy<sup>252,253</sup>. In one study, postnatal day 2 plasma SSRI concentrations were nearly half of the maternal concentration. The concentrations observed in the study by Laine et al. were significantly higher than the plasma concentrations achieved in our virtual infant population<sup>253</sup>. Based on our data, the extent of infant exposure is unlikely to cause adverse outcomes, as the AUC<sub>0-∞</sub> achieved in our virtual infants is a small fraction of the therapeutic concentrations.

Uncertainty and differences in exposure due to genetic variability and immaturity of the bloodbrain-barrier warrant performing long-term follow-up following studies examining exposure of ESC though breast milk.

#### 7.2.6 ESC Conclusions

Nursing mothers and healthcare providers are faced with a complex question when considering therapy with ESC for PPD. Mothers could take ESC and continue breastfeeding or abstain from

breastfeeding or elect to avoid ESC altogether in favour of non-pharmacological treatment. We have completed an assessment of ESC exposure in breastfeeding infants and demonstrated that infant  $AUC_{0-\infty}$  is expected to be more than 50-fold lower than adult  $AUC_{0-\infty}$  following a 20 mg dose. This proof-of-concept framework could serve as a standard for improving risk assessments in the future. This interdisciplinary approach expands on analytical techniques with *in silico* modeling to predict infant drug exposure through breast milk. Using an analytical method optimized for quantification of ESC in breast milk, we were able to confidently measure ESC concentrations in the milk of 18 women taking 2.5-30 mg daily. With this data, we used PBPK modeling to simulate infant plasma concentrations following exposure to ESC via breast milk. Based on the infant  $AUC_{0-\infty}$  values generated, our study demonstrates that ESC use during breastfeeding should be considered safe and that the benefits of pharmacological PPD therapy can outweighs the risk of adverse events in infants.

#### 7.2.7 ESC Study Strengths and Limitations

The findings from this project helped bolster the existing literature on milk exposure and RID of ESC, but also serves as a proof-of-concept platform for assessing exposure of infant exposure of other drugs through breast milk. We were the first to translate drug monitoring data of ESC in milk into infant plasma level predictions while overcoming the need for invasive infant blood sampling.

The infant PBPK model is limited by uncertainty. While the method for extrapolating from the adult model was systematic and carefully performed, no infant plasma data was available in the literature to validate the model; therefore, the reliability of the validated knowledge base built into PK-SIM was considered sufficient for this approach. Furthermore, the model gives estimates for plasma concentrations, which are only surrogate markers of pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in the brain. Despite the fact that this is the largest cohort to measure ESC in milk to date, the small sample size of women available for breast milk measurements may be a limitation. Nevertheless, the breast milk measurements at the 20 mg dose were utilized in the simulation because they are linearly consistent with the measurements at the 10 mg dose. In addition, by utilizing the milk concentration from the patients receiving 20 mg/day in our simulation, we were able to assess the infant plasma AUC<sub>0-∞</sub> from the highest recommended

dose, which captures milk levels from women receiving lower doses. This assumes that most infants would be exposed to no more than 1.7% of the adult  $AUC_{0-\infty}$ .

Another limitation our simulation did not consider is intrauterine exposure to ESC. Using antidepressant during pregnancy is also a complex issue requiring an individualized approach to treatment, with many women discontinuing their medication to minimize the risk of neonatal withdrawal symptoms following fetal exposure. While infants who were exposed to SSRIs *in utero* have plasma concentrations nearly 50% of maternal concentrations, our model predictions suggest infant plasma concentrations would likely gradually decrease after birth, even if breastfeeding is initiated, due to lower exposure levels through milk and increased clearance capacity after one week of life.

### 7.3 Infliximab

Infliximab is a chimeric IgG1 monoclonal antibody that specifically binds and neutralizes the activity of soluble and membrane-bound TNF $\alpha^{188}$ . IFX was the first monoclonal antibody to be approved for the treatment of IBD, which is a disease commonly affecting women of childbearing age <sup>175,188</sup>. Overall, there are major inconsistencies and conflicting reports on infliximab excretion into breast milk and thus the safety of this drug during breastfeeding remains unclear. A study by Kane and Lemieux reported that only 44% of women with IBD breastfeed their infants (only 29% of women with Crohn's Disease breast fed), which is well below the population mean for breastfeeding initiation. Seventy four percent of women who did breastfeed their infants discontinued their medication prior to breastfeeding, mostly because of fear of medication interactions or because of physician recommendation. This lack of clarity with the detection methods, coupled with the inconsistencies in the reports may contribute to the overall low rate of breastfeeding in women with IBD<sup>5</sup>.

### 7.3.1 Optimizing IFX Measurement in Milk

Common analytical methods used to measure infliximab are immunoassays optimized for quantification serum. There is a large amount of variability in the literature surrounding

excretion of IFX into milk. Three reports attempted to measure IFX in milk and reported that the drug levels were undetectable in milk or infant serum <sup>190–192</sup>. More recently, other groups have been able to quantitate peak IFX concentrations from 100- 475 ng/mL, with serum levels as high as 1700 ng/mL in one infant <sup>194–196</sup>.

The analytical measuring range of IFX assays used clinically is typically 100-fold higher than the expected concentration in breast milk, which could account for the variability in the literature. In a clinical setting, IFX concentrations  $< 1 \ \mu g/mL$  in serum are considered to be undetectable<sup>197</sup>. The groups who were able to quantitate IFX in breast milk noted using dilution as a strategy to mitigate matrix effects; however, they still neglected to optimize their method specifically for milk measurement. Here, it was a priority to optimize and validate the analytical method to generate reliable, reproducible results for IFX quantification in breast milk. The method presented in this thesis had good precision, a reproducible standard curve, and was sensitive enough to quantitate IFX in each patient sample obtained from the study.

Clinically available methods typically use plates coated with TNF $\alpha$  as the primary (capture) antigen to measure free IFX. Milk TNF $\alpha$  concentrations can be up to several thousand-fold higher in milk compared to serum, which may account for the variability in results found in the literature. Due to the enrichment of endogenous TNF $\alpha$  in milk, a pool of unmeasured, undetectable IFX might exist, as the antigen binding fragment may already be bound in an immune complex and unable to bind to the exogenous TNF $\alpha$  on the ELISA plate. This analytical challenge could lead to an underestimated IFX concentration in milk, and subsequent miscalculation infant exposure estimates.

Our immunoassay method did not use TNF $\alpha$  as the primary antibody, but rather a proprietary antibody (HCA212 from BioRad) with an unknown binding site on IFX. The antibody was marketed to measure free drug; thus, suggesting the antibody would bind to the Fab fragment, the same binding site as TNF $\alpha$ , potentially leading to similar analytical shortcomings as discussed above. However, despite fundamental differences between immunoassays and LC-MS/MS assays, a recent study found an excellent quantitative correlation (slope = 0.967; R<sup>2</sup> = 0.970) between an immunoassay and an LC-MS/MS method<sup>197</sup>. While immunoassays like the one developed for this study are believed to only measure free (unbound) IFX, an LC-MS/MS

approach allows for the measurement of total drug, regardless of it is free or bound to TNF $\alpha$ . This correlation suggests that the immunoassay may be analyzing total IFX, not free drug<sup>197</sup>. Based on these findings, it is expected that the analytical approach used here might have actually been measuring total IFX in milk. This would make the abundant concentration of TNF $\alpha$ irrelevant to our analysis and allowed for the generation of accurate infant exposure estimates.

#### 7.3.2 Factors Contributing to Variability in Milk Concentrations

There is large inter- and intra-individual variability in the plasma pharmacokinetics of IFX<sup>188</sup>. Higher IFX clearance has been associated with higher body weight, lower serum albumin levels, and magnitude inflammation, while co-mediation with immunomodulators contributes to lower IFX clearance, leading to higher plasma concentrations<sup>188</sup>. Similarly, we saw large variability in the concentrations of IFX in milk within our 5 study participants and did not find a relationship between weight-adjusted dose and milk concentrations. The factors contributing to the wide inter- and intra-individual variability in plasma may also have an impact on milk levels.

The women who participated in the study were receiving doses ranging from 300-400 mg every 8 weeks. Peak and average milk concentrations were 210.3 ng/mL (range: 103.3 - 312.2 ng/mL) and 86.7 ng/mL (range: 54.7 - 106.1 ng/mL). Interestingly, the peak milk concentration was 312.2 ng/mL from a woman receiving 300 mg daily. While we did not obtain data on her serum albumin levels or magnitude of inflammation, it is reasonable to assume that because she was on a maintenance dose of IFX, it was assumed her IBD was in remission and her inflammation was under control. Her body weight was lower (56 kg); however, her weight-adjusted dose (5.4 mg/kg) was comparable compared to the mean weight-adjusted dose amongst the other patients (5.6 mg/kg). This patient was receiving the antifungal medication, nystatin, during sample collection. It has been reported that nystatin is a pro-inflammatory compound that induces IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-8 and TNF $\alpha$  production by activating toll-like receptors 1 and  $2^{254}$ . While no direct drug interactions are known between IFX and nystatin<sup>255</sup>, perhaps co-medication with Nystatin is modulating the immune response in this patient causing altered IFX clearance and higher excretion rates into breast milk. This remains unclear due to the limited sample size of patients on this combination treatment.

One study found that concomitant use of the immunosuppressant, azathioprine (Imuran), contributed to higher serum trough concentrations compared to IFX therapy alone<sup>256</sup>. One of the patients in our study was receiving co-medication with azathioprine during sample collection. Her peak, trough and average were 283.5, 7.0 and 102.3 ng/mL, respectively. Her trough concentrations were lower than the mean (14 ng/mL); however, both peak and average milk concentrations were higher than the mean (210.3 and 86.7 ng/mL for peak and average, respectively). These data suggest that co-medication with either an antifungal agent or immunomodulators could contribute to higher milk concentrations, likely due to a decrease in drug clearance and an increase in serum levels.

#### 7.3.3 Understanding Infant Exposure: What is the Risk?

The peak milk concentration seen in our study was 312.2 ng/mL, translating to an infant dose of is 0.047 mg/kg daily. Unfortunately, were not able to obtain any corresponding maternal or infant serum data. In a report by Fritzsche et al., one partially breastfed infant had an infliximab serum concentration of 1700 ng/mL at 3 weeks postpartum and 5 days following the second postpartum infusion<sup>196</sup>. This contradicts the previous report that demonstrated undetectable infant serum infliximab levels<sup>192</sup>. The concentration seen in the serum of this infant following exposure to IFX in breast milk was much lower than what was observed following placental exposure, which was 39.5  $\mu$ g/mL at 6 weeks postpartum<sup>190</sup>. This finding is especially noteworthy because the infant was partially breastfed, suggesting that there is the potential for infliximab to be absorbed from breast milk through the infant gut and into systemic circulation<sup>190,196</sup>. The transport of anti-TNF $\alpha$  drugs across the placenta has been wellestablished<sup>190,257,258</sup>; therefore, it is recommended to discontinue treatment of these drugs during the second or third trimester of pregnancy in order to limit infant exposure<sup>258</sup>. It is unknown whether this mother discontinued IFX therapy; however, due to the presumed fetal risk, we believe that it is likely that she stopped treatment. Thus, the infant systemic exposure to IFX was likely via breast milk.

The potential mechanism of IFX drug transfer into milk is currently unknown, but may be similar to the FcRn-mediated pathway of IgG transport into milk<sup>73</sup>. Endogenous IgGs are thought to bind to FcRn basolaterally on the mammary epithelial cell and internalized and then

transported to the luminal side for release<sup>259</sup>. Because IFX is an IgG monoclonal antibody, it may utilize this same transport mechanism into milk. The FcRn is also expressed in a number of neonatal tissues and may be the mechanism responsible for absorption of IFX from the infant gut into systemic circulation<sup>260</sup>. Furthermore, paracellular transport of IgGs may be enhanced during periods of inflammation and during colostrum production, potentially leading to an increase in infant IFX exposure <sup>73</sup>.

It has been postulated that IFX treatment during lactation should be considered safe because (1) minute concentrations are excreted into milk, and (2) due to the monoclonal antibody structure of IFX, it would likely undergo proteolytic degradation in the infant gastrointestinal tract. However, there is evidence proposing immunoglobulins are resistant to enzymatic degradation in humans, as immunologically active IgG has been recovered from ileal aspirates and feces<sup>261</sup>. Furthermore, another study found that human milk has the ability to inhibit proteolytic enzymes, which could contribute to differences in protein absorption in an infant<sup>262</sup>. Although speculative, these findings could suggest that IFX (an IgG1 monoclonal antibody) could withstand degradation and have neutralizing activity in the infant digestive tract. While it is unlikely that the concentrations infants are exposed to via milk would suppress infant immune response and development, the local effects on the infant gastrointestinal tract remain unknown.

Another consideration is the effects of IFX on endogenous TNF $\alpha$  levels in milk. IFX directly targets and neutralizes TNF $\alpha$ . It has been well-established that the cytokines present in milk play a role in shaping the immune development of the infant<sup>83</sup>. Recently, a study found that milk-derived TNF $\alpha$ -dependent chemokines play a role in hippocampal development and spatial memory<sup>263</sup>. Taken together, this warrants further investigation of IFX safety during lactation.

#### 7.3.4 IFX Conclusions

We were the first to optimize an immunoassay specifically developed to measure IFX in breast milk. Our data also indicate quantifiable concentrations in milk across the first 36 days post-infusion and at trough measurement. Based on our findings, infants are exposed to a peak dose of 0.047 mg daily, which is consistent with the previous reports in the literature. Based on this low exposure, it is implied that breastfeeding should be compatible with IFX treatment. However,

other reports indicate that infants are able to achieve quantifiable serum concentrations following exposure of IFX through breast milk. Due to these findings and the uncertainty about the effects on the infant mucosa following IFX exposure, the safety of data on IFX use during breastfeeding remains unreliable.

#### 7.3.5 IFX Study Strengths and Limitations

This study was the first to examine IFX concentrations utilizing an analytical method optimized for milk measurement. We were the first to capture IFX milk concentrations beyond 8 days post-infusion and were able to quantitate IFX levels up to 36 days post-dose. This allowed for a more comprehensive understanding of infant exposure across the patient's dosing interval. Due to the large inter- and intra-individual variability in both milk and plasma IFX levels, this study would have benefited from a larger sample size.

As with the other drugs in this thesis, we initially attempted to gain a complete view of all the potential IFX species in milk (free, bound, partially bound). Nevertheless, due to analytical limitations, we were only able to measure free IFX in milk. Despite the claim that our antibodies solely measure "free" drug, we believe that we were actually able to measure "total" drug in milk, based on the published quantitative correlation between immunoassays and LC-MS/MS measurement methods<sup>197</sup>. It is worth noting that we attempted to utilize an LC-MS/MS approach to compare our antibody-based method; however, the available comparative methods did not have the sensitivity required to analyze our samples.

## 7.4 Future Directions

For the MTX study, increasing the sample size for both human and mouse milk analysis would be beneficial. In addition, exploring the co-administration with oral riboflavin therapy in both humans and mice might help build confidence in the safety MTX during lactation. Once this is established, women suffering from a disease flare in the postpartum period will be able to take advantage of MTX as an effective remission-inducing therapy while being able to breastfeed their infant. It has been reported that ESC plasma levels are 6-fold higher in individuals with a deficient CYP2C19 allele<sup>249,250</sup>. Such allelic variants in the mother could cause higher milk concentrations and subsequently lead to an increase in infant exposure. Obtaining the maternal genetic data to explore the correlation between of genotype and milk concentrations would be of benefit. Despite the fact that our simulation took population variability in CYP metabolism into account, it is important to explore whether infants that are poor CYP2C19 metabolizers could be at a higher risk of elevated systemic exposure. In addition, infant response to a given plasma concentration of a drug may differ from adults. For example, the blood-brain-barrier is not fully developed in neonates, which could contribute to higher brain exposure of ESC. These factors warrant performing studies examining longer-term cognitive and behavioural follow-up after exposure to ESC in utero and via breast milk.

For the IFX study, due to the analytical uncertainty in our IFX method, it remains unknown whether the assay was indeed measuring "free" or "total" drug. In order to explore the potential presence of various IFX species in milk, a western blot could be carried out to visualize free, bound and partially bound drug. Furthermore, exploring the influence of endogenous TNF $\alpha$ concentrations on IFX levels in milk could be examined. Additionally, determining the role of disease state (e.g. active IBD vs. IBD in remission vs. healthy) on TNF $\alpha$  and IFX concentrations would be interesting in assessing infant exposure. Lastly, a large cohort exploring infant systemic exposure to IFX is essential to determine whether infants are able to achieve noteworthy plasma concentrations of IFX through breast milk. Long-term studies on infant sensitization to IFX and influence on immune development are also warranted.

### 7.5 Thesis Conclusions

The data surrounding drug safety during lactation are limited. The first step in establishing infant drug exposure estimates is to develop and validate a robust analytical approach to measure drug concentrations in breast milk. This thesis emphasized the importance of understanding milk as a matrix and how it can impact drug measurement and subsequently infant exposure. By utilizing validated analytical techniques, assessment of drug safety was established by exploring human milk data, an animal lactation model, and *in silico* techniques. Hopefully, the techniques

established in this thesis could serve as tools to help with the analysis of other drugs in milk and help provide accurate predictions on infant exposure estimates.

# References

- 1. Schirm E, Schwagermann MP, Tobi H, de Jong-van den Berg LTW. Drug use during breastfeeding. A survey from the Netherlands. *Eur J Clin Nutr*. 2004;58(2):386-390. doi:10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601799.
- US Department of Health and Human Services. Healthy People 2020 Objectives: Maternal, Infant, and Child Health: MICH-21. https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/maternal-infant-and-child-health/objectives.
- 3. Neuman G, Colantonio D, Delaney S, Szynkaruk M, Ito S. Bupropion and Escitalopram During Lactation. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2014;48(7):928-931. doi:10.1177/1060028014529548.
- 4. Koren G, Cairns J, Chitayat D, Gaedigk A, Leeder SJ. Pharmacogenetics of morphine poisoning in a breastfed neonate of a codeine-prescribed mother. *Lancet*. 2006;368(9536):704. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69255-6.
- 5. Kane S, Lemieux N. The role of breastfeeding in postpartum disease activity in women with inflammatory bowel disease. *Am J Gastroenterol*. 2005;100(1):102-105. doi:10.1111/j.1572-0241.2005.40785.x.
- 6. Begg EJ, Duffull SB, Hackett LP, Ilett KF. Studying Drugs in Human Milk: Time to Unify the Approach. *J Hum Lact*. 2002;18(4):323-332. doi:10.1177/089033402237904.
- 7. American Academy of Pediatrics. Breastfeeding and the Use of Human Milk. *Pediatrics*. 2012:600-603. doi:10.1542/peds.2011-3553.
- WHO (World Health Organization). Nutrition: exclusive breastfeeding. *Geneva Author Retrieved from www who int/* .... 2011;285(4):1-3. http://www.who.int/nutrition/topics/exclusive\_breastfeeding/en%5Cnhttp://scholar.google .com/scholar?hl=en&btnG=Search&q=intitle:Nutrition+Exclusive+breastfeeding#8.
- 9. Section on Breastfeeding. Breastfeeding and the Use of Human Milk. *Pediatrics*. 2012;129(3):e827-e841. doi:10.1542/peds.2011-3552.
- 10. World Health Organization & U (1989). Protecting, promoting and supporting breast-feeding: the special role of maternity services. 1989.
- Sheehan D, Krueger P, Watt S, Sword W, Bridle B. The Ontario Mother and Infant Survey: Breastfeeding Outcomes. *J Hum Lact*. 2001;17(3):211-219. doi:10.1177/089033440101700304.
- Al-Sahab B, Lanes A, Feldman M, Tamim H. Prevalence and predictors of 6-month exclusive breastfeeding among Canadian women: a national survey. *BMC Pediatr*. 2010;10:20. doi:10.1186/1471-2431-10-20.

- Clifford TJ, Campbell MK, Speechley KN, Gorodzinsky F. Factors Influencing Full Breastfeeding in a Southwestern Ontario Community: Assessments at 1 Week and at 6 Months Postpartum. J Hum Lact. 2006;22(3):292-304. doi:10.1177/0890334406290043.
- 14. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Breastfeeding report card United States 2014. 2014.
- 15. American Academy of Pediatrics. Breastfeeding and the use of human milk. *Pediatrics*. 2012;129(3):e827-41. doi:10.1542/peds.2011-3552.
- Ip S, Chung M, Raman G, et al. Breastfeeding and maternal and infant health outcomes in developed countries. *Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep)*. 2007;(153):1-186. doi:10.1542/gr.18-2-15.
- Bachrach VRG, Schwarz E, Bachrach LR. Breastfeeding and the Risk of Hospitalization for Respiratory Disease in Infancy. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* 2003;157(3):237. doi:10.1001/archpedi.157.3.237.
- Ruiz-Palacios GM, Calva JJ, Pickering LK, et al. Protection of breast-fed infants against Campylobacter diarrhea by antibodies in human milk. *J Pediatr*. 1990;116(5):707-713. doi:10.1016/S0022-3476(05)82652-6.
- Mayer EJ, Hamman RF, Gay EC, Lezotte DC, Savitz DA, Klingensmith GJ. Reduced risk of IDDM among breast-fed children. The Colorado IDDM registry. *Diabetes*. 1988;37(12):1625-1632. doi:10.2337/diabetes.37.12.1625.
- Belfort MB, Anderson PJ, Nowak VA, et al. Breast Milk Feeding, Brain Development, and Neurocognitive Outcomes: A 7-Year Longitudinal Study in Infants Born at Less Than 30 Weeks' Gestation. *J Pediatr.* 2016;177:133-139.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.06.045.
- Kramer MS, Aboud F, Mironova E, et al. Breastfeeding and Child Cognitive Development: New Evidence From a Large Randomized Trial. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2008;65(5):578-584. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.65.5.578.
- 22. Verhasselt V, Milcent V, Cazareth J, et al. Breast milk-mediated transfer of an antigen induces tolerance and protection from allergic asthma. *Nat Med.* 2008;14(2):170-175. doi:10.1038/nm1718.
- 23. Al-Shehri SS, Knox CL, Liley HG, et al. Breastmilk-saliva interactions boost innate immunity by regulating the oral microbiome in early infancy. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(9):1-19. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0135047.
- 24. Raisler J, Alexander C, O'Campo P. Breast-feeding and infant illness: A dose-response relationship? *Am J Public Health*. 1999;89(1):25-30. doi:10.2105/AJPH.89.1.25.
- 25. Stuebe AM, Rich-Edwards JW. The reset hypothesis: Lactation and maternal metabolism. *Am J Perinatol*. 2009;26(1):81-88. doi:10.1055/s-0028-1103034.
- 26. Abedi P, Jahanfar S, Namvar F. Nipple stimulation or breastfeeding for preventing

postpartum haemorrhage in the third stage of labour. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2013;(11). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD010845.

- 27. Dewey KG, Heinig MJ, Nommsen LA. Maternal weight-loss patterns during prolonged lactation. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1993;58(2):162-166.
- 28. Stuebe A. The risks of not breastfeeding for mothers and infants. *Rev Obstet Gynecol*. 2009;2(4):222-231. doi:10.3909/riog0093.
- Leung AKC, Sauve RS. Breast is best for babies. J Natl Med Assoc. 2005;97(7):1010-1019.
   http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2569316&tool=pmcentrez&re ndertype=abstract.
- 30. Mezzacappa ES, Kelsey RM, Katkin ES. Breast feeding, bottle feeding, and maternal autonomic responses to stress. *J Psychosom Res.* 2005;58(4):351-365. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychores.2004.11.004.
- 31. Thanh Tu M, Lupien SJ, Walker CD. Measuring stress responses in postpartum mothers: Perspectives from studies in human and animal populations. *Stress*. 2005;8(1):19-34. doi:10.1080/10253890500103806.
- 32. Hennighausen L, Robinson GW. Information networks in the mammary gland. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*. 2005;6(9):715-725. doi:10.1038/nrm1714.
- 33. McManaman JL, Neville MC. Mammary physiology and milk secretion. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* 2003;55(5):629-641. doi:10.1016/S0169-409X(03)00033-4.
- 34. Neville MC, Morton J, Umemura S. Lactogenesis: the transition from pregnancy to lactation. *Pediatr Clin North Am.* 2001;48(1):35-52. doi:10.1016/S0031-3955(05)70284-4.
- 35. Powers NG, Slusser W. Breastfeeding Update 2: Clinical Lactation Management. *Pediatr Rev.* 1997;18(5):147-161. doi:10.1542/pir.18-5-147.
- 36. Neville MC. Milk Secretion : an Overview. 2014:1-9.
- Hale TW. Pharmacology Review: Drug Therapy and Breastfeeding: Pharmacokinetics, Risk Factors, and Effects on Milk Production. *Neoreviews*. 2004;5(4):e164-e172. doi:10.1542/neo.5-4-e164.
- 38. Ballard O, Morrow AL. Human Milk Composition: Nutrients and Bioctive Factors. *Pediatr Clin North Am.* 2013;60(1):1-24. doi:10.1016/j.pcl.2012.10.002.Human.
- 39. Neville MC, Keller R, Seacat J, et al. Studies in human lactation: Milk volumes in lactating women during the onset of lactation and full lactation. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 1988;48(6):1375-1386.
- 40. Cregan MD, De Mello TR, Kershaw D, McDougall K, Hartmann PE. Initiation of

lactation in women after preterm delivery. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand*. 2002;81(9):870-877. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0412.2002.810913.x.

- 41. Saarela T, Kokkonen J, Koivisto M. Macronutrient and energy contents of human milk fractions during the first six months of lactation. *Acta Paediatr Int J Paediatr*. 2005;94(9):1176-1181. doi:10.1080/08035250510036499.
- 42. Kent JC. Volume and Frequency of Breastfeedings and Fat Content of Breast Milk Throughout the Day. *Pediatrics*. 2006;117(3):e387-e395. doi:10.1542/peds.2005-1417.
- 43. Oftedal OT. The evolution of milk secretion and its ancient origins. In: *Animal*. Vol 6. ; 2012:355-368. doi:10.1017/S1751731111001935.
- 44. Mather IH, Keenan TW. Origin and secretion of milk lipids. *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia*. 1998;3(3):259-273. doi:10.1023/a:1018711410270.
- 45. Hunziker W, Kraehenbuhl JP. Epithelial transcytosis of immunoglobulins. *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia*. 1998;3(3):287-302. doi:10.1023/A:1018715511178.
- 46. Ollivier-Bousquet M. Transferrin and prolactin transcytosis in the lactating mammary epithelial cell. *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia*. 1998;3(3):303-313. doi:10.1023/A:1018767528017.
- 47. Koldovský O. Hormones in Milk. *Vitam Horm*. 1995;50(C):77-149. doi:10.1016/S0083-6729(08)60655-X.
- 48. Goldman AS, Chheda S, Garofalo R, Schmalstieg FC. Cytokines in human milk: Properties and potential effects upon the mammary gland and the neonate. *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia*. 1996;1(3):251-258. doi:10.1007/BF02018078.
- 49. Shennan DB, Peaker M. Transport of milk constituents by the mammary gland. *Physiol Rev.* 2000;80(3):925-951. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10893427.
- 50. Nakamura T, Hashimoto I, Sawada Y, Mikami J. Clinical Studies on Cefuroxime Axetil in Acute Mastitis. *Jpn J Antibiot*. 1987;40(2):340-348. doi:10.11553/antibiotics1968b.40.340.
- 51. Keikha M, Bahreynian M, Saleki M, Kelishadi R. Macro- and Micronutrients of Human Milk Composition: Are They Related to Maternal Diet? A Comprehensive Systematic Review. *Breastfeed Med.* 2017;12(9):bfm.2017.0048. doi:10.1089/bfm.2017.0048.
- 52. Bauer J, Gerss J. Longitudinal analysis of macronutrients and minerals in human milk produced by mothers of preterm infants. *Clin Nutr*. 2011;30(2):215-220. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2010.08.003.
- 53. Andreas NJ, Kampmann B, Mehring Le-Doare K. Human breast milk: A review on its composition and bioactivity. *Early Hum Dev.* 2015;91(11):629-635. doi:10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2015.08.013.

- 54. Lonnerdal B. Nutritional and physiologic significance of human milk proteins. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2003;77(6):1537S-1543S. doi:10.131/nr.2003.sept.295.
- 55. Lönnerdal B. Human milk proteins: key components for the biological activity of human milk. *Adv Exp Med Biol*. 2004;554:11-25. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15384564.
- 56. Jensen RG. *Handbook of Milk Composition Chapter 2.*; 1995. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-384430-9.50004-4.
- 57. Lopez C, Ménard O. Human milk fat globules: Polar lipid composition and in situ structural investigations revealing the heterogeneous distribution of proteins and the lateral segregation of sphingomyelin in the biological membrane. *Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces*. 2011;83(1):29-41. doi:10.1016/j.colsurfb.2010.10.039.
- 58. Koletzko B, Mrotzek M, Bremer HJ. Fatty acid composition of mature human milk in Germany. Am J Clin Nutr. 1988;47(6):954-959. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3376910.
- 59. Valentine CJ, Morrow G, Pennell M, et al. Randomized controlled trial of docosahexaenoic acid supplementation in midwestern U.S. human milk donors. *Breastfeed Med.* 2013;8(1):86-91. doi:10.1089/bfm.2011.0126.
- 60. Coppa G V, Gabrielli O, Pierani P, Catassi C, Carlucci A, Giorgi PL. Changes in carbohydrate composition in human milk over 4 months of lactation. *Pediatrics*. 1993;91(3):637-641. doi:10.1146/ANNUREV.NU.14.070194.001051.
- 61. Gabrielli O, Zampini L, Galeazzi T, et al. Preterm Milk Oligosaccharides During the First Month of Lactation. *Pediatrics*. 2011;128(6):e1520-e1531. doi:10.1542/peds.2011-1206.
- 62. Ward RE, Niñonuevo M, Mills DA, Lebrilla CB, German JB. In vitro fermentation of breast milk oligosaccharides by Bifidobacterium infantis and Lactobacillus gasseri. *Appl Environ Microbiol*. 2006;72(6):4497-4499. doi:10.1128/AEM.02515-05.
- 63. Allen LH. B Vitamins in Breast Milk: Relative Importance of Maternal Status and Intake, and Effects on Infant Status and Function. *Adv Nutr An Int Rev J*. 2012;3(3):362-369. doi:10.3945/an.111.001172.
- 64. Powers HJ. Riboflavin (vitamin B-2) and health. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2003;77(6):1352-1360. doi:10.1074/jbc.M505002200.
- 65. Allen LH. Maternal micronutrient malnutrition: effects on breast milk and infant nutrition, and priorities for intervention. *SCN News*. 1994;(11):21-24.
- 66. Jonker JW, Merino G, Musters S, et al. The breast cancer resistance protein BCRP (ABCG2) concentrates drugs and carcinogenic xenotoxins into milk. *Nat Med*. 2005;11(2):127-129. doi:10.1038/nm1186.
- 67. van Herwaarden AE, Wagenaar E, Merino G, et al. Multidrug transporter ABCG2/breast

cancer resistance protein secretes riboflavin (vitamin B2) into milk. *Mol Cell Biol*. 2007;27(4):1247-1253. doi:10.1128/MCB.01621-06.

- 68. Alex Man Lai Wu, Liana Dedina, Pooja Dalvi, Mingdong Yang, John Leon-Cheon, Brian Earl, Patricia A Harper SI. Riboflavin uptake transporter Slc52a2 (RFVT2) is upregulated in the mouse mammary gland during lactation. 2016. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00507.2015.
- 69. Goldman AS. Modulation of the gastrointestinal tract of infants by human milk. Interfaces and interactions. An evolutionary perspective. *J Nutr*. 2000;130(2S Suppl):426S-431S. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10721920.
- 70. Brandtzaeg P. Mucosal immunity: Integration between mother and the breast-fed infant. In: *Vaccine*. Vol 21. ; 2003:3382-3388. doi:10.1016/S0264-410X(03)00338-4.
- 71. Trend S, De Jong E, Lloyd ML, et al. Leukocyte populations in human preterm and term breast milk identified by multicolour flow cytometry. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(8). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0135580.
- 72. Ichikawa M, Sugita M, Takahashi M, et al. Breast milk macrophages spontaneously produce granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor and differentiate into dendritic cells in the presence of exogenous interleukin-4 alone. *Immunology*. 2003;108(2):189-195. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2567.2003.01572.x.
- 73. Hurley WL, Theil PK. Perspectives on immunoglobulins in colostrum and milk. *Nutrients*. 2011;3(4):442-474. doi:10.3390/nu3040442.
- 74. Lawrence RM, Lawrence RA. Breast milk and infection. *Clin Perinatol*. 2004;31(3):501-528. doi:10.1016/j.clp.2004.03.019.
- Gao X, McMahon RJ, Woo JG, Davidson BS, Morrow AL, Zhang Q. Temporal changes in milk proteomes reveal developing milk functions. *J Proteome Res.* 2012;11(7):3897-3907. doi:10.1021/pr3004002.
- 76. Hanson LÅ, Korotkova M. The role of breastfeeding in prevention of neonatal infection. *Semin Neonatol*. 2002;7(4):275-281. doi:10.1016/S1084-2756(02)90124-7.
- 77. Garofalo R. Cytokines in Human Milk. *J Pediatr*. 2010;156(2):S36-S40. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2009.11.019.
- Ando T, Hatsushika K, Wako M, et al. Orally administered TGF-β is biologically active in the intestinal mucosa and enhances oral tolerance. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*. 2007;120(4):916-923. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2007.05.023.
- Ustundag B, Yilmaz E, Dogan Y, et al. Levels of cytokines (IL-1β, IL-2, IL-6, IL-8, TNFα) and trace elements (Zn, Cu) in breast milk from mothers of preterm and term infants. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2005;2005(6):331-336. doi:10.1155/MI.2005.331.
- 80. Agarwal S, Karmaus W, Davis S, Gangur V. Review: Immune Markers in Breast Milk and Fetal and Maternal Body Fluids: A Systematic Review of Perinatal Concentrations. *J*

Hum Lact. 2011;27(2):171-186. doi:10.1177/0890334410395761.

- Hawkes JS, Bryan D-L, James MJ, Gibson RA. Cytokines (IL-1β, IL-6, TNF-α, TGF-β1, and TGF-β2) and Prostaglandin E2 in Human Milk during the First Three Months Postpartum. *Pediatr Res.* 1999;46(2):194-199. doi:10.1203/00006450-199908000-00012.
- 82. Komatsu M, Kobayashi D, Saito K, et al. Tumor necrosis factor-α in serum of patients with inflammatory bowel disease as measured by a highly sensitive immuno-PCR. *Clin Chem.* 2001;47(7):1297-1301.
- 83. Rudloff HE, Schmalstieg FC, Mushtaha a a, Palkowetz KH, Liu SK, Goldman a S. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha in human milk. *Pediatr Res.* 1992;31(1):29-33. doi:10.1203/00006450-199201000-00005.
- 84. Puzik A, Schultz C, Iblher P, Müller-Steinhardt M, Härtel C. Effects of ciclosporin A, tacrolimus and sirolimus on cytokine production in neonatal immune cells. *Acta Paediatr Int J Paediatr*. 2007;96(10):1483-1489. doi:10.1111/j.1651-2227.2007.00484.x.
- 85. Passmore CM, McElnay JC, D'Arcy PF. Drugs taken by mothers in the puerperium: inpatient survey in Northern Ireland. *Br Med J (Clin Res Ed)*. 1984;289(6458):1593-1596. doi:10.1136/bmj.290.6466.471-a.
- 86. Ito S. Drug therapy for breast-feeding women. N Engl J Med. 2000;343(2):118-126.
- 87. Ito S, Lee A. Drug excretion into breast milk Overview. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* 2003;55(5):617-627. doi:10.1016/S0169-409X(03)00034-6.
- 88. Madadi P, Ross CJD, Hayden MR, et al. Pharmacogenetics of neonatal opioid toxicity following maternal use of codeine during breastfeeding: a case-control study. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2009;85(1):31-35. doi:10.1038/clpt.2008.157.
- 89. Rasmussen F. The mechanism of drug secretion into milk. 1973:231-245.
- 90. Anderson PO, Sauberan JB. Modeling drug passage into human milk. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. 2016;100(1):42-52. doi:10.1002/cpt.377.
- 91. Anderson GD. Using pharmacokinetics to predict the effects of pregnancy and maternal– infant transfer of drugs during lactation. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol*. 2006;2(6):947-960. doi:10.1517/17425255.2.6.947.
- 92. Sachs HC. The transfer of drugs and therapeutics into human breast milk: an update on selected topics. *Pediatrics*. 2013;132(3):e796-809. doi:10.1542/peds.2013-1985.
- 93. Black RF, Jarman L, Simpson JB. Module 3: The Science of Breatsfeeding.
- 94. Ito S, Alcorn J. Xenobiotic transporter expression and function in the human mammary gland. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* 2003;55(5):653-665. doi:10.1016/S0169-409X(03)00031-0.
- 95. Alcorn J, Lu X, Moscow J a, McNamara PJ. Transporter gene expression in lactating and

nonlactating human mammary epithelial cells using real-time reverse transcriptionpolymerase chain reaction. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. 2002;303(2):487-496. doi:10.1124/jpet.102.038315.of.

- 96. Merino G, Jonker JW, Wagenaar E, van Herwaarden AE, Schinkel AH. The breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ABCG2) affects pharmacokinetics, hepatobiliary excretion, and milk secretion of the antibiotic nitrofurantoin. *Mol Pharmacol*. 2005;67(5):1758-1764. doi:10.1124/mol.104.010439.
- Doyle LA, Ross DD. Multidrug resistance mediated by the breast cancer resistance protein BCRP (ABCG2). *Oncogene*. 2003;22(47 REV. ISS. 6):7340-7358. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1206938.
- 98. Pulido MM, Molina AJ, Merino G, Mendoza G, Prieto JG, Alvarez AI. Interaction of enrofloxacin with breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ABCG2): Influence of flavonoids and role in milk secretion in sheep. *J Vet Pharmacol Ther*. 2006;29(4):279-287. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2885.2006.00744.x.
- 99. Imai Y, Tsukahara S, Asada S, Sugimoto Y. Phytoestrogens / Flavonoids Reverse Breast Cancer Resistance Protein / ABCG2-Mediated Multidrug Resistance Phytoestrogens / Flavonoids Reverse Breast Cancer Resistance Protein / ABCG2- Mediated Multidrug Resistance. 2004:4346-4352. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-0078.
- Pérez M, Real R, Mendoza G, Merino G, Prieto JG, Alvarez AI. Milk secretion of nitrofurantoin, as a specific BCRP/ABCG2 substrate, in assaf sheep: Modulation by isoflavones1. *J Vet Pharmacol Ther*. 2009;32(5):498-502. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2885.2008.01050.x.
- Allen JC, Keller RP, Archer P, Neville MC. Studies in human lactation: Milk composition and daily secretion rates of macronutrients in the first year of lactation. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 1991;54(1):69-80.
- 102. Anderson PO, Valdés V. Variation of Milk Intake over Time: Clinical and Pharmacokinetic Implications. *Breastfeed Med.* 2015;10(3):142-144. doi:10.1089/bfm.2014.0170.
- 103. Bennett P, Matheson I, Notarianni LJ, Kane A, Reinhardt D. Drugs and Human Lactation.; 1996. doi:10.1016/B978-044481981-9/50025-4.
- 104. Anderson PO. What Do All the Numbers Mean? *Breastfeed Med.* 2016;11(6):277-279. doi:10.1089/bfm.2016.0076.
- 105. Larsen E, Damkier P, Pedersen L. Clinical overview Use of psychotropic drugs during pregnancy and breast-feeding. 2015;132:1-28. doi:10.1111/acps.12479.
- 106. Ito S, Koren G. A novel index for expressing exposure of the infant to drugs in breast milk. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*. 1994;38(2):99-102. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2125.1994.tb04331.x.
- 107. Richert MM, Schwertfeger KL, Ryder JW, Anderson SM. An atlas of mouse mammary

gland development. *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia*. 2000;5(2):227-241. doi:10.1023/A:1026499523505.

- 108. Hovey RC, McFadden TB, Akers RM. Regulation of mammary gland growth and morphogenesis by the mammary fat pad: a species comparison. *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia*. 1999;4(1):53-68. doi:10.1023/A:1018704603426.
- 109. Peddlesden J. Drugs in breastmilk. *Pharm Pract (Granada)*. 2005;21(8):1-9.
- Edginton AN. Using Physiologically Based Pharmacokinetic Modeling for Mechanistic Insight: Cases of Reverse Translation. *Clin Transl Sci.* 2017;(September):1-3. doi:10.1111/cts.12517.
- 111. Gerlowski LE, Jain RK. Physiologically based pharmacokinetic modeling: Principles and applications. *J Pharm Sci.* 1983;72(10):1103-1127. doi:10.1002/jps.2600721003.
- 112. Khalil F, Läer S. Physiologically based pharmacokinetic modeling: methodology, applications, and limitations with a focus on its role in pediatric drug development. *J Biomed Biotechnol*. 2011;2011:907461. doi:10.1155/2011/907461.
- 113. Elliott AB, Chakravarty EF. Immunosuppressive Medications during Pregnancy and Lactation in Women with Autoimmune Diseases. *Women's Heal*. 2010;6(3):431-442. doi:10.2217/WHE.10.24.
- Content and format of labeling for human prescription drug and biological products; requirements for pregnancy and lactation labeling. Final rule. *Fed Regist*. 2014;79(233):72063-72103. doi:10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004.
- 115. Hazes JMW, Silman AJ. Rheumatoid Arthritis. Br J Rheumatol. 1990:310-312.
- 116. Huizinga TW., Pincus T. Rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Intern Med.* 2010;153(1):ITC1-1-ITC1-16. doi:10.1016/B978-0-7020-5514-0.00079-8.
- 117. Brennan P, Silman A. Breastfeeding and the onset of rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*. 1994;37(6):808-813. doi:10.1002/art.1780370605.
- 118. Silman A, Kay A, Brennan P. Timing of pregnancy in relation to the onset of rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*. 1992;35(2):152-155.
- 119. Sammaritano LR, Bermas BL. Rheumatoid arthritis medications and lactation. *Curr Opin Rheumatol*. 2014;26(3):354-360. doi:10.1097/BOR.00000000000055.
- Bloor M, Paech M. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs during pregnancy and the initiation of lactation. *Anesth Analg.* 2013;116(5):1063-1075. doi:10.1213/ANE.0b013e31828a4b54.
- 121. Braun J. Methotrexate: optimizing the efficacy in rheumatoid arthritis. *Ther Adv Musculoskelet Dis.* 2011;3(3):151-158. doi:10.1177/1759720X11408635.

- 122. Ngian GS, Briggs AM, Ackerman IN, Van Doornum S. Safety of anti-rheumatic drugs for rheumatoid arthritis in pregnancy and lactation. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2016;19(9):834-843. doi:10.1111/1756-185X.12860.
- 123. Pincus T, Gibson K a., Castrejón I. Update on methotrexate as the anchor drug for rheumatoid arthritis. *Bull NYU Hosp Jt Dis*. 2013;71(SUPPL.1):9-19.
- 124. Kumar P, Banik S. Pharmacotherapy options in rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Med Insights Arthritis Musculoskelet Disord*. 2013;6:35-43. doi:10.4137/CMAMD.S5558.
- Lloyd ME, Carr M, Mcelhatton P, Hall GM, Hughes RA. The effects of methotrexate on pregnancy, fertility and lactation. *Qjm.* 1999;92(10):551-563. doi:10.1093/qjmed/92.10.551.
- 126. de Man YA, Dolhain RJEM, van de Geijn FE, Willemsen SP, Hazes JMW. Disease activity of rheumatoid arthritis during pregnancy: results from a nationwide prospective study. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2008;59(9):1241-1248. doi:10.1002/art.24003.
- 127. Cronstein BN. Low-Dose Methotrexate : A Mainstay in the Treatment of Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Rev Pharmacol*. 2005;57(2):163-172. doi:10.1124/pr.57.2.3.mittently.
- 128. Murakami T, Mori N. Involvement of multiple transporters-mediated transports in mizoribine and methotrexate pharmacokinetics. *Pharmaceuticals*. 2012;5(8):802-836. doi:10.3390/ph5080802.
- 129. Tian H, Cronstein BN. Understanding the mechanisms of action of methotrexate: Implications for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Bull NYU Hosp Jt Dis*. 2007;65(3):168-173.
- 130. Dervieux T, Furst D, Lein DO, et al. Polyglutamation of methotrexate with common polymorphisms in reduced folate carrier, aminoimidazole carboxamide ribonucleotide transformylase, and thymidylate synthase are associated with methotrexate effects in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2004;50(9):2766-2774. doi:10.1002/art.20460.
- 131. Jacobs SA, Stoller RG, Chabner BA, Johns DG. 7-Hydroxymethotrexate as a urinary metabolite in human subjects and rhesus monkeys receiving high dose methotrexate. *J Clin Invest*. 1976;57(2):534-538. doi:10.1172/JCI108308.
- 132. Bannwarth B, Péhourcq F, Schaeverbeke T, Dehais J. Clinical pharmacokinetics of lowdose pulse methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 1996;30(3):194-210. doi:10.2165/00003088-199630030-00002.
- 133. van der Heijden JW, Dijkmans BAC, Scheper RJ, Jansen G. Drug Insight: resistance to methotrexate and other disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs--from bench to bedside. *Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol.* 2007;3(1):26-34. doi:10.1038/ncprheum0380.
- 134. Ifergan I, Jansen G, Assaraf YG. The reduced folate carrier (RFC) is cytotoxic to cells under conditions of severe folate deprivation: RFC as a double edged sword in folate homeostasis. *J Biol Chem.* 2008;283(30):20687-20695. doi:10.1074/jbc.M802812200.

- 135. Goldman ID. The Characteristics of the Membrane Transport of Amethopterin and the Naturally Occurring Folates. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 1971;186(1):400-422. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.1971.tb46996.x.
- Qiu A, Jansen M, Sakaris A, et al. Identification of an Intestinal Folate Transporter and the Molecular Basis for Hereditary Folate Malabsorption. *Cell*. 2006;127(5):917-928. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.09.041.
- 137. Van De Steeg E, Van Der Kruijssen CMM, Wagenaar E, et al. Methotrexate pharmacokinetics in transgenic mice with liver- specific expression of human organic anion-transporting polypeptide 1B1 (SLCO1B1). *Drug Metab Dispos*. 2009;37(2):277-281. doi:10.1124/dmd.108.024315.
- 138. Treviño LR, Shimasaki N, Yang W, et al. Germline genetic variation in an organic anion transporter polypeptide associated with methotrexate pharmacokinetics and clinical effects. *J Clin Oncol.* 2009;27(35):5972-5978. doi:10.1200/JCO.2008.20.4156.
- 139. Lopez-Lopez E, Martin-Guerrero I, Ballesteros J, et al. Polymorphisms of the SLCO1B1 gene predict methotrexate-related toxicity in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Pediatr Blood Cancer*. 2011;57(4):612-619. doi:10.1002/pbc.23074.
- 140. Chen ZS, Robey RW, Belinsky MG, et al. Transport of methotrexate, methotrexate polyglutamates, and 17beta-estradiol 17-(beta-D-glucuronide) by ABCG2: Effects of acquired mutations at R482 on methotrexate transport. *Cancer Res.* 2003;63(14):4048-4054.
- 141. Volk EL, Schneider E. Wild-Type Breast Cancer Resistance Protein (BCRP / ABCG2) is a Methotrexate Polyglutamate Transporter 1. 2003:5538-5543.
- 142. Breedveld P, Pluim D, Cipriani G, et al. The Effect of Low pH on Breast Cancer Resistance Protein (ABCG2) - Mediated Transport of Methotrexate , 7-Hydroxymethotrexate , Methotrexate Diglutamate , Folic Acid , Mitoxantrone , Topotecan , and Resveratrol in In Vitro Drug Transport Models. *Mol Pharmacol*. 2007;71(1):240-249. doi:10.1124/mol.106.028167.properties.
- 143. Takeda M, Khamdang S, Narikawa S, et al. Characterization of methotrexate transport and its drug interactions with human organic anion transporters. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. 2002;302(2):666-671. doi:10.1124/jpet.102.034330.
- 144. Maeda A, Tsuruoka S, Ushijima K, et al. Drug interaction between celecoxib and methotrexate in organic anion transporter 3-transfected renal cells and in rats in vivo. *Eur J Pharmacol.* 2010;640(1-3):168-171. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2010.04.051.
- 145. Ramsey LB, Panetta JC, Smith C, et al. Genome-wide study of methotrexate clearance replicates SLCO1B1. 2017;121(6):898-905. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-08-452839.The.
- 146. Mikkaichi T, Suzuki T, Onogawa T, et al. Isolation and characterization of a digoxin transporter and its rat homologue expressed in the kidney. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*. 2004;101(10):3569-3574. doi:10.1073/pnas.0304987101.
- 147. Spinella MJ, Brigle KE, Sierra EE, Goldman ID. Distinguishing between folate receptoralpha-mediated transport and reduced folate carrier-mediated transport in L1210 leukemia cells. *J Biol Chem.* 1995;270(14):7842-7849. doi:10.1074/jbc.270.14.7842.
- 148. Bakos E, Evers R, Sinkó E, Váradi a, Borst P, Sarkadi B. Interactions of the human multidrug resistance proteins MRP1 and MRP2 with organic anions. *Mol Pharmacol*. 2000;57(4):760-768. doi:10.1124/mol.57.4.760.
- 149. Vlaming MLH, van Esch A, Pala Z, et al. Abcc2 (Mrp2), Abcc3 (Mrp3), and Abcg2 (Bcrp1) are the main determinants for rapid elimination of methotrexate and its toxic metabolite 7-hydroxymethotrexate in vivo. *Mol Cancer Ther*. 2009;8(12):3350-3359. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-09-0668.
- 150. Tanaka T, Walsh W, Verjee Z et al. Methotrexate use in a lactating woman with an ectopic pregnancy [abstract]. *Birth Defects Res Clin Mol Teratol*. 2009;85:494. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00133.2004.
- 151. Wielinga P, Hooijberg JH, Gunnarsdottir S, et al. The human multidrug resistance protein MRP5 transports folates and can mediate cellular resistance against antifolates. *Cancer Res.* 2005;65(10):4425-4430. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-2810.
- 152. Kneuer C, Honscha KU, Honscha W. Rat reduced-folate carrier-1 is localized basolaterally in MDCK kidney epithelial cells and contributes to the secretory transport of methotrexate and fluoresceinated methotrexate. *Cell Tissue Res.* 2005;320(3):517-524. doi:10.1007/s00441-005-1092-x.
- American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Drugs. The Transfer of Drugs and Other Chemicals Into Human Milk. *Pediatrics*. 1994;93(1):137-150. doi:10.1542/peds.108.3.776.
- American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Drugs. The Transfer of Drugs and Other Chemicals Into Human Milk. *Pediatrics*. 2001;108(3):776-789. doi:10.1542/peds.108.3.776.
- 155. Huang VW-M, Chang H-J, Kroeker KI, et al. Management of Inflammatory Bowel Disease during Pregnancy and Breastfeeding Varies Widely: A Need for Further Education. *Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol*. 2016;2016:6193275. doi:10.1155/2016/6193275.
- 156. Johns D, Rutherford L, Leighton P, CL V. Secretion of methotrexate into human milk. *Am J Obstet Gynecol Gynecol*. 1972:978-980.
- 157. Thorne JC, Nadarajah T, Moretti M, Ito S. Methotrexate use in a breastfeeding patient with rheumatoid arthritis. *J Rheumatol*. 2014;41(11):2332. doi:10.3899/jrheum.140263.
- 158. Gaynes BN, Gavin N, Meltzer-Brody S, et al. Perinatal depression: prevalence, screening accuracy, and screening outcomes. *Evid Rep Technol Assess (Summ)*. 2005;(119):1-8.
- 159. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders,

5th Edition (DSM-5). *Diagnostic Stat Man Ment Disord 4th Ed TR*. 2013:280. doi:10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596.744053.

- Logsdon MC, Wisner KL, Pinto-Foltz MD. The impact of postpartum depression on mothering. JOGNN - J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. 2006;35(5):652-658. doi:10.1111/j.1552-6909.2006.00087.x.
- 161. Murray L, Fiori-Cowley A, Hooper R, Cooper P. The Impact of Postnatal Depression and Associated Adversity on Early Mother-Infant Interactions and Later Infant Outcome. *Child Dev.* 1996;67(5):2512-2526. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.1996.tb01871.x.
- 162. Cornish AM, McMahon CA, Ungerer JA, Barnett B, Kowalenko N, Tennant C. Postnatal depression and infant cognitive and motor development in the second postnatal year: The impact of depression chronicity and infant gender. *Infant Behav Dev.* 2005;28(4):407-417. doi:10.1016/j.infbeh.2005.03.004.
- Pearlstein TB, Zlotnick C, Battle CL, et al. Patient choice of treatment for postpartum depression: A pilot study. *Arch Womens Ment Health*. 2006;9(6):303-308. doi:10.1007/s00737-006-0145-9.
- 164. Weijerman M, Winter J. Clinical practice. *Eur J Pediatr*. 2010;169(12):1445. doi:10.1007/s00431-011-1451-4.
- 165. Product Monograph. Cipralex Product monograph. Packag (Boston, Mass). 2009:1-50.
- 166. Tiwari BD, Shikare ON, Sontakke AM. Bioequivalence Study: Overview. *J Pharm Sci Innov.* 2014;3(5):421-424. doi:10.7897/2277-4572.035187.
- 167. Rao N. The clinical pharmacokinetics of escitalopram. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 2007;46(4):281-290. doi:10.2165/00003088-200746040-00002.
- Søgaard B, Mengel H, Rao N, Larsen F. The Pharmacokinetics of Escitalopram After Oral and Intravenous Administration of Single and Multiple Doses to Healthy Subjects. *J Clin Pharmacol.* 2005;45(12):1400-1406. doi:10.1177/0091270005280860.
- 169. Cesario Bellantuono, Francesca Bozzi LO and MC-D. The safety of escitalopram during pregnancy and breastfeeding: a comprehensive review Cesario. *Hum Psychopharmacol Clin Exp.* 2012;27:534-539. doi:10.1002/hup.
- 170. Illett K. Estimation of Infant Dose and Assessment of Breastfeeding Safety for Escitalopram Use in Postnatal Depression [abstract]. *Ther Drug Monit*. 2005;27(2):248.
- 171. Rampono J, Hackett LP, Kristensen JH, Kohan R, Page-Sharp M, Ilett KF. Transfer of escitalopram and its metabolite demethylescitalopram into breastmilk. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*. 2006;62(3):316-322. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2125.2006.02659.x.
- 172. Gentile S. Escitalopram late in pregnancy and while breast-feeding [5]. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2006;40(9):1696-1697. doi:10.1345/aph.1H154.

- 173. Castberg I, Spigset O. Excretion of escitalopram in breast milk. *J Clin Psychopharmacol*. 2006;26(5):536-538. doi:10.1097/01.jcp.0000231607.45402.b4.
- 174. Potts AL, Young KL, Carter BS, Shenai JP. Necrotizing enterocolitis associated with in utero and breast milk exposure to the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor, escitalopram. *J Perinatol*. 2007;27(2):120-1222. doi:10.1038/sj.jp.7211640.
- 175. Molodecky NA, Soon IS, Rabi DM, et al. Increasing incidence and prevalence of the inflammatory bowel diseases with time, based on systematic review. *Gastroenterology*. 2012;142(1). doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2011.10.001.
- Gisbert JP, Chaparro M. Safety of Anti-TNF Agents During Pregnancy and Breastfeeding in Women With Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Am J Gastroenterol*. 2013;108(9):1426-1438. doi:10.1038/ajg.2013.171.
- 177. Mottet C, Juillerat P, Pittet V, et al. Pregnancy and Breastfeeding in Patients with Crohn's Disease. *Digestion*. 2007;76(2):149-160. doi:10.1159/000111030.
- Mahadevan U, Kane S. American Gastroenterological Association Institute Technical Review on the Use of Gastrointestinal Medications in Pregnancy. *Gastroenterology*. 2006;131(1):283-311. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2006.04.049.
- 179. Habal FM, Kapila V. Inflammatory bowel disease and pregnancy: Evidence, uncertainty and patient decision-making. *Can J Gastroenterol*. 2009;23(1):49-53. doi:10.1155/2009/531638.
- 180. Triantafillidis JK, Merikas E, Georgopoulos F. Current and emerging drugs for the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease. *Drug Des Devel Ther*. 2011;5:185-210. doi:10.2147/DDDT.S11290.
- 181. Murch SH, Braegger CP, Macdonald TT. Location of tumour necrosis factor a by immunohistochemistry in chronic inflammatory bowel disease. 1993:1705-1709.
- 182. Van UM, Cucchiara S, Hyams JS, et al. The London Position Statement of the World Congress of Gastroenterology on Biological Therapy for IBD With the European Crohn ' s and Colitis Organization : Pregnancy and Pediatrics. *Am J Gastroenterol*. 2011;106(610):214-224. doi:10.1038/ajg.2010.464.
- 183. Nielsen OH, Loftus Jr. E V, Jess T. Safety of TNF-alpha inhibitors during IBD pregnancy: a systematic review. *BMC Med.* 2013;11(1):174. doi:10.1186/1741-7015-11-174.
- 184. Baker DE. Certolizumab pegol for the treatment of Crohns disease. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol*. 2009;5(6):683-691. doi:10.1586/eci.09.48.
- Dele Davies H. Infectious complications with the use of biologic response modifiers in infants and children. *Pediatrics*. 2016;138(2):e20161209-e20161209. doi:10.1542/peds.2016-1209.

- Bell SJ, Kamm MA. Review article: The clinical role of anti-TNFalpha antibody treatment in Crohn's disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*. 2000;14:501-514. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2036.2000.00777.x.
- 187. Klotz U, Teml A, Schwab M. Clinical pharmacokinetics and use of infliximab. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 2007;46(8):645-660. doi:10.2165/00003088-200746080-00002.
- Hemperly A, Vande Casteele N. Clinical Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Infliximab in the Treatment of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 2018. doi:10.1007/s40262-017-0627-0.
- 189. Ordás I, Mould DR, Feagan BG, Sandborn WJ. Anti-TNF monoclonal antibodies in inflammatory bowel disease: Pharmacokinetics-based dosing paradigms. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. 2012;91(4):635-646. doi:10.1038/clpt.2011.328.
- 190. Vasiliauskas EA, Church JA, Silverman N, Barry M, Targan SR, Dubinsky MC. Case Report: Evidence for Transplacental Transfer of Maternally Administered Infliximab to the Newborn. 2006;(Cd):1255-1258. doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2006.07.018.
- 191. Stengel JZ, Arnold HL. Is infliximab safe to use while breastfeeding? *World J Gastroenterol*. 2008;14(19):3085-3087. doi:10.3748/wjg.14.3085.
- 192. Kane S, Ford J, Cohen R, Wagner C. Absence of infliximab in infants and breast milk from nursing mothers receiving therapy for crohn's disease before and after delivery. *J Clin Gastroenterol*. 2009;43(7):613-616. doi:10.1097/MCG.0b013e31817f9367.
- 193. Peltier M, James D, Ford J. Infliximab levels in breast-milk of a nursing Crohn's Patient [abstract]. *Am J Gastroenterol*. 2001;96:P258.
- 194. Ben-Horin S, Yavzori M, Kopylov U, et al. Detection of infliximab in breast milk of nursing mothers with inflammatory bowel disease. *J Crohn's Colitis*. 2011;5(6):555-558. doi:10.1016/j.crohns.2011.05.006.
- 195. Grosen A, Julsgaard M, Kelsen J, Christensen LA. Infliximab concentrations in the milk of nursing mothers with inflammatory bowel disease. *J Crohn's Colitis*. 2014;8(2):175-176. doi:10.1016/j.crohns.2013.09.003.
- 196. Fritzsche J, Pilch A, Mury D, Schaefer C, Weber-Schoendorfer C. Infliximab and adalimumab use during breastfeeding. *J Clin Gastroenterol*. 2012;46(8):718-719. doi:10.1097/MCG.0b013e31825f2807.
- 197. Willrich MA V., Murray DL, Barnidge DR, Ladwig PM, Snyder MR. Quantitation of infliximab using clonotypic peptides and selective reaction monitoring by LC-MS/MS. *Int Immunopharmacol.* 2015;28(1):513-520. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2015.07.007.
- 198. Rezk NL, White N, Bridges AS, et al. Studies on antiretroviral drug concentrations in breast milk: Validation of a liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometric method for the determination of 7 anti-human immunodeficiency virus medications. *Ther Drug Monit.* 2008;30(5):611-619. doi:10.1097/FTD.0b013e318186e08e.

- 199. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. Evaluation of the Linearity of Quantitative Measurement Procedures: A Statistical Approach, Approved Guideline. NCCLS Document EP6-A. Vol 23.; 2003. http://shopping.netsuite.com/c.1253739/site/Sample\_pdf/EP06A\_sample.pdf.
- Clinical And Laboratory Standards Institute. Evaluation of Detection Capability for Clinical Laboratory Measurement Procedures; Approved Guidance-Second Edition. *Ep17-*A2. 2012;32(8).
- 201. Haeckel R. Recommendations for definition and determination of carry-over effects. *J Automat Chem.* 1988;10(4):181-183. doi:10.1155/S1463924688000380.
- 202. Montesinos MC, Desai A, Cronstein BN. Suppression of inflammation by low-dose methotrexate is mediated by adenosine A2A receptor but not A3 receptor activation in thioglycollate-induced peritonitis. *Arthritis Res Ther*. 2006;8(2):R53. doi:10.1186/ar1914.
- CLSI. C62-A: Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry Methods; Approved Guideline. CLSI - Clin Lab Stand Inst. 2014. http://shop.clsi.org/chemistrydocuments/C62.html.
- 204. Tanoshima R, Bournissen FG, Tanigawara Y, et al. Population PK modelling and simulation based on fluoxetine and norfluoxetine concentrations in milk : a prediction model. 2014. doi:10.1111/bcp.12409.
- 205. Kent JC, Mitoulas LR, Cregan MD, et al. Volume and Frequency of Breastfeedings and Fat Content of Breast Milk Throughout the Day. *Pediatrics*. 2013;117(3):e387-95. doi:10.1542/peds.2005-1417.
- 206. Maharaj a R, Barrett JS, Edginton a N. A workflow example of PBPK modeling to support pediatric research and development: case study with lorazepam. AAPS J. 2013;15(2):455-464. doi:10.1208/s12248-013-9451-0.
- Rodgers T, Rowland M. Physiologically based pharmacokinetic modelling 2: Predicting the tissue distribution of acids, very weak bases, neutrals and zwitterions. *J Pharm Sci*. 2006;95(6):1238-1257. doi:10.1002/jps.20502.
- 208. Choudhary NH, Kumbhar MS, Dighe DA, Mujgond PS, Singh MC. Solubility enhancement of escitalopram oxalate using hydrotrope. *Int J Pharm Pharm Sci*. 2013;5(1):121-125.
- 209. Malling D, Poulsen MN, Søgaard B. The effect of cimetidine or omeprazole on the pharmacokinetics of escitalopram in healthy subjects. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*. 2005;60(3):287-290. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2125.2005.02423.x.
- 210. Periclou A, Rao N, Sherman T, Ventura D AW. Single-dose pharmacokinetic study of escitalopram in adolescents and adults. 2003;10:1361-1362.
- 211. Daniel Ocampo EM, Yepes N. Bioequivalence Study of Two Formulations of Escitalopram Oxalate 20 mg Tablets in Healthy Volunteers. *J Bioequiv Availab*.

2015;07(05):205-209. doi:10.4172/jbb.1000241.

- 212. Areberg J, Christophersen JS, Poulsen MN, Larsen F, Molz K-H. The pharmacokinetics of escitalopram in patients with hepatic impairment. *AAPS J*. 2006;8(1):E14-9. doi:10.1208/aapsj080102.
- 213. Gutierrez MM, Rosenberg J, Abramowitz W. An evaluation of the potential for pharmacokinetic interaction between escitalopram and the cytochrome P450 3A4 inhibitor ritonavir. *Clin Ther*. 2003;25(4):1200-1210. doi:10.1016/S0149-2918(03)80076-0.
- 214. Edginton AN, Schmitt W, Willmann S. Development and evaluation of a generic physiologically based pharmacokinetic model for children. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 2006;45(10):1013-1034.
- 215. Willmann S, Höhn K, Edginton A, et al. Development of a physiology-based whole-body population model for assessing the influence of individual variability on the pharmacokinetics of drugs. *J Pharmacokinet Pharmacodyn*. 2007;34(3):401-431. doi:10.1007/s10928-007-9053-5.
- 216. Von Moltke LL, Greenblatt DJ, Giancarlo GM, Granda BW, Harmatz JS, Shader RI. Escitalopram (S-citalopram) and its metabolites in vitro: Cytochromes mediating biotransformation, inhibitory effects, and comparison to R-citalopram. *Drug Metab Dispos*. 2001;29(8):1102-1109. doi:10.1097/00007691-200310000-00010.
- Meyer M, Schneckener S, Ludewig B, Kuepfer L, Lippert J. Using Expression Data for Quantification of Active Processes in Physiologically Based Pharmacokinetic Modeling. 2012;40(5):892-901.
- 218. Ohtsuki S, Schaefer O, Kawakami H, et al. Simultaneous Absolute Protein Quantification of Transporters, Cytochrome P450s and UDP-glucuronosyltransferases as a Novel Approach for the Characterization of Individual Human Liver: Comparison with mRNA Levels and Activities. *Drug Metab Dispos*. 2011;40(1):83-92. doi:10.1124/dmd.111.042259.
- 219. Zhao R, Diop-Bove N, Visentin M, Goldman ID. Mechanisms of membrane transport of folates into cells and across epithelia. *Annu Rev Nutr*. 2011;31(AUGUST 2010):177-201. doi:10.1146/annurev-nutr-072610-145133.
- 220. Lim HS, Mackey AD, Tamura T, Wong SC, Picciano MF. Measurable human milk folate is increased by treatment with a-amylase and protease in addition to folate conjugase. *Food Chem.* 1998;63(3):401-407. doi:10.1016/S0308-8146(98)00054-5.
- 221. Sane R. The Effect of ABCG2 and ABCC4 on the Pharmacokinetics of Methotrexate in the Brain. *Drug Metab Dispos*. 2014;(April):537-540.
- 222. Stewart DE, Vigod S. Postpartum Depression. *N Engl J Med.* 2016;375(22):2177-2186. doi:10.1056/NEJMcp1607649.
- 223. Bennett P. Use of the Monographs on Drugs. Elsevier; 1996.

- 224. Delaney SR, Malik PRV, Stefan C, Edginton AN, Colantonio DA IS. Predicting escitalopram exposure to breastfeeding infants: integrating analytical and in sillico techniques. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 2018. doi:10.1007/s40262-018-0657-2.
- 225. CLSI. Evaluation of precision of quantitative measurement procedures ; approved guideline—third edition. *Wayne CLSI*. 2014:CLSI document EP05-A3.
- 226. Beer PM, Wong SJ, Schartman JP, et al. Infliximab stability after reconstitution, dilution, and storage under refrigeration. *Retina*. 2010;30(1):81-84. doi:10.1097/IAE.0b013e3181b48fb4.
- 227. Schiff MH, Jaffe JS, Freundlich B. Head-to-head, randomised, crossover study of oral versus subcutaneous methotrexate in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: drug-exposure limitations of oral methotrexate at doses ≥15 mg may be overcome with subcutaneous administration. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73:1549-1551. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-205228.
- 228. Gilani STA, Khan DA, Khan FA, Ahmed M. Adverse effects of low dose methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis patients. *J Coll Physicians Surg Pak*. 2012;22(2):101-104. doi:02.2012/JCPSP.101104.
- Barrett JH, Brennan P, Fiddler M, Silman AJ. Does rheumatoid arthritis remit during pregnancy and relapse postpartum?: Results from a nationwide study in the United Kingdom performed prospectively from late pregnancy. *Arthritis Rheum*. 1999;42(6):1219-1227. doi:10.1002/1529-0131(199906)42:6<1219::AID-ANR19>3.0.CO;2-G.
- 230. Niehues T, Lankisch P. Recommendations for the Use of Methotrexate in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. *Pediatr Drugs*. 2006;8(6):347-356.
- 231. Newman LM, Johnson EM, Staplest RE. Assessment of the Effectiveness of Animal Developmental Toxicity Testing for Human Safety. *Reprod Toxicol*. 1993;7(6):359-390.
- 232. Seideman P, Beck O, Eksborg S, Wennberg M. The Pharmacokinetics of Methotrexate and its 7-Hydroxy Metabolite in Patients with Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*. 1993;35(4):409-412. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2125.1993.tb04158.x.
- 233. O'Connor DL, Tamura T, Picciano MF. Pteroylpolyglutamates in Human Milk. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 1991;53(4):930-934.
- McGuire JJ, Mini E, Hsieh P, Bertino JR. Role of Methotrexate Polyglutamates in Methotrexate- and Sequential Methotrexate-5-Fluorouracil-mediated Cell Kill. *Cancer Res.* 1985;45(December):6395-6400.
- 235. Gradhand U, Kim RB. Pharmacogenomics of MRP transporters (ABCC1-5) and BCRP (ABCG2). *Drug Metab Rev.* 2008;40(2):317-354. doi:10.1080/03602530801952617.
- 236. Holm J, Hansen SI, Lyngbye J. Effect of Methotrexate on Folate Binding to a Folate Binding Protein in Cow's Milk. *Acta Pharmacol Toxicol (Copenh)*. 1978;42(1):77-80.

doi:10.1111/j.1600-0773.1978.tb02172.x.

- 237. Selhub J, Ph D, Arnold R, Smith AM, Picciano MF, Ph D. Milk Folate Binding Protein (FBP): A Secretory Protein for Folate? *Nutr Res.* 1984;4(c):181-187.
- 238. Breen C, Crowe A, Roelfsema HJ, Saluja IS, Guenter D. High-dose riboflavin for prophylaxis of migraine. *Can Fam Physician*. 2003;49:1291-1293.
- 239. Lebbe C, Beyeler C, Gerber NJ, Reichen J. Intraindividual variability of the bioavailability of low dose methotrexate after oral administration in rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 1994;53(7):475-477.
- 240. Kronenfeld N, Berlin M, Shaniv D, Berkovitch M. Use of Psychotropic Medications in Breastfeeding Women. *Birth Defects Res.* 2017;109(12):957-997. doi:10.1002/bdr2.1077.
- 241. Sriraman NK, Melvin K. ABM Clinical Protocol #18: Use of Antidepressants in Breastfeeding Mothers. *Breastfeed Med*. 2015;10(6). doi:10.1089/bfm.2015.29002.
- 242. Previti G, Pawlby S, Chowdhury S, Aguglia E, Pariante CM. Neurodevelopmental outcome for offspring of women treated for antenatal depression: a systematic review. *Arch Womens Ment Health.* 2014;17(6):471-483. doi:10.1007/s00737-014-0457-0.
- 243. Cummings EM, Davies PT. Maternal depression and child development. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry Allied Discip.* 1994;35(1):73-112. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.1994.tb01133.x.
- Gorman JR, Kao K, Chambers CD. Breastfeeding among women exposed to antidepressants during pregnancy. *J Hum Lact*. 2012;28(2):181-188. doi:10.1177/0890334411429782.
- 245. Waugh J, Goa KL. Escitalopram A review of its use in the management of major depressive and anxiety disorders. *CNS Drugs*. 2003;17(5):343-362. doi:10.2165/00023210-200317050-00004.
- 246. Hicks JK, Swen JJ, Thorn CF, et al. Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium Guideline for CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 Genotypes and Dosing of Tricyclic Antidepressants. 2013;93(5). doi:10.1038/clpt.2013.2.
- 247. Stevens JC, Marsh S a, Zaya MJ, et al. Developmental changes in human liver CYP2D6 expression. *Drug Metab Dispos*. 2008;36(8):1587-1593. doi:10.1124/dmd.108.021873.
- 248. Mukherjee A, Dombi T, Wittke B, Lalonde R. Population pharmacokinetics of sildenafil in term neonates: Evidence of rapid maturation of metabolic clearance in the early postnatal period. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. 2009;85(1):56-63. doi:10.1038/clpt.2008.177.
- 249. Rudberg I, Mohebi B, Hermann M, Refsum H, Molden E. Impact of the ultrarapid CYP2C19\*17 allele on serum concentration of escitalopram in psychiatric patients. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2008;83(2):322-327. doi:10.1038/sj.clpt.6.
- 250. Hodgson K, Tansey K, Dernovšek MZ, et al. Genetic differences in cytochrome P450

enzymes and antidepressant treatment response. J Psychopharmacol. 2014;28(282):133-141. doi:10.1177/0269881113512041.

- 251. Rodier PM. Developing brain as a target of toxicity. *Environ Health Perspect*. 1995;103(SUPPL. 6):73-76. doi:10.1289/ehp.95103s673.
- Nordeng H, Lindemann R, Perminov K V, Reikvam a. Neonatal withdrawal syndrome after in utero exposure to selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. *Acta Paediatr*. 2001;90(3):288-291. doi:10.1080/080352501300067596.
- 253. Laine K, Heikkinen T, Ekblad U, Kero P. Effects of exposure to selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors during pregnancy on serotonergic symptoms in newborns and cord blood monoamine and prolactin concentrations. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2003;60(7):720-726. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.60.7.720.
- 254. Razonable RR, Henault M, Watson HL, Paya C V. Nystatin induces secretion of interleukin (IL)-1-beta, IL-8, and tumor necrosis factor alpha by a toll-like receptordependent mechanism. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2005;49(8):3546-3549. doi:10.1128/AAC.49.8.3546-3549.2005.
- 255. Bagatini F, Blatt CR, Maliska G, et al. Potential drug interactions in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Rev Bras Reumatol*. 2011;51(1):20-39. doi:10.1590/S0482-50042011000100003.
- 256. Colombel JF, Sandborn WJ, Reinisch W, et al. Infliximab, azathioprine, or combination therapy for Crohn's disease. *N Engl J Med*. 2010;362(15):1383-1395. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0904492.
- 257. Mahadevan U, Wolf DC, Dubinsky M, et al. Placental transfer of anti-tumor necrosis factor agents in pregnant patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol*. 2013;11(3):286-92; quiz e24. doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2012.11.011.
- Zelinkova Z, De Haar C, De Ridder L, et al. High intra-uterine exposure to infliximab following maternal anti-TNF treatment during pregnancy. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*. 2011;33(9):1053-1058. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2036.2011.04617.x.
- 259. He W, Ladinsky MS, Huey-Tubman KE, Jensen GJ, McIntosh JR, Björkman PJ. FcRnmediated antibody transport across epithelial cells revealed by electron tomography. *Nature*. 2008;455(7212):542-546. doi:10.1038/nature07255.
- 260. Cianga C, Cianga P, Plamadeala P, Amalinei C. Nonclassical major histocompatibility complex I-like Fc neonatal receptor (FcRn) expression in neonatal human tissues. *Hum Immunol.* 2011;72(12):1176-1187. doi:10.1016/j.humimm.2011.08.020.
- 261. Jasion VS, Burnett BP. Survival and digestibility of orally-administered immunoglobulin preparations containing IgG through the gastrointestinal tract in humans. *Nutr J*. 2015;14(1). doi:10.1186/s12937-015-0010-7.
- 262. Lindberg T, Ohlsson K, Weström B. Protease inhibitors and their relation to protease

activity in human milk. *Pediatr Res.* 1982;483(1 982):479-483. http://www.nature.com/pr/journal/v16/n6/abs/pr1982131a.html.

263. Liu B, Zupan B, Laird E, et al. Maternal hematopoietic TNF, via milk chemokines, programs hippocampal development and memory. *Nat Neurosci*. 2014;17(1):97-105. doi:10.1038/nn.3596.

# Appendices

# Appendix A – DLAC Study Questionnaire (Version 6, January 23, 2018)



Office Use Only
Participant ID #

1

# Drugs in Lactation Analysis Consortium Study Questionnaire

Please complete all questions to the best of your ability. Thank you.

	Month of Birth (mm)	Year of Birth ( <b>yyyy</b> )
Mother		
Infant		

2. Your baby's age in weeks (Please answer this question if your baby is younger than 6 months old)

3. Your baby is: 
Female 
Male

4. How long was your recent pregnancy (in weeks)?

weeks

5. Type of your delivery: Vaginal delivery 

Cesarean section

- Did you/your baby <u>experienced</u> any pregnancy-related problems? Yes □ No □ If "Yes" please explain
- 7. What was your baby's birth weight?
- 8. Were you regularly taking any medication during pregnancy? Yes 
   No 
   No 
   If "Yes" please list the medication(s)

9. Medication in question that you are currently taking (please circle and include dosage):

Bupropion (Wellbutrin)	mg	_times per	day
Citalopram (Celexa)	mg	times per	day
Methotrexate (Trexall)	mg	_times per	day
Venlafaxine (Effexor)	mg	_times per	day
Ezetimibe (Ezetrol)	mg	times per	day
Golimumab (Simponi)	mg every		days/weeks/months
Infliximab (Remicade)	mg every		days/weeks/months
Adalimumab (Humira)	mg every		_days/weeks/months
Etanercept (Enbrel)	mg every	3	days/weeks/months
Certolizumab (Cimzia)	mg every		days/weeks/ <u>months</u>

- 10. When did you start taking this medication? (if you are taking more than one study medication, please record the start date for each separately)
- 11. What is the illness or health condition for which this medication has been prescribed? (If you are taking more than one medication from the list above, please record the health condition related to each medication separately)
- 12. Please list all other medications you are currently taking (including supplements, homeopathic remedies, vitamins etc.) (You have the option to refuse to answer):

 Different ethnic groups may metabolize drugs differently. For this reason, it is important for us to know your/your baby's ethnic origin. <u>Please select</u> the ethnic origin(s) of your biological mother and father. You can select more than one answer.

## **Biological Mother**

□Aboriginal □Arab/west Asian □Black □Chinese □Filipino □Japanese □West Indian □Refuse to answer □Korean □Latin American □South Asian □South east Asian □Caucasian (white) □Ashkenazi Jewish □Other: \_\_\_\_\_

# **Biological Father**

□Aboriginal □Arab/west Asian □Black □Chinese □Filipino □Japanese □West Indian □Refuse to answer □Korean □Latin American □South Asian □South east Asian □Caucasian (white) □Ashkenazi Jewish □Other: \_\_\_\_\_

# Your baby's biological father

Aboriginal
Arab/west Asian
Black
Chinese
Filipino
Japanese
West Indian
Refuse to answer

### 14. Is your baby:

Exclusively breastfed

□ Predominantly breastfed (more than 80% of his/her nutrition)

□ Breastfed less than 80% of his/her nutrition

- 15. Does your baby have a long-term illness or health condition that has been confirmed by a doctor?
  - Yes please explain:NoRefuse to answer
- 16. Does your baby regularly take any prescribed medications?

□Yes - please explain:

🗆 No

□ Refuse to answer

## 17. Has your baby had any health issue requiring medical attention?

□ Yes - please explain: □No □ Refuse to answer

18. Have you been diagnosed with any other long-term illness or health condition (besides those mentioned

in response to question 11) by a doctor?

□Yes - please explain: \_\_ □No □Refuse to answer

These measurements v appointment, if you ch	vill be taken at the oose to visit SickKids for the
study procedure. If con home, please fill out abilities.	mpleting this portion at t to the best of your
Your Measurements	
weight:	────□lbs. □kg
height:	cm

These measurements will be taken at the appointment, if you choose to visit SickKids for the study procedure. **If completing this portion at home, please fill out to the best of your abilities.** <u>Your baby's Measurements</u>

weight:	─────□lbs. □k		
length:	cm		

18. Do **YOU** wish to provide a small blood sample as an OPTIONAL part of the DLAC Study? If YES, the maximum amount to be drawn is 5 mL (one tablespoon or 5cc)

□ Yes □ No

19. Do wish to have **YOUR CHILD** provide a small blood sample as an OPTIONAL part of the DLAC Study? If YES, the maximum amount to be drawn is 5 mL (one tablespoon or 5cc)

□ Yes □ No

\*Please note that if you choose to have you or your child provide a small blood sample, collection will take place in the SickKids Hospital blood work department.

The study coordinator will complete this table, if you choose to donate a blood sample of you/your baby.

Blood sample	Mother	Infant
DATE	/ /	/ /
TIME	: am/pm	: am/pm

Please indicate on the table below the <u>date and time</u> that the breast milk sample(s) were acquired after last dose of oral medications (Bupropion, Citalopram, Venlafaxine, Ezetimibe or Methotrexate). Please use a separate table for each drug.

Drug Name	Exact TIME of taking the drug	am/ pm

	Breast Milk Sampling Specifics			
Samples	Date of Collection (dd/mm/yy)	Time at the <b>START</b> of milk Collection (Please circle am or <u>pm)*</u>	Sample Type (Please specify)	
<b>Milk Sample 1</b> (Right before taking medication)	/ /	am/pm	<ul> <li>Pre-feed</li> <li>Post-feed</li> <li>Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the last feed**</li> <li>Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the last feed**</li> </ul>	
Milk Sample 2	/ /	am/pm	<ul> <li>Pre-feed</li> <li>Post-feed</li> <li>Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the last feed**</li> <li>Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the last feed**</li> </ul>	
Milk Sample 3	/ /	am/pm	<ul> <li>Pre-feed</li> <li>Post-feed</li> <li>Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the last feed**</li> <li>Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the last feed**</li> </ul>	
Milk Sample 4	/ /	am/pm	<ul> <li>Pre-feed</li> <li>Post-feed</li> <li>Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the last feed**</li> <li>Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the last feed**</li> </ul>	
Milk Sample 5	/ /	am/pm	<ul> <li>Pre-feed</li> <li>Post-feed</li> <li>Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the last feed**</li> <li>Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the last feed**</li> </ul>	

\*Please collect samples number 2 to 5 at different time-points between 2 doses of your medication at your convenience. Please make sure to record the exact time of <u>starting</u> milk collection in the above table. \*\*Please collect the samples at the start of pumping or expressing milk, if you are going to pump a larger volume of milk to store. THANK YOU VERY MUCH FOR YOUR COOPERATION Please indicate on the table below the <u>date and time</u> that the breast milk sample(s) were collected after last dose of injectable medications (Golimumab, Infliximab, Adalimumab, Certolizumab, or Etanercept). Please use a separate table for each drug.

Drug Name\_\_\_\_\_ Exact TIME of taking the drug\_\_\_\_\_ am/ pm

	Breast Milk Sampling Specifics			
		Time at the		
Samples	Date of	START of Milk		
Jampies	Collection	Collection	Sample Type (please circle)	
	dd/mm/yy	(please circle		
		am/pm)*		
Milk sample 1			O Pre-feed	
(Right before			O Post-feed	
injection)			O Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the last feed**	
			O Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the	
	/ /	am/pm	last feed**	
Milk sample 2			O Pre-feed	
(the day after			O Post-feed	
injection- day 1)			Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the last feed**	
			O Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the	
	1 1	am/pm	last feed**	
Milk sample 3			O Pre-feed	
(day 2)			O Post-feed	
			Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the	
			Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the	
	/ /	am/pm	last feed**	
Milk sample 4			O Pre-feed	
(day 3)			O Post-feed	
			O Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the	
			Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the	
	1 1	am/pm	last feed**	
Milk sample 5			O Pre-feed	
(day 4)			O Post-feed	
			last feed**	
			Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the	
	1 1	am/pm	last feed**	

Milk sample 6			O Pre-feed
(day 5)			O Post-feed
			O Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the
			last feed**
	, ,	2m/nm	Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the
Mills commite 7	/ /	am/pm	
IVIIIK sample 7			O Pre-feed
(day 6)			Between feeding less than 2 hours after the
			last feed**
			O Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the
	1 1	am/pm	last feed**
Milk sample 8			○ Pre-feed
(day 7)			○ Post-feed
			O Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the
			last feed**
	, ,	am/nm	between reeding, more than 2 hours after the
Milk comple 9	/ /	am/pm	
			O Pre-leed
(day 8)			Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the
			last feed**
			O Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the
	1 1	am/pm	last feed**
Milk sample 10			O Pre-feed
(day 9)			○ Post-feed
			O Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the
			last feed**
	, ,	am/nm	Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the
Milk comple 11	/ /	anypin	
(day 10)			Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the
			last feed**
			O Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the
		am/pm	last feed**
Milk sample 12			O Pre-feed
(day 11)			O Post-feed
			Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the
			Between feeding more than 2 hours after the
	1 1	am/nm	last feed**
Milk sample 13	/ /		
(day 12)			○ Post-feed
			Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the
			last feed**
			O Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the
			last feed**
	/ /	am/pm	

Milk sample 14			O Pre-feed
(day 13)			O Post-feed
			O Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the
			last feed**
			O Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the
			last feed**
		am/pm	
Milk sample 15			○ Pre-feed
(day 14)			○ Post-feed
			O Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the
			last feed**
	, ,		O Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the
	/ /	am/pm	last feed**
Milk sample 16			OPre-feed
(day 16)			O Post-reed
			last food**
			Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the
	1 1	am/nm	last feed**
Milk sample 17	, ,	anypin	OPre-feed
(day 19)			O Post-feed
(049 16)			O Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the
			last feed**
			O Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the
	1 1	am/pm	last feed**
Milk sample 18			○ Pre-feed
(day 20)			○ Post-feed
			O Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the
			last feed**
			O Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the
	/ /	am/pm	last feed**
Milk sample 19			O Pre-feed
(day 22)			O Post-feed
			Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the
			Between feeding more than 2 hours after the
	1 1	am/nm	last feed**
Milk sample 20	, ,		
(day 24)			O Post-feed
(day 24)			O Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the
			last feed**
			O Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the
	1 1	am/pm	last feed**
Milk sample 21			O Pre-feed
(day 26)			○ Post-feed
			O Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the
			last feed**
		00000448000	O Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the
		am/pm	last feed**

Milk sample 22				O Pre-feed
(dav 28)				○ Post-feed
				O Between feeding, less than 2 hours after the
				last feed**
				O Between feeding, more than 2 hours after the
	/	/	am/pm	last feed**

\*Please collect the samples at different time-points during the day at your convenience. Please make sure to record the exact time of <u>starting</u> milk collection in the above table.

\*\*Please collect the samples at the start of pumping or expressing milk, if you are going to pump a larger amount of milk to store.

THANK YOU VERY MUCH FOR YOUR COOPERATION.

# Appendix B – DLAC Study Consent Form (Version: September 20, 2017)



THE HOSPITAL FOR SICK CHILDREN Research Ethics Board

#### **Research Consent Form – Participant**

Title of Research Project: "Drugs in Lactation" Analysis Consortium (DLAC)

Investigator(s):

<u>Principal investigator</u> Shinya Ito, MD, FRCPC (Tel: 416-813-5781) Division of Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology, Hospital for Sick Children

<u>Co-investigators</u> David Colantonio, PhD, FCACB Dr. Andrea Edginton, PhD

Division of Clinical Biochemistry, DPLM, Hospital for Sick Children School of Pharmacy, University of Waterloo

<u>Research Team members</u> Sarah Delaney, MSc. Graduate Student Division of Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology, Hospital for Sick Children

Sholeh Ghayoori Pirsoltan, CCRP (Tel: 416-813-7654 ext. 205675) Clinical Research Project Coordinator Division of Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology, Hospital for Sick Children

#### Purpose of the Research:

The health benefit of breastfeeding to both mother and infant is widely accepted. For infants, breastfeeding can reduce the risk of infections as well as other diseases, such as diabetes. About 66 to 80 % of breastfeeding women take various medications. So many infants are breastfed by mothers on medications. However, there is not enough information on drug safety during breastfeeding to find out how safe or toxic the drugs are to the babies who are exposed through breast milk. It is important to provide safety information about drug use during breastfeeding.

The purposes of this study is to: 1) determine the safety of the drugs in infants who are exposed through breast milk, based on collected breast milk and (Optionally) blood samples; and 2) to provide safety/toxicity information of various drugs exposed to infants through breastmilk.

#### **Description of the Research:**

"Drugs in Lactation" Analysis Consortium (DLAC) is a network of investigators involved in exploring drug safety during breastfeeding. You are being asked to participate in this study because you are taking one or more of the

Consent form version September 20, 2017 Page 1 of 5 following medications: Bupropion, Citalopram, Methotrexate, Venlafaxine, Ezetimibe, Golimumab, Adalimumab, Infliximab, Certolizumab or Etanercept.

You have shown interest in participating in DLAC upon your contact with the study coordinator (by phone or email). If you provide consent to take part in this study, you will receive the study package (including the questionnaires, instructions for sample collection, and milk containers) in mail or by a courier service, and will be able to collect samples and complete the questionnaires from home. Alternatively, you may choose to drop by SickKids to pick up the study package.

Participation in this study entails:

- Collecting milk samples: We will ask you to collect breast milk samples (about 5-10 ml or 1-2 teaspoonful each) directly before taking your medication(s), as well as several time-points after taking your medication(s). The frequency of breastmilk you are to collect is outlined in the study questionnaire.
- Filling out the study questionnaires which will take about 20 minutes of your time: The main study questionnaire includes queries about your and your baby's general information (e.g. date of birth, ethnicity, weight and height, etc.), medical history and drug history. We will also ask you to answer some questions about your baby's development on an age-specific standardized questionnaire that will be scored based on the provided answers. If the total score on one or more developmental areas is below the cutoff, you will receive a notification letter from the study investigator, along with a copy of the completed questionnaire and the information summary page, so you may choose to consult with your child's pediatrician or your family doctor, and confirm if any further assessment is required.

You have the alternate option of filling out the questionnaires with a DLAC research team member at SickKids, if you live within travelling distance from SickKids.

- Returning the specimens: We will arrange the samples to be picked up from your address, when you
  complete the study procedures. The samples will be delivered to SickKids by pre-paid mail or courier service.
  Alternatively, you may drop-off the study package at SickKids upon completion of study procedures.
- Donating a small blood sample (one teaspoon = 5 mL) from you and/or your child: Blood samples
  will provide us with additional important information for our study. Blood sampling is an <u>optional</u>
  component of the study, and you have the choice to opt in or refuse to donate blood, and only take
  part in milk collection component. Blood sampling will be completed at the SickKids blood work
  department. If you are not within traveling distance from SickKids, you do not have to consider
  giving the optional blood sample for research purposes.

If you are within traveling distance to and from SickKids, please initial next to your preferred options.

I a	gree to give a small blood sample (one teaspoon, 5mL) as part of this research study
I de	o not agree to give a small blood sample (one teaspoon, 5mL) as part of this research study
I aj	gree to have <b>my child</b> give a small blood sample (one teaspoon, 5mL) as part of this research study
All drug levels	o not agree to have <b>my child</b> give a small blood sample (one teaspoon, 5mL) as part of this research udy will be measured at SickKids and the data will be sent to our analysis center for further analyses. Your protected throughout the study.

Consent form version 10, September 20,, 2017 Page 2 of 5 There is no potential commercial use for these samples. The milk samples will only be studied as part of this research project and will not be used for any other purposes.

#### Consent to be contacted for Future Research:

We would like your permission to contact you in the future regarding participation in our future research studies.

Please Note: By agreeing to be contacted in future, you are not consenting to participate in any new study, but simply giving us permission to contact you in future and gauge your interest in participation. You can withdraw this consent for future research at any time.

Please initial next to your preference.

Yes, the research team can contact me in the future about future studies.
No, I do not want the research team to contact me in future about future studies.

#### Potential Harms:

The only anticipated risks associated with participating in this study involve minor discomfort associated with milk and blood sampling. There may be slight discomfort, bruising or redness after blood draw that will usually disappear within a few days. For many participants, applying pressure with a cotton ball immediately after blood donation can help alleviate any bruising or redness.

#### Potential Discomforts or Inconvenience:

The initial telephone interview, conducted by our study investigators to determine your eligibility and explaining the study is expected to take about 10 minutes. Obtaining breast milk and blood samples will take about 5 minutes per each collection. You are asked to fill in the study questionnaires, which will take about 20 minutes to complete.

#### Potential Benefits to individual subjects:

You and your child will not benefit directly from participating in this study. However, you will be informed if any drug level is measured at a concentration that may pose a risk to your infant.

A description of this study is available on <u>http://www.ClinicalTrials.gov</u> and the study website. These websites will not include information that can identify you or your child. At most, the website will include a summary of the results. You can search this website at any time.

#### Potential Benefits to society:

We hope that results of this study will lead to safer use of drugs during lactation.

#### Alternatives to participation:

Participation in the research is entirely voluntary. There is no social or economic medical disadvantage if you decline to participate in this study.

#### **Confidentiality:**

We will respect your and your child's privacy. No information about you or your child will be given to anyone or be published without your permission, unless required by law. For example, the law could make us give information

Consent form version 10, September 20,, 2017 Page **3** of **5**  about your child if he/she has been abused, if he/she has an illness that could spread to others, if he/she or someone else talks about self-harm, or if the courts order us to provide them with information.

The samples (breast milk, blood) and questionnaires will be identified with a unique study ID. Your personal information (name, address, phone number and email address) will be linked to your study ID through a password-protected masterfile, stored on a password-protected computer and kept in a locked office, with limited access only by the principal investigator and study coordinator. Members of the Research Ethics Board (REB) and Research Quality and Risk Management office (RQRM), employees of the funder or sponsor of the study or the regulator of the study may see your data to check on the study. By signing this consent form, you agree to let these people look at your (or your child's) records. We will provide you with a copy of this consent form.

The data produced from this study will be stored in a secure, locked location. Only members of the research team (and maybe those individuals described above) will have access to the data. Following completion of the research study the data will be kept as long as required then destroyed as required by SickKids policy. Published study results will not reveal your or your child's identity.

# Participation:

It is your choice to take part in this study (and allow your child to take part in this study); you and your child can stop participating in this study at any time. The care that you and your child receive at SickKids will not be affected in any way whether you and your child decide to take part in this study or not.

New information that we get while you are enrolled in this study may affect your decision to take part or continue in this study. If this happens, we will inform you about this new information, and we will inquire if you are still interested in being part of this study.

During this study we may create new tests, new medicines, or other things that may be worth some money. Although we may make money from these findings, we cannot give you any of this money now or in the future because you and/or your child took part in this study.

If you or your child become ill or are harmed because of study participation, we will treat you and your child for free. Your signing this consent form does not interfere with your (or your child's) legal rights in any way. The study staff, people who gave money for the study, or the hospital are still responsible, legally and professionally, for what they do.

#### Reimbursement:

We appreciate your support for this research study. A \$20 gift card will be offered in recognition of your contribution upon completing the participation. If you choose to visit SickKids for completing the study procedures or donating your and /or your child's blood sample, the transportation or parking expenses for travelling to the hospital will be reimbursed.

#### Sponsorship:

This research study is funded by Canadian Institute for Health Research. The sponsors of this research study are Dr. Ito and the Hospital for Sick Children.

Consent form version 10, September 20,, 2017 Page 4 of 5

# Conflict of Interest:

Dr. Ito and the other research team members, have no conflict of interest to declare.

# **Consent to Participate in a Research Study**

Study Title: "Drugs in Lactation" Analysis Consortium (DLAC)

# By signing this research consent form, I understand and confirm that:

- 1. The study has been explained to me and all of my questions have been answered.
- 2. I have the right not to take part in the study.
- 3. I can stop participating or withdraw from the study at any time without affecting the quality of care my child or my family receives at SickKids.
- 4. The possible harms and benefits (if any) of this study have been explained to me.
- 5. I have been told that my medical records will be kept private except as described to me.
- 6. I know that no identifying information about me will be given to anyone or be published without first asking permission, unless required by law.
- 7. I have been told that I have not waived my legal rights nor released the investigators, sponsors, or involved institutions from their legal and professional responsibilities.
- 8. I have been given sufficient time to read and think about the information in this consent form.
- 9. I know that I may ask now, or in the future, any questions I have about the study.
- 10. I have been told I will be given a signed and dated copy of this consent form.

# I consent to participate in this study.

Printed Name of Participant

Participant signature & date

Printed Name of person who obtained consent

Role of person obtaining consent

Signature & date

If you have any questions about this study, please call Dr. Shinya Ito at 416-813-5781.

If you have any questions regarding your rights as a research participant, you may contact the Office of the Research Ethics Board at 416-813-8279 during business hours.

Consent form version 10, September 20,, 2017 Page 5 of 5

# **Copyright Acknowledgements**

# AMERICAN ACADEMY OF PEDIATRICS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Feb 14, 2018

This Agreement between Ms. Sarah Delaney ("You") and American Academy of Pediatrics ("American Academy of Pediatrics") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by American Academy of Pediatrics and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4287660331789
License date	Feb 14, 2018
Licensed Content Publisher	American Academy of Pediatrics
Licensed Content Publication	Pediatrics
Licensed Content Title	Breastfeeding and the Use of Human Milk
Licensed Content Author	SECTION ON BREASTFEEDING
Licensed Content Date	Mar 1, 2012
Licensed Content Volume	129
Licensed Content Issue	3
Licensed Content Pages	15
Type of Use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	Individual
Format	Print, Online, and Electronic
Portion	Figures/tables/images
Number of figures/tables/images	2
Use of a photo?	No
Original AAP figure/table/image number(s)	Table 1 and table 2
Order reference number	
Requestor Location	Ms. Sarah Delaney 555 University Avenue
	Toronto, ON M5G 1X8 Canada Attn: Ms. Sarah Delaney
Billing Type	Invoice
Billing Address	Ms. Sarah Delaney 555 University Avenue
	Toronto, ON M5G 1X8 Canada Attn: Ms. Sarah Delaney

# AMERICAN ACADEMY OF PEDIATRICS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Mar 08, 2018

This Agreement between Ms. Sarah Delaney ("You") and American Academy of Pediatrics ("American Academy of Pediatrics") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by American Academy of Pediatrics and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4303750981390
License date	Mar 07, 2018
Licensed Content Publisher	American Academy of Pediatrics
Licensed Content Publication	Pediatrics in Review
Licensed Content Title	Breastfeeding Update 2: Clinical Lactation Management
Licensed Content Author	Nancy G. Powers, Wendelin Slusser
Licensed Content Date	May 1, 1997
Licensed Content Volume	18
Licensed Content Issue	5
Licensed Content Pages	15
Type of Use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	Individual
Format	Print and Electronic
Portion	Figures/tables/images
Number of figures/tables/images	1
Use of a photo?	No
Original AAP figure/table/image number(s)	Figure 1
Order reference number	
Requestor Location	Ms. Sarah Delaney 555 University Avenue
	Toronto, ON M5G 1X8 Canada Attn: Ms. Sarah Delaney
Billing Type	Invoice
Billing Address	Ms. Sarah Delaney 555 University Avenue
	Toronto, ON M5G 1X8 Canada Attn: Ms. Sarah Delaney

# ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Feb 13, 2018

This Agreement between Ms. Sarah Delaney ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4287220573885
License date	Feb 13, 2018
Licensed Content Publisher	Elsevier
Licensed Content Publication	Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews
Licensed Content Title	Mammary physiology and milk secretion
Licensed Content Author	James L McManaman, Margaret C Neville
Licensed Content Date	Apr 29, 2003
Licensed Content Volume	55
Licensed Content Issue	5
Licensed Content Pages	13
Start Page	629
End Page	641
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Format	both print and electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	No
Will you be translating?	No
Original figure numbers	Figure 1
Title of your thesis/dissertation	Drug Monitoring in Breast Milk: Novel Insights on Pharmacokinetics and Infant Exposure Estimates
Expected completion date	May 2018
Estimated size (number of pages)	125
Requestor Location	Ms. Sarah Delaney 555 University Avenue
	Toronto, ON M5G 1X8 Canada Attn: Ms. Sarah Delaney
Publisher Tax ID	GB 494 6272 12

# SPRINGER NATURE LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Feb 13, 2018

This Agreement between Ms. Sarah Delaney ("You") and Springer Nature ("Springer Nature") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Springer Nature and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4287231396045
License date	Feb 13, 2018
Licensed Content Publisher	Springer Nature
Licensed Content Publication	Nature Reviews Rheumatology
Licensed Content Title	Drug Insight: resistance to methotrexate and other disease- modifying antirheumatic drugs—from bench to bedside
Licensed Content Author	Joost W van der Heijden, Ben AC Dijkmans, Rik J Scheper, Gerrit Jansen
Licensed Content Date	Jan 1, 2007
Licensed Content Volume	3
Licensed Content Issue	1
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	academic/university or research institute
Format	print and electronic
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
High-res required	no
Will you be translating?	no
Circulation/distribution	<501
Author of this Springer Nature content	no
Title	Drug Monitoring in Breast Milk: Novel Insights on Pharmacokinetics and Infant Exposure Estimates
Instructor name	n/a
Institution name	n/a
Expected presentation date	May 2018
Portions	Figure 1
Requestor Location	Ms. Sarah Delaney 555 University Avenue
	Toronto, ON M5G 1X8 Canada

Attn: Ms. Sarah Delaney

# AMERICAN ACADEMY OF PEDIATRICS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Feb 14, 2018

This Agreement between Ms. Sarah Delaney ("You") and American Academy of Pediatrics ("American Academy of Pediatrics") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by American Academy of Pediatrics and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4287241211032
License date	Feb 13, 2018
Licensed Content Publisher	American Academy of Pediatrics
Licensed Content Publication	Pediatrics
Licensed Content Title	Infectious Complications With the Use of Biologic Response Modifiers in Infants and Children
Licensed Content Author	H. Dele Davies, COMMITTEE ON INFECTIOUS DISEASES
Licensed Content Date	Jul 18, 2016
Licensed Content Pages	1
Type of Use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	Individual
Format	Print, Online, and Electronic
Portion	Figures/tables/images
Number of figures/tables/images	1
Use of a photo?	No
Original AAP figure/table/image number(s)	Figure 1
Order reference number	
Requestor Location	Ms. Sarah Delaney 555 University Avenue
	Toronto, ON M5G 1X8 Canada Attn: Ms. Sarah Delaney
Billing Type	Invoice
Billing Address	Ms. Sarah Delaney 555 University Avenue
	Toronto, ON M5G 1X8 Canada Attn: Ms. Sarah Delaney
Total	0.00 USD
Terms and Conditions	

# SPRINGER NATURE LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Mar 15, 2018

This Agreement between Ms. Sarah Delaney ("You") and Springer Nature ("Springer Nature") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Springer Nature and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4310290879587
License date	Mar 15, 2018
Licensed Content Publisher	Springer Nature
Licensed Content Publication	The AAPS Journal
Licensed Content Title	A Workflow Example of PBPK Modeling to Support Pediatric Research and Development: Case Study with Lorazepam
Licensed Content Author	A. R. Maharaj, J. S. Barrett, A. N. Edginton
Licensed Content Date	Jan 1, 2013
Licensed Content Volume	15
Licensed Content Issue	2
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	academic/university or research institute
Format	print and electronic
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Will you be translating?	no
Circulation/distribution	<501
Author of this Springer Nature content	no
Title	Drug Monitoring in Breast Milk: Novel Insights on Pharmacokinetics and Infant Exposure Estimates
Instructor name	n/a
Institution name	n/a
Expected presentation date	May 2018
Portions	Figure 1
Requestor Location	Ms. Sarah Delaney 555 University Avenue
	Toronto, ON M5G 1X8 Canada Attn: Ms. Sarah Delaney
Billing Type	Invoice

# SPRINGER NATURE LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

May 30, 2018

This Agreement between Ms. Sarah Delaney ("You") and Springer Nature ("Springer Nature") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Springer Nature and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4359051498880
License date	May 30, 2018
Licensed Content Publisher	Springer Nature
Licensed Content Publication	Clinical Pharmacokinetics
Licensed Content Title	Predicting Escitalopram Exposure to Breastfeeding Infants: Integrating Analytical and In Silico Techniques
Licensed Content Author	Sarah R. Delaney, Paul R. V. Malik, Cristiana Stefan et al
Licensed Content Date	Jan 1, 2018
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	academic/university or research institute
Format	print and electronic
Portion	full article/chapter
Will you be translating?	no
Circulation/distribution	<501
Author of this Springer Nature content	yes
Title	Drug Monitoring in Breast Milk: Novel Insights on Pharmacokinetics and Infant Exposure Estimates
Instructor name	n/a
Institution name	n/a
Expected presentation date	May 2018
Requestor Location	Ms. Sarah Delaney 555 University Avenue
	Toronto, ON M5G 1X8 Canada
	Attn: Ms. Sarah Delaney
Billing Type	Attn: Ms. Sarah Delaney Invoice
Billing Type Billing Address	Attn: Ms. Sarah Delaney Invoice Ms. Sarah Delaney 555 University Avenue